

DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN "Farmacologia e Oncologia Molecolare"

CICLO XXII

COORDINATORE Prof. Pier Andrea Borea

PHARMACOLOGICAL CHARACTERIZATION

OF PURINE RECEPTORS

IN BOVINE AND HUMAN CHONDROCYTES

AND FIBROBLAST-LIKE SYNOVIOCYTES

Settore Scientifico Disciplinare BIO/14

Dottorando Dott.ssa Tosi Alice **Tutore** Prof.ssa Varani Katia

Anni 2007/2009

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Pag.
General introduction	5
Adenosine	8
Adenosine triphosphate (ATP)	15
Adenosine, ATP and inflammation	24
References	42
Aim of the thesis	65
CHAPTER 1	69
Characterization of adenosine receptors	
in bovine chondrocytes and fibroblast-like synoviocytes	
Introduction	71
Materials and Methods	72
Results	77
Discussion	91
References	93
CHAPTER 2	97
Adenosine analogs inhibit prostaglandin E_2 (PGE ₂)	21
release in bovine fibroblast-like synoviocytes.	
Introduction	99
Materials and Methods	100
Results	104
Discussion	114
References	116
CHAPTER 3	121
Expression and functional role of adenosine receptors in regulating	121
inflammatory response in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes	
Introduction	123
Materials and Methods	124
Results	129
Discussion	144
References	149
CHAPTER 4	155
Rinding thermodynamic characterization of	100
human P2X ₁ and P2X ₂ purinergic receptors	
Introduction	157
Materials and Methods	159
Results	162
Discussion	180
References	184

CHAPTER 5	187
<i>Pharmacological characterization of</i> $P2X_1$ <i>and</i> $P2X_3$	
purinergic receptors in bovine chondrocytes.	
Introduction	189
Materials and Methods	190
Results	195
Discussion	208
References	211
CHAPTER 6	215
$P2X_1$ and $P2X_3$ purinergic receptors differentially modulate the inflammatory	
response in human osteoarthritic fibroblast-like synoviocytes.	
Introduction	217
Materials and Methods	218
Results	222
Discussion	237
References	240
General conclusions	243
Curriculum Vitae	247
List of publications	183
Meetings	185
Acknowledgements	187

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Extracellular purines (adenosine, ATP and ADP) and pyrimidines (UTP, UDP) are important molecules which mediate several biological effects through the interaction with specific membrane receptors named purinergic receptors. Purinergic receptors are divided in P1 and P2 receptors (Figure 1); P1 receptors preferentially are able to bind adenosine while P2 receptors interact with ATP, ADP, UTP and UDP. P1 adenosine receptors are divided in four subtypes named A₁, A_{2A}, A_{2B} and A₃ that are coupled to G-protein. P2 receptors are divided into ionotropic P2X and metabotropic P2Y. Purines and pyrimidines through these receptors were involved in different processes like neurotransmission, exocrine and paracrine secretion, immunitary response, inflammation and pain.



Figure 1: structure of purinergic receptors

ADENOSINE

Adenosine is a nucleoside composed of adenine attached to a ribose sugar molecule (ribofuranose) via a β -N9-glycosidic bond (Figure 2).



Figure 2: chemical structure of adenosine

Adenosine is an endogenous nucleoside-signalling molecule, which by acting on specific membrane receptors produces a number of physiological and pathophysiological effects in both central nervous system and peripheral organs. Adenosine is not a classical neurotransmitter because it is not principally produced and released vesicular in response to neuronal firing. Most tissues in the body and cells release adenosine to the extracellular medium, acting as an autacoid on the adenosine receptors (ARs). The basal levels of extracellular adenosine have been estimated as roughly 100 nM in the heart and 20 nM in the brain, which would only partially activate the ARs present (Fredholm et al., 2005). In the case of severe ischemic stress, the levels can rapidly rise to the micromolar range, which would cause a more intense and generalized activation of the ARs. Extracellular adenosine may arise from intracellular break-down of the adenine nucleotides, such as ATP, outside the cell. Adenosine, which is present in higher concentration inside than outside the cell, does not freely diffuse across the cell membrane. There are nucleoside transporters, such as the

equilibrative nucleoside transporter 1 (ENT1) which bring it to the extracellular space. Extracellular nucleotides may also originate from cytosolic sources, including by vescicular release exocytosis, passage through channels and cell lysis. Ectonucleotidases break down the adenine nucleotides in stages to produce free extracellular adenosine at the terminal step (Zimmermann, 2000). For the extracellular ectonucleoside example, enzyme triphosphate diphosphohydrolase 1 (E-NTPDase1) converts ATP and ADP to AMP. The final critical step, with respect to AR activation, of conversion of AMP to adenosine is carried out by ecto-5'-nucleotidase, also known as CD37. The adenosine produced extracellulary is also subject to metabolic breakdown by adenosine deaminase to produce inosine or (re)phosphorylation by adenosine kinase to produce AMP. Therefore, when an organ is under stress there is a highly complex and timedependent interplay of the activation of many receptors in the same vicinity. In addition to the direct activation of ARs by selective agonists or their blockade by selective antagonists, inhibition of the metabolic or transport pathways surrounding adenosine is also being explored for therapeutic purposes (McGaraughty et al., 2005).

P1 Purinergic Receptors

Adenosine act on cell surface receptors that are coupled to intracellular signaling cascades. There are four subtypes of G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) named A₁, A_{2A}, A_{2B} and A₃ ARs. The second messengers associated with the ARs are historically defined with respect to the adenylate cyclase system (Fredholm and Jacobson, 2009). The A₁ and A₃ ARs inhibit the production of cyclic AMP (cAMP) through coupling to Gi. The A_{2A} and A_{2B} subtypes are coupled to Gs or Go to stimulated adenylate cyclase. Furthermore, the A_{2B} subtypes are coupled to Gq (Ryzhov et al., 2006) and it has the lowest affinity (Ki > 1 μ M). Adenosine has the highest affinity at the A₁ and A_{2A} ARs (Ki values in binding of 10-30 nM at the high affinity sites) and the affinity of adenosine at the A₃ AR is intermediate (ca. 1 μ M) (Jacobson et al., 1995a). The ARs, as GPCRs, share the structural motif of a single polypeptide chain forming seven transmembrane helices (TMs), with the N-terminous being extracellular and the C-terminous being cytosolic (Costanzi et al., 2007). These helices, consisting of 25-30 amino acid residues

each, are connected by six loop, three intracellular (IL) and three extracellular (EL). The extracellular regions contains sites for posttranslational modifications, such as glycosylation. The A_1 and A_3 ARs also contains sites palmitoylation in the C-terminal. The A_{2A} AR has a long C-terminal segment of more than 120 amino acid residues, which is not required for coupling to Gs, but can serve as a binding site for "accessory" proteins (Zezula and Freissmuth, 2008). The sequence identity between the human A_1 and A_3 ARs is 49%, and the human A_{2A} and A_{2B} ARs are 59% identical. Particular conserved residues point to specific functions. For example, there are two characteristic His residues in TMs 6 and 7 of the A_1 , A_{2A} and A_{2B} ARs. In the A₃ AR, the His residue in TM6 is lacking but another His residue has appeared at a new location in TM3. All of these His residues have been indicated by mutagenesis to be important in the recognition and/or activation function of the receptors (Costanzi et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2003). Similar to the function and regulation of others GPCRs, both activation and desensitization of the ARs occur after agonist binding. Interaction of the activated ARs with the G proteins leads to second messenger generation and classical physiological responses. Interaction of the activated ARs with G protein-coupled receptor kinases (GRKs) leads to their phosphorylation. ARs responses desensitize rapidly, and this phenomenon is associated with receptor downregulation, internalization and degradation (Klaasse et al., 2008). The most rapid downregulation among the AR subtypes is generally seen with the A₃ AR, due to phosphorylation by GRKs. The A_{2A} AR is only slowly desensitized and internalized as a result of agonist binding.

A₁ adenosine receptors

 A_1 ARs have been cloned from several species. The human A_1 AR subtype gene (ADORA1) has been localized to chromosome 1q32.1 (Townsend-Nicholson et al., 1995). The variability in the primary sequence of the A_1 AR between species is less than 10% for A_1 from dog, rat and cow and less than 5% between bovine and human A_1 AR (Tucker and Linden, 1993). The A_1 ARs is widely express throughout the body, having its highest expression in the brain, spinal cord, atria and adipose tissue (Baraldi et al., 2000). Adenosine via A_1 ARs reduces heart rate, glomerular filtration rate, and renin release in the kidney; it induces bronchocostriction and inhibits lipolysis (Elzein and Zablocki, 2008). The most

widely recognized signalling pathway of A₁ ARs is inhibition of adenylate cyclase causing a decrease in the second messenger cAMP (Fredholm et al., 2001). This in turn modulates the activity of cAMP-dependent protein kinase, which phosphorilates diverse protein targets. Another signalling mechanism of A1 ARs is activation of phospholipase C (PLC) leading to membrane phosphoinositide metabolism and increased production of inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate (IP₃) and Ca^{2+} mobilization. Elevation of cytosolic Ca^{2+} by IP_3 can stimulate a variety of signalling pathways, including protein kinase C (PKC), phospholipase A₂ (PLA₂), Ca^{2+} -dependent K⁺ channels and nitric oxide synthase (NOS). Depletion of Ca^{2+} from IP₃-sensitive pools may promote Ca^{2+} influx from extracellular sources. A₁ AR display two different affinities for agonist, which have classically been attributed to a different coupling to heterotrimeric G proteins. According to this two independent site model, CGRP complex display high affinity for agonist and uncoupled receptors display low affinity. The reported cluster-arranged cooperative model predicts thet the high- and low-affinity sites are a consequence of the negative cooperativity of agonist binding and do not seem to be related to the content of G protein-coupled or -uncoupled receptors (Franco et al., 1996). In the early 1990s Bruns et co-workers reported on various allosteric modulators, 2amino-3-benzoylthiphene derivatives capable of enhancing the binding and activity of reference A₁ receptor agonists, such as N^6 -cyclopentyladenosine (CPA) (Bruns et al., 1990a, Bruns et al., 1990b). It was demonstrated that 2-amino-4,5dimethylthien-3-yl)[3-(trifluoromethyl)phenyl]-methanone (PD 81,723) represents a specific and selective allosteric enhancer of agonist binding to the A1 ARs originally identified from a screening library of benzodiazepine-like compounds. PD 81,723 has been shown to enhance agonist binding and the functional activation of the A1 ARs in both brain and cardiovascular tissues (Amoah-Apraku et al., 1993, Bhattacharya et al., 1995, 1996; Janusz et al., 1991, 1993, Mudumbi et al., 1993). The available data indicate that PD 81,723 functions to stabilize a high affinity or agonist-preferring state of the A₁ ARs (Bruns et al., 1990b, Bruns, 1996, Linden et al., 1997). This hypothesis is supported by data demonstrating that the allosteric actions of PD 81,723 can be greatly enhanced in the presence of GTP (Bruns et al., 1990b) and that PD 81,723 can significantly slow the dissociation kinetics of agonist binding from rat brain membranes (Bruns et al., 1990b) and from the recombinant human A₁ ARs (Bhattacharya et al., 1995,

1996). Thus, the putative mechanism by which PD 81,723 enhances the activation of A_1 ARs is thought to be via an allosterically mediated conformational shift of the receptor to a high affinity state thereby improving receptor/effector coupling (Bruns et al., 1990b). The binding site of PD 81,723 on the adenosine A_1 ARs has yet to be elucidated.

A_{2A} adenosine receptors

The A_{2A} AR has been cloned from several species such as human, rat, mouse and canine. The gene for A_{2A} AR has been mapped to human chromosome 22 with reported chromosomal localizations of 22q11.2 (Peterfreund et al., 1996). The A_{2A} ARs is present in a wide variety of organs including major peripheral tissue (e.g. liver, heart, lung and the immune system) and the central nervous system (CNS) (Lee et al., 2003). The most commonly recognized signal transduction mechanism for A_{2A} ARs is activation of adenylate cyclase. This implies primarly coupling with the Gs, although other G proteins may also be involved. In striatum the A_{2A} ARs interacts with Golf proteins (Corvol et al., 2001). It is not known if there are significant differences in receptor affinity or in signalling closely dependent by the interaction with the specific G proteins. In addition other G protein pathways could be implicated, in the regulation of processes, for example via phosphorylation. There is no compelling reason to assume that this GPCR coupling to members of the Gs family would signal in anything but a canonical way. Thus, most effects are probably due to activation of adenylyl cyclase and generation of cAMP. The A_{2A} ARs can recruit β -arrestin via a GRK-2 dependent mechanism (Khoa et al., 2006). This is influenced by activation of cytokine receptors, which cause reduced desensitization of the A2A ARs (Khoa et al., 2006). One key target of PKA is the cAMP responsive element-binding protein (CREB) which is critical for many forms of neuronal plasticity as well as other neuronal functions (Josselyn and Nguyen, 2005). Phosphorilation of CREB by PKA activates CREB and turns on genes with cAMP responsive elements (CRE sites) in their promoters. One important feature of CREB is that it is a point of convergence for the cAMP/PKA and MAPK pathways. Stimulation of the A_{2A} ARs counteracts the inhibition of neurite outgrowth due to MAPK blockade. Stimulation of the A2A ARs alone also activates the Ras/Raf-1/MEK/ERK signalling through PKA-dependent and PKA-independent pathways via Src- and Sos- mediated mechanism, respectively (Schulte and Fredholm, 2003). Phosphorylated CREB was therefore proposed to mediate the anti-inflammatory effect of the A_{2A} ARs and inhibition of NF κ B by A_{2A} ARs activation during acute inflammation in vivo was demonstrated (Fredholm et al., 2007). Activation of a multiple signalling pathways by the A_{2A} ARs appears to contribute to its diverse and complex functions in various tissues.

A_{2B} adenosine receptors

A_{2B} AR mRNA was originally detected in a limited number of rat tissues by Northern blot analysis, with the highest levels found in cecum, bowel, and bladder, followed by brain, spinal cord, lung, epididymis, vas deferens, and pituitary. The use of more sensitive reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction techniques revealed a ubiquitous distribution of A_{2B} ARs (Spicuzza et al., 2006). mRNA encoding A_{2B} AR was detected at various levels in all rat tissues studied, with the highest levels in the proximal colon and lowest in the liver. In situ hybridization of A2B ARs showed widespread and uniform distribution of A2B AR mRNA throughout the brain (Dixon et al., 1996). The human A_{2B} ARs gene (ADORA2B) has been localized to chromosome 1q32 (Jacobson et al., 1995b). Pharmacological identification of A_{2B} ARs, based on their low affinity and characteristic order of potency for agonists, also indicates a widespread distribution of A_{2B} ARs. Functional A_{2B} ARs have been found in fibroblasts and various vascular beds, hematopoietic cells, mast cells, myocardial cells, intestinal epithelial and muscle cells, retinal pigment epithelium, endothelium, and neurosecretory (Gessi et al., 2005). Although activation of adenylyl cyclase is arguably an important signaling mechanism for A_{2A} ARs, this is not necessarily the case for A_{2B} ARs, as other intracellular signaling pathways have been found to be functionally coupled to these receptors in addition to adenylyl cyclase. In fact activation of A_{2B} ARs can increase phospholipase C in human mast cells and in mouse bone marrow-derived mast cells. A_{2B} ARs activation also elevates IP₃ levels, indicating this receptor can couple also to Gq-proteins. A_{2B} ARs have been implicated in the regulation of mast cell secretion and, gene expression, intestinal function, neurosecretion, vascular tone and in particular asthma (Varani et al., 2005).

A₃ adenosine receptors

A₃ AR was identified relatively late in the history of ARs with the cloning, expression and functional characterization of a novel adenosine receptor from rat striatum (Zhou et al., 1992). The human A₃ AR has been localized to chromosome 1p13.3 (Monitto et al., 1995). The A₃ ARs has widely distributed its mRNA being expressed in testis, lung, kidney, placenta, heart, brain, spleen, liver, uterus, bladder, proximal colon and eye of rat, sheep and humans. However, marked differences exist in expression levels within and among species. In particular rat testis and mast cells express high concentrations of A₃ ARs mRNA, while low levels have been detected in most other rat tissues (Gessi et al., 2008). Lung and liver have been found as the organs expressing high levels of A₃ ARs mRNA in human, while low levels have been found in aorta and brain. The classical pathways associated with A₃ ARs activation are the inhibition of adenylyl cyclase activity, through the coupling with Gi proteins, and the stimulation of PLC, IP₃ and intracellular Ca²⁺, via Gq proteins (Fredholm et al., 2001). However, more recently additional intracellular pathways have been described as relevant for A₃ ARs signaling. For example, in the heart, A₃ AR mediates cardioprotective effects through ATP-sensitive potassium (KATP) channel activation. Moreover, it is coupled to activation of RhoA and a subsequent stimulation of phospholipase D (PLD), which in turn mediates protection of cardiac myocytes from ischemia (Mozzicato et al., 2004). In addition, in different recombinant and native cell lines, A₃ ARs is involved, like the other adenosine subtypes, in the modulation of mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) activity (Schulte and Fredholm, 2003). A₃ ARs signaling in Chinese Hamster Ovary cells transfected with human A₃ ARs leads to stimulation of extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK1/2). In particular, A₃ ARs signaling to ERK1/2 depends on $\beta\gamma$ release from pertussis toxin (PTX)-sensitive G proteins, phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K), Ras and mitogenactivated protein kinase kinase (Schulte and Fredholm, 2003). It has been reported that A₃ ARs activation is able to decrease the levels of PKA, a downstream effector of cAMP, and of the phosphorylated form of PKB/Akt in melanoma cells. This implies the deregulation of the Wnt signaling pathway, generally active during embryogenesis and tumorigenesis to increase cell cycle progression and cell proliferation (Fishman et al., 2002). Involvement of the PI3K/PKB pathway has been linked with preconditioning effects induced by A_3 ARs activation in cardiomyocytes from newborn rats (Germack and Dickenson, 2005).

ADENOSINE TRIPHOSPHATE (ATP)

Adenosine triphosphate or ATP is a ribonucleotide which is the main donor of energy in cellular reactions and is involved in the production of mechanical work in the active transport of ions and molecules and the synthesis of macromolecules. ATP consist af adenosine (composed of an adenine ring and a ribose sugar) and three phosphate groups connected with anhydride bonds (Figure 3). The energy content of an isolated molecule of ATP is a consequence of these anhydride bonds when they hydrolyzed, releases a large amount of energy.



Figure 3: chemical structure of ATP

The purine and pyrimidine nucleotides are compartimentalized in the cell cytoplasm, where there are involved in the synthesis of nucleic acid, or in the cellular metabolism, two key functions, from which depends the survival of any cell. Only recently ATP is recognized as an extracellular messenger (Burstock, 2009). There are many studies in the literature indicating that ATP could function as a neurotransmitter. Infact it is released by the purinergic terminals and then recognized by membrane receptors (Ralevic and Burnstock, 1998; Boeynaems et al., 2005). Investigations conducted in the nervous system clarifies the role of extracellular nucleotides in different anatomical districts, as regulators of proliferation and cell differentiation, cytokine release, chemotaxis, the formation of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species, secretion of lysosomal factors, as well as

induction of apoptosis or cell necrosis (Burnstock, 2007). ATP and other nucleotides are taken up by and stored in secretory and synaptic vescicles. As revealed recently, accumulation of ATP into vescicular can be mediated by a Cldependent vesicular nucleotide transporter (VNUT), which belongs to the SLC17 anion transporter family, which includes also vesicular glutamate transporters (Sawada et al., 2008). VNUT preferentially recognizes ATP, GTP and ADP and is inhibited by diATP. ATP is probably present in every synaptic and/or secretory vesicle, although at different concentrations, and can be co-stored and co-released with other neurotransmitters (γ -aminobutyric acid, noradrenaline or glutamate). At present, it is unclear whether various physiological nucleotide-receptor agonists (ATP, ADP, UTP, UDP, UDP and NAD⁺) are released by common mechanisms. There is compelling evidence for exocytotic neuronal vesicular release of ATP (Pankratov et al., 2007) and recent studies also support a vescicular release of ATP from astrocytes, which perhaps involves lysosomes (Zhang et al., 2007). Evidence has been provided for additional mechanisms of nucleotide release, including ATP-binding cassette transporters, connexin or pannexin hemichannels, plasmalemmal voltage-dependent anion channels, in addition to P2X₇ receptors (Pankratov et al., 2006; Dubyak, 2006; Scemes et al., 2007). After release, ATP and other nucleotides undergo rapid enzymatic degradation by ectonucleotidases, which is functionally important because ATP metabolites act as physiological ligands for various P2 purinergic receptors.

P2 Purinergic Receptors

Implicit in the concept of purinergic neurotransmission was the existence of postjunctional purinergic receptors, and the potent actions of extracellular ATP on many different cell types also implicated membrane receptors. The cytosolic concentration of ATP in mammalian cells is quite high (5-10 mM), but it increase within specialized structures for its accumulation, where ATP can reach values of over 100 mM. In extracellular fluids, however, the concentration of ATP is maintained at very low levels, in the order of 5-20 μ M due to the presence of enzymes that hydrolyze (Burstock, 2007). Extracellular ATP interacts with the cell in two ways: at nanomolar and micromolar concentrations exerts its effects after the binding and activation of membrane receptors that mediate a fast response and a short distance. The action of these receptors occurs in a time

estimated to milliseconds. In 1994 Abbracchio and Burnstock (Abbracchio and Burnstock, 1994) on the basis of molecular structure and transduction mechanisms, proposed that purinoceptors should belong to two major families: a P2X family of ligand-gated ion channel receptors and a P2Y family of GPCRs. This nomenclature has been widely adopted and currently seven P2X subtypes and eight P2Y receptor subtypes are recognized, including receptors that are sensitive to pyrimidines as well as purines (Ralevic and Burnstock, 1998; North, 2002; Abbracchio et al., 2006). It is widely recognized that purinergic signalling is a primitive system involved in many non-neuronal as well as neuronal mechanisms, including exocrine and endocrine secretion, immune responses, inflammation, pain, platelet aggregation and endothelial-mediated vasodilatation (Burnstock and Knight, 2004; Burnstock 2006). Cell proliferation, differentiation and death that occur in development and regeneration are also mediated by purinergic receptors (Abbracchio and Burnstock, 1998; Burnstock 2002).

P2Y Purinergic Receptors

Recent biochemical investigations have shown that receptors similar to the P2Y group, appeared very early during evolution, supporting the hypothesis that purinergic and pirimidinergic signaling pathways are among the most ancient mechanisms of intercellular communication. The P2Y receptors are metabotropic GPCRs, characterized by a typical seven-transmembrane helices: the N-terminal domain facing the extracellular side, while the C-terminal domain protudes into the cell cytoplasm interacting with G proteins to mediated the activation of intracellular pathways (Von Kügelgen, 2006). The first P2Y receptor was cloned in 1993, since then, numerous other family members were isolated and cloned. At the present, there are eight accept human P2Y receptors (P2Y_{1, 2, 4, 6, 11, 12, 13, 14}) that have preferential affinity for ATP and related nucleotides. The missing numbers represent either non-mammalian orthologs, or receptors having some sequence homology to P2Y receptors, but for which there is no functional evidence of responsiveness to nucleotides. P2Y receptors differ from other families of GPCRs for their high heterogeneity in the amino acid sequence. Several studies have shown that these receptors are suitable for a neuromodulating function because they may perceive low levels of ATP (Abbracchio et al., 2006).

The binding to the receptors by extracellular nucleotides determines the activation of G proteins, phospholipase C (PLC) with subsequent formation of inositol phosphate 3 (IP₃) which induces the release of Ca^{2+} from intracellular stores, and diacylglycerol (DAG), that activates the protein kinase C (PKC). Activation of adenylyl cyclase generates cAMP, which activates protein kinase A (PKA). The increasing cytosolic concentration of Ca^{2+} and the activation of PKA and PKC mediate the cellular responses due to activation of P2Y receptors. The complexity of the intracellular pathways of P2Y receptors translates into a wide-ranging effect on many cellular functions such as proliferation, apoptosis, metabolism, secretory activity and cell migration. It has been demonstrated that each P2Y receptor subtype is associated with one or more G proteins subfamily (Gs, Gi/o, Gq/11, G12/13). For example, P2Y2 subtype, is coupled to Gi, Go, Gq/11 or G12. It remains to clarify which mechanisms allow each P2Y subtype to associate to different G proteins and generate multiple pathways of signal transduction. A possible explanation might be that many of P2Y receptors have a binding specificity for more than one nucleotide, and it is possible that the binding of different nucleotides, on the same receptor, induces distinct conformational states that can interact with different G proteins (Abbracchio et al., 2006). For example, ADP is the preferential agonist of $P2Y_1$, $P2Y_{12}$ and $P2Y_{13}$, ATP and UTP are equipotent in the activation of P2Y₂, whereas UTP and UDP are preferential agonists of $P2Y_4$ and $P2Y_6$, respectively; $P2Y_{11}$ is activated only by ATP. The last cloned P2Y receptor, P2Y₁₄, has a pharmacological behaviour different from the other P2Y because it binds UDP-glucose as agonist (Chambers et al., 2000; Abbracchio et al., 2003). Mutagenesis study of P2Y receptors have demonstrated the importance of amino acid residues present in transmembrane regions 6 and 7 to determining the power and specificity of the agonist (Erb et al., 1995). P2Y receptors have been identified in several cells tipes such as epithelial cells, endothelial cells, striated and smooth muscle cells, neurons, fibroblasts, monocytes, macrophages, neutrophils, eosinophils and activated T lymphocytes (Abbracchio et al., 2006). P2Y₁ was identified in platelets, heart, connective tissue, immune system and nervous tissue. At the level of platelets plays an important role in the aggregation, where the absence of this receptor prolongs bleeding time and protects against thromboembolism ADP-dependent (Fabre et al., 1999). The expression of $P2Y_1$ and $P2Y_2$ in smooth muscle cells and vascular

endothelium induces vasodilatation (Di Virgilio et al., 2001). The P2Y₄ receptor is expressed in the placenta, while it is slightly expressed in the vascular system. The P2Y₆ receptor is expressed in the lung, heart, aorta, spleen, thymus, placenta and brain. The P2Y₁₁ receptor is expressed in spleen, intestine, in the myocardium, in dendritic cells and macrophages (Abbracchio et al., 2006). It is also expressed in several cell lines such as HL-60, in which induces granulocyte differentiation (Communi et al., 2000a, van der Weyden et al., 2000). P2Y₁₂ is expressed abundantly in platelets, lymphocytes and to a lesser degree in the brain, whereas P2Y₁₃ is found predominantly in spleen and brain, but also in lymphnodes and bone. The P2Y₁₄ receptor is mainly expressed in placenta, adipose tissue, stomach and intestine, and at low levels of it is detected in brain, spleen, lung and heart (Abbracchio et al., 2006). The activation of this receptor mediates chemotaxis in a population of hematopoietic cells of bone marrow (Lee et al., 2003).

P2X Purinergic Receptors

P2X receptors are ionotropic receptors, ie receptors whose activation causes the direct opening (or closure) of selective membrane channels for mono- and bivalent cations, capable of determining the leakage of K⁺ and the entry of Na⁺ and Ca^{2+} in the cell. The first cDNAs encoding P2X receptor subunits were isolated in 1994. Members of the family of ionotropic $P2X_{1-7}$ receptors show a subunit topology of intracellular N- and C-termini possessing consensus binding motifs for protein kinases; two transmembrane spanning regions (TM1 and TM2), the first involved with channel gating and the second lining the ion pore; a large extracellular loop, with 10 conserved cysteine residues forming a series of disulfide bridges; a hydrophobic H5 region close to the pore vestibule, for possible receptor/channel modulation by cations and anATP-binding site, which may involve regions of the extracellular loop adjacent to TM1 and TM2. The $P2X_{1-7}$ receptors show 30– 50% sequence identity at the peptide level (North 2002; Stojilkovic et al., 2005; Egan et al., 2006; Roberts et al., 2006). The stoichiometry of $P2X_{1-7}$ receptors is thought to involve three subunits, which form a stretched trimer or a hexamer of conjoined trimers (North 2002; Nicke et al., 1998). The pharmacology of the recombinant P2X receptor subtypes expressed in oocytes or other cell types is often different from the pharmacology of P2X-

mediated responses in naturally occurring sites (Gever et al., 2006). Several contributing factors may account for these differences. First, heteromultimers as well as homomultimers are involved in forming the trimer ion pore (Nicke et al., 1998). For example, heteromultimers are clearly established for $P2X_{2/3}$ receptors. P2X_{1/2}, P2X_{1/5}, P2X_{2/6}, P2X_{4/6} and more recently P2X_{1/4} heteromultimers have also been identified. P2X7 does not form heteromultimers, and P2X6 will not form a functional homomultimer. Second, spliced variants of P2X receptor subtypes might play a part. For example, a splice variant of P2X₄ receptor, while it is nonfunctional on its own, can potentiate the actions of ATP through the fulllength P2X₄ receptors (Townsend-Nicholson et al., 1999). The P2X subunit proteins are 384 (P2X₄) to 595 (P2X₇) amino acids long (Roberts et al., 2006). Each has two hydrophobic regions. All the P2X receptor subunits have consensus sequences for N-linked glycosylation. There are seven genes for P2X receptor subunits. P2X₄ and P2X₇ subunit genes are located close to the tip of the long arm of chromosome 12 (North 2002). P2X₄ and P2X₇ subunits are among the most closely related pairs in amino acid sequences. P2X₁ and P2X₅ genes are also very close together on the short arm of chromosome 13. The remaining genes are on different chromosomes. Several full-length non-mammalian vertebrate sequences have been identified. There are no reports of homologous sequences from invertebrate species, although there is considerable functional evidence that extracellular ATP and other nucleotides can directly gate ion channels in invertebrates (Egan et al., 2006; Roberts et al., 2006). Following the binding with the ATP, the P2X receptor channel opens, generating a movement of cations across the cell membrane. This movement of ions produces changes in electrical potential of the cell, with membrane depolarization which, in turn, activates calcium-channel voltage-dependent. The accumulation of calcium ions in the cytoplasm is also responsible of the activation of numerous signal transduction pathways through the activation of MAPKs, PKC and calmodulin (Communi et al., 2000b; North, 2002). The extent of cellular responses induced by these receptors, in addition to being modulated by transmembrane potential difference, is also regulated by the duration of receptor stimulation. Continuous stimulation of the receptor leads to a state of desensitization, in which the receptor no longer responds to the endogenous agonist. The rate with which this process is established, and involves all the molecules of the receptor, is finely regulated by the cell through specific phosphorylation induced by second messengers. For example, P2X₁ and P2X₃ receptors have a rapid desensitation when continuously stimulated with ATP and P2X₂ receptor channel stays open until the ATP interacts with it. Receptor activity and intensity of the response is also strongly modulated by extracellular pH and the presence of heavy metals (zinc and cadmium) that act as allosteric modulators (Huidobro-Toro et al., 2008). For example, the sensitivity of P2X₁, P2X₃ and P2X₄ receptors to ATP is attenuated when the extracellular pH is greater than seven, while the affinity of the P2X₂ receptor in these conditions, significantly increases. Zinc, however, increases the ionic current through $P2X_2$, $P2X_3$ and $P2X_4$ receptors while it inhibits the ionic current through $P2X_1$ receptor (Gever et al., 2006). The ability of pH and metal allosteric modulators of these receptors appears to be attributed to the presence of histidine residues in the extracellular region (North, 2002). These receptors are generally expressed by excitable cells like neurons, smooth and striated muscle cells. P2X receptors are involved in fast synaptic interneuronal transmission in CNS or in muscle contraction. They are also present at the level of immune system cells such as monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells, thymocytes and other lymphoid cells, in which seem to mediate multiple responses including apoptotic cell death (Pizzo et al., 1991; Chvatchko et al., 1996). P2X₁ receptors are expressed predominantly in human smooth muscle cells of the deferens vessel and of the bladder as well as in brain, heart and platelets. While P2X₂ receptors are present in sensory ganglia, brain, chromaffin cells, in the retina, cochlea and in smooth muscle. P2X₃ receptors are found in sensory fibers in the brain and heart. Experiments in vivo have been attributed to polymer $P2X_{2/3}$ a role in signal transmission in chronic inflammatory pain and neuropathic pain (Barclay et al., 2002; Wirkner et al., 2007). P2X₄ receptors in addition to being expressed at high levels in the brain, are localized at the level of colon, heart, epithelia and smooth muscle. In the rat this receptors was detected in the hippocampus, the brain, in dorsal ganglion (DRG) and endocrine tissue. P2X5 receptors are localized in the brain, heart, spine, lymphocytes and thymus. In humans, P2X₆ receptors are present in the brain, sensory and autonomous ganglia. The expression of $P2X_7$ receptors are high in immune cells such as monocytes, macrophages, microglia, dendritic cells (North, 2002; Burnstock, 2007; Surprenant and North, 2008). In literature, numerous studies have attempted to define the pharmacological profile of agonists and antagonists of P2X receptors (Burnstock, 2007). Indeed there are many works reporting the effect of agonists and/or antagonists of the purinergic system in different tissues and/or organs. These results show sometimes inconsistency on the results obtained, this is probably due to the low affinity and selectivity of the ligands used and to the ubiquitous presence of several purinergic subtypes. To date, there are numerous agonists and/or antagonists for the purinergic receptors even though most of them are not selective.

P2X₁ and P2X₃ receptors

P2X₁ and P2X₃ receptors are transmembrane channel permeable to cations (Na⁺, Ca^{2+} and K^{+}) which represent respectively the first and the third member of the P2X family. Exposure to ATP or selective agonists activates these receptors transiently changing the channel conformation. Opening of these receptors generates a movement of cations across the cell membrane that produces changes in the electrical potential of the cell, with consequent membrane depolarization, which in turn, activates calcium-channel voltage-dependent (Surprenant and North, 2008). P2X₁ purinergic receptors have been cloned and expressed in different animal species such as rat, mice and human. The human gene coding for the purinergic receptors $P2X_1$ is mapped in 17p13.2 and shows characteristics very similar to that of rat (North, 2002). P2X₁ receptors are proteins consisting of 399 amino acids and has a molecular mass of 70 kD, almost double that provided by the amino acid sequence, probably because of glycosylation of the extracellular domain (Sun et al., 1998). P2X₁ subunits have four potential glycosylation sites (Asn153, Asn184, Asn284, Asn300 in rat) (Nicke et al., 1998) whose deletion leads to inactivation of the ion channel (Newbolt et al., 1998, Torres et al., 1998). The human P2X₁ receptor is expressed not only in certain brain areas, but mainly in peripheral vascular smooth muscle cells of the vas deferens, arteries, arterioles, bladder and bowel, and heart in platelets (Gever et al., 2006). At the level of smooth muscle, activation of this receptor by agonist leads to contraction. Studies in $P2X_1$ knock-out mice have allowed to demonstrate that the absence of this receptor results in a reduced contraction of the vas deferens, male infertility, reduced vasoconstriction to nerve stimulation, reduced autoregolating blood flow in the kidney (Mulryan et al., 2000; Vial et al., 2000). P2X₁ receptors are expressed at high concentration also in platelets, where their activation by ATP is partly involved in the regulation of various platelet function. The importance of this receptor in promoting and maintaing the platelet activation was confirmed by knock-out mouse in which the lack of P2X₁ receptor expression is associated with changes in aggregation, secretion and platelet adhesion and reduction of thrombus growth (Hechler et al., 2003). Even $P2Y_1$ and $P2Y_{12}$ receptors are abundantly expressed in platelets and involved in their regulation (Fabre et al., 1999). With immunohistochemical studies, it was shown that P2X₁ receptors are expressed, even if in low concentrations, in lymphocytes (Wiley et al., 1996) and in heart muscle (Dhulipala et al., 1998). P2X₃ purinergic receptors have been isolated from sensory neurons of dorsal root ganglia (DRG) of rat and human heart (Chen et al., 1995, Lewis et al., 1995, Garcia-Guzman et al., 1997). The human gene coding for them map 11q12 and the percentage of identity between the sequences of human and rat P2X₃ is high. (North and Surprenant, 2000; North, 2002). P2X₃ receptors are composed of 397 amino acids and as P2X1 receptors have four potential glycosylation sites. Furthermore, both P2X₁ that P2X₃ subunits assemble as trimers (Nicke et al., 1998). $P2X_3$ and $P2X_{2/3}$ receptors are expressed predominantly in the major afferent neurons, ie in small diameter nociceptive sensory neurons of dorsal root and trigeminal ganglia and nodose (Thomas et al., 1998; Virginio et al., 1998; Cockayne et al., 2005). The nociceptive afferents are widely distributed throughout the body and they include both A δ myelinated fibers of medium diameter, both the C fibers of small diameter, non-myelinated slow conductance (Kirkup et al., 1999; Cockayne et al., 2000; Lee et al., 2000; Brouns et al., 2000; Wynn et al., 2004). At the central level $P2X_3$ and $P2X_{2/3}$ are present in the dorsal horn and in the nucleus of the solitary tract (NST) which appear to be involved in the modulation of presynaptic glutamate release (Gu et al., 1997; Hechler et al., 2003; Gever et al., 2006). Studies have shown that $P2X_3$ and $P2X_{2/3}$ are expressed in the enteric nervous system (Poole et al., 2002) and in several epithelial tissues where responses appear to modulate some chemical or mechanical (Fu et al., 2004). In vivo experiments have allowed to attribute to P2X₃ and P2X_{2/3} an important role in the signaling of chronic inflammatory and neuropathic pain (Barclay et al., 2002). Studies in mice P2X₃ knock-out showed that the absence of this receptor results in reduced urinary and abnormal reflex response to pain stimuli (Cockayne et al., 2000; Gever et al., 2006). Antagonists for this receptor and its heteromeric form could therefore have a therapeutic role for the treatment of chronic pain (Wirkner et al., 2007). P2X₃ receptors are pharmacologically similar to P2X₁ receptors, both rapidly desensitization when exposed to high concentrations of ATP. It was noted that the time of desensitization for the P2X₁ receptor is approximately 300 milliseconds while for the P2X₃ receptor is about 100 milliseconds. The ability for the P2X₁ receptor to function again is achieved after 10-30 min and for P2X₃ receptor is 15 min (North et al., 2000). It has been shown that both receptor subtypes are activated to ATP and to α,β -meATP (pEC₅₀> 6) and inhibited not only by Suramin but also by TNP-ATP (pIC_{50} > 8). In literature, studies have defined the pharmacological profile of agonists and antagonists specific for P2X1 and P2X3 receptors. Selective agonists for the P2X₁ receptor were analog of ATP as $\gamma\beta$ -MeATP (γ , β -methylene-ATP) and diadenosine polyphosphates (Ap4A) while P2X₃ receptor showed selectivity for diadenosine polyphosphates (Ap3A). Selective P2X₁ antagonist were Suramin analogues NF449 and NF864 dipeptides and the compound RO-1 while P2X₃ receptor shown affinity to tricarboxylic acid A317491 and RO-3 (composed of dipeptides) (Gever et al., 2006). The activity and intensity of the response of these receptor subtypes is also strongly modulated by the presence of heavy metals such as zinc and extracellular pH that act as allosteric modulators. Recent studies have shown that the extracellular pH negatively regulates P2X₁ and P2X₃ receptors while zinc inhibits P2X₁ receptors and positively modulates P2X₃ receptors. It is well known that calcium influences these receptors by the inhibition of P2X₃ receptors even if no effect on P2X₁ has been reported (Gever et al., 2006).

ADENOSINE, ATP AND INFLAMMATION

Adenosine receptors on immune cells

Adenosine is an endogenous signalling molecule that engage cell surface ARs to regulate numerous physiological and pathological processes. Substantial evidence demonstrates that adenosine is an important signalling molecule and ARs are important molecular targets in the pathophysiology of inflammation. All inflammatory cells express ARs, and research into the consequences of ARs activation has identified numerous avenues for adenosine-based therapeutic intervention. Indeed, adenosine-based approaches are currently being developed

for the treatement of various disorders where inflammatory modulation is a key component.

Neutrophils

Neutrophils are the most abundant leukocyte and represent rhe body's first line of defence in response to a pathogenic challenge; they are the predominant leukocytes involved in acute inflammation. All four adenosine receptors subtypes are expressed on neutrophils. At submicromolar concentrations, A1 ARs activation on human neutrophils produces proinflammatory response by promoting chemotaxis and adherence to the endothelium (Bours et al. 2006). Activation of A_{2A} ARs and A_{2B} ARs on neutrophils is anti-inflammatory. High concentration of adenosine inhibit neutrophils adhesion to endothelial cells by activating these receptors (Bours et al. 2006, Sullivan et al. 2004). In human neutrophils, A2A ARs activation inhibits the formation of reactive oxygen species (Salmon and Cronstein 1990). Activation of A2A ARs on neutrophils produced an antiinflammatory effect by decreasing the formation of the proinflammatory cytochine TNF- α (Harada et al. 2000), chemokines such as macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-1a/CCL3, MIP-1B/CCL4, MIP-2a/CXCL2 and MIP-3a/CCL20 (McColl et al. 2006), and leukotriene LTB4 (Flamada et al. 2000, 2002), and platelet activating factor (PAF) (Flamada et al. 2006). Other important immunoregulatory effects mediated by the $A_{2A}\,ARs$ include the inhibition of Fc gamma (Fcy) receptor-mediated neutrophils phagocytosis and inhibition of degranulation (Bours et al. 2006, Sullivan et al. 1999). Activation of the A_{2B} ARs inhibits neutrophils extravasation across human umbilical vein endothelial cell (HUVEC) monolayers and inhibits the release of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (Wakai et al. 2001). Conflicting reports suggest that activation of A₃ ARs on neutrophils may produce proinflammatory or anti-inflammatory effects. Studies with A3 ARs knockout mice suggest that A3 ARs promotes recruitment of neutrophils to lungs during sepsis (Inoue et al. 2008). Moreover, A₃ ARs play an important role in the migration of neutrophils in response to chemoattractant molecules released by microbes (Chen et al. 2006). Selective A₃ ARs antagonists inhibit fMLP-mediated chemotaxis in neutrophils (Chen et al. 2006). In other studies, activation of A₃ ARs has been shown to counteract inflammation by inhibiting degranulation and oxidative burst (Gessi et al. 2002).

Monocytes and Macrophages

Monocytes and macrophages are an heterogenous group of mononuclear cells that present an early line of innate immune defense. They represent a primary source of inflammatory modulators and are highly adaptable with a phenotype that can change rapidly in response to the local environment of the inflamed tissue. Macrophages also show an important role in terminating the inflammatory process, which is critical for preventing excessive tissue injury. All four ARs are expressed on monocytes and macrophages, although expression levels differ markedly throughout the maturation and differentiation process. (Thiele et al. 2004). In human monocytes, A_1 ARs activation produces a proinflammatory effect whereas A_{2A} ARs activation produces an anti-inflattory effect. A key function of the A_1 ARs is a rapid enhancement of the activity of the Fcy receptor (Salmon et al. 1993). Activation of A_{2A} ARs limits inflammatory reactions by inhibiting phagocytosis in monocytes (Salmon et al. 1993) and macrophages (Eppell et al. 1989), decreasing the production of reactive oxygen species (Thiele et al 2004) and altering cytokine release. In addition, A3 ARs activation inhibits fMLP-triggered respiratory burst in monocytes (Broussas et al. 1999). Monocytes and macrophages are primary sources of TNF- α , a proinflammatory cytokine involved in the pathophysiology of a number of chronic inflammatory diseases. Early studies suggested that activation of A2A ARs suppresses production of TNF- α in monocytes activated by bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (Le Vraux et al. 1993). In primary cultures of monocytes activated by LPS and LPS-stimulated mause macrophages, activation of the A_{2A} ARs attenuate the release of TNF- α , wherease activation of the A1 ARs and A3 ARs had no effect on the formation of TNF-α (Zhang et al. 2005; Ezeamuzie and Khan 2007). Similar results were obtained in studies with primary cultures of mouse peritoneal macrophages (Kreckler et al. 2006). In other studies, activation of A₃ ARs was shown to inhibit LPS-induced TNF- α release in vitro in the RAW 264.7 murine leukemia macrophage line (Martin et al. 2006), U937 human leukemic macrophage line (Sajjadi et al. 1996), murine J774.1 macrophages (McWhnney et al. 1996) and in vivo in endotoxemic mice (Hasko et al. 1996). In the RAW 264.7 macrophage line, the inhibitory effects of A₃ ARs were mediated by a mechanism involving Ca^{2+} -dependent activation of NF- κB (Martin et al. 2006).

Dendritic cells

Dendritic cells (DCs) are highly specialized antigen-presenting cells that play an important role in the initiation and regulation of immune responses by migrating to sites of injury and infection, processing antigens, and activating naïve T cells. Immature DCs (imDCs) undergo a maturation process following exposure to proinflammatory signals, including pathogens, LPS, TNF-a, IL-1 and IL-6. the maturation process results in decreased phagocytic activity and increased expression of membrane major histocompatibility complex (MHC). Mature DCs release a number of cytokines, including TNF-a, IL-12 and IL-10. ARs are differentially expressed on human DCs (Fossetta et al. 2003). Immature, undifferentiated human DCs express mRNAs for the A1 AR, A2A AR and A3 AR but not for the A_{2B} AR (Fossetta et al. 2003). Activation of the A₁ ARs and A₃ ARs subtypes in undifferentiated DCs induces chemotaxis and mobilization of intracellular $\mbox{Ca}^{2+}\!\!,$ while activation of the A_{2A} AR subtypes has no effect (Panther et al. 2001). Activation of A1 ARs in resting DCs suppresses vescicular MHC class I cross-presentation by a Gi-mediated pathways (Chen et al. 2008). Following treatment with LPS to induce differentiation and maturation, human DCs primarily express the A_{2A} ARs (Panther et al. 2001; Fossetta et al. 2003). Activation of the A2A ARs increases adenylyl cyclase activity and inhibits production of the proinflammatory cytokine IL-12, thereby reducing the ability of the DC to promote the differentiation of T cells o the Th-1 phenotype, and stimulates the production of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 (Panther et al. 2001, 2003). In mature DCs the A_{2A} ARs is the predominant subtype and A_{2A} ARs activation decreass the production of IL-6, IL-12 and TNF- α (Schnurr et al. 2004). Moreover IL-3-induced maturation of human DCs results in a downregulation of A1 ARs and an upregulation of A2A ARs (Schnurr et al. 2004). The mouse DC line XS-106 expresses functional A2A ARs and A3 ARs (Dickenson et al. 2003). A2A ARs activation increases cAMP levels and p42/p44 MAPK phosphorylation, whereas activation of A3 ARs inhibits cAMP accumulation and increases in p42/p44 MAPK phosphorylation. Functionally, the activation of both subtypes produces a partial inhibition of LPS-induced release of TNF-α.

Lymphocytes

Lymphocytes are critically involved in adaptive immunity. Adenosine regulates multiple physiologic processes and inflammatory actions on lymphocytes. In early studies, it was demonstrated in mixed human lymphocytes that R-PIA and low concentrations of adenosine (1-100 nM) inhibit cAMP accumulation via A1 ARs mechanism, while high concentrations of adenosine (100 nM- 100 µM) stimulated cAMP via an A_{2A} ARs mechanism (Marone et al. 1986, 1992). CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T lymphocytes express A_{2A} ARs, A_{2B} ARs and A₃ ARs (Gessi et al. 2004, 2005; Hoskin et al. 2008). In activated human CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T lymphocytes, A_{2B} ARs expression is increased and its activation is linked to decreased IL-12 production. Activation of human CD4⁺ T lymphocytes with phytohemagglutinin results in increases in A3 ARs mRNA and protein levels that are accompanied by increased agonist potency (Gessi et al. 2004). A number of studies suggest that A2A ARs engagement on CD4+ T lymphocytes results in an anti-inflammatory effects. In mouse CD4⁺ T lymphocytes, A_{2A} ARs engagements inhibits T-cell receptor (TCR)-mediated production of IFN- γ (Lappas et al. 2005). TCR activation results in A_{2A} ARs mRNA upregulation, which functions as an anti-inflammatory mechanism for limiting T-cell activation and subsequent macrophage activation in inflamed tissues (Lappas et al. 2005). Activation of the A_{2A} ARs on CD4⁺ T lymphocytes prevents myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury by inhibiting the accumulation and activation of CD4⁺ T cells in the reperfused heart (Yang et al 2006b). moreover, an anti-inflammatory role in chronic inflammation was demonstrated for the A_{2A} ARs in an in vivo murine model of inflammatory bowel disease, where activation of the A_{2A} ARs attenuated the production of IFN- γ , TNF- α and IL-4 in mesenteric T lymphocytes in a rabbit models of colitis (Odashima et al. 2005). The result of a study (Takahashi et al. 2007b) suggest that the anti-inflammatory effect of adenosine in lymphocytes is mediated by A2A ARs and a proinflammatory effect is closely associated with A1 ARs. As such, the net effect of adenosine on lymphocytes activated by IL-8 is a complex function due to the presence of ARs. In primary cultures of B lymphocytes, activation of B-cell antigen receptors results in the activation of NF-kB pathways (Minguet et al. 2005). Adenosine inhibits the NF-kB pathways by a mechanism related to increased of cAMP levels and activation of PKA. This study suggest that adenosine-mediated signals represent an important step in mediating the activation of B lymphocytes. In activated human and mouse natural killer (NK) cells, adenosine inhibited the production of cytokines and chemokines (Raskovalova et al. 2006). In in vitro studies with lymphocytes derived from mouse spleen, A₁ ARs activation increased NK cells activity while A_{2A} ARs activation decreased NK cells activity (Priebe et al. 1990). In mouse LAK cells, the adenosine agonist CADO inhibited the cytotoxic activity and attenuated the production of IFN- γ , granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor, TNF- α and MIP-1 α (Lokshin et al. 2006). Taken together, these results suggest that elevated adenosine levels in tumors may inhibit the tumoricidal effect of activated NK cells. In addition, recent studies have shown that adenosine exhibits anti-infllammatory activities by engagin A_{2A} ARs on regulatory cells (Deaglio et al. 2007).

ATP receptors on immune cells

Extracellular ATP is an important mediator of cell-to-cell interactions in the nervous, vascular and immune system. In pathologic conditions, as inflammation, ATP can highly increase, following its release by damage cells, elevated levels of ATP led to the activation of purinergic receptors (P2X and P2Y). The activation by ATP of inflammatory/immune cells leads to their release of some inflammatory mediators. The blockade of the purinergic-mediated activation of the inflammatory/immune cells might represent a useful tool to reduce the spreading of the inflammatory response.

Neutrophils

Neutrophils are the body's first line of defence against pathogens and are critical effectors in both innate and humoral immunity. ATP may contribute to the regulation of neutrophil function during inflammatory and immune responses Furthermore, neutrophils are capable of releasing both ATP and adenosine following inflammatory activation. The functions of neutrophils may thus be subject to autocrine and paracrine control by endogenous ATP and adenosine. Neutrophils have been shown to express $P2Y_{1,2,4,6,11,14}$ and $P2X_{1,4,5,7}$ receptor subtypes (Verghese et al., 1996; Jin et al., 1998; Mohanty et al., 2001; Moore et al., 2001b; Suh et al., 2001; Moore et al., 2003b; Chen et al., 2004; Meshki et al., 2004). P2 receptor density in neutrophils may be subtype-specific. As a model of

promyelocytic neutrophil progenitors, human leukemic HL-60 cells have been shown to weakly express $P2X_{1,5}$ moderately express $P2X_7$ and $P2Y_{1,11}$ and strongly express P2Y_{2,4,6} receptor subtypes. Granulocytic differentiation of HL-60 cells was shown to induce upregulation of P2X₅ and P2Y₁₁ receptor subtypes, but downregulation of P2X₇ receptors (Adrian et al., 2000; Communi et al., 2000, 2001). ATP at high micromolar concentrations may contribute to the differentiation of HL-60 cells into neutrophil like cells via stimulation of P2Y₁₁ receptors (Communi et al., 2000, 2001). Although mRNA for the P2X7 receptor has been detected in human polymorphonuclear neutrophils (PMN) (Chen et al., 2004), functional expression of this receptor subtype by neutrophils remains controversial. Using a mouse anti-human P2X7 receptor monoclonal antibody, Gu and co-workers detected little expression of $P2X_7$ receptor protein on the surface of PMN. However, these authors reported the presence of large intracellular amounts of P2X₇ protein in PMN, and suggested that these might constitute an intracellular receptor reserve from which P2X₇ receptors may be recruited to the surface following cellular activation (Gu et al., 2000). Extracellular ATP has been shown to stimulate neutrophil adhesion to endothelial cells (Rounds et al., 1999). Up-regulation of endothelial adhesion molecules such as E-selectin near inflammatory sites allows circulating neutrophils to tether to the endothelium, which results in rolling of neutrophils. ATP at low millimolar concentrations has been shown to induce up-regulation of E-selectin through P2X₇ receptor-mediated activation of NF-KB (Goepfert et al., 2000). During rolling along the endothelium, neutrophils are primed by various chemoattractants and chemokines secreted by endothelial cells. Micromolar concentrations of ATP have been shown to induce a rapid up-regulation of Mac-1 in neutrophils (Akbar et al., 1997). Following firm adhesion, neutrophils extravasate by transmigrating through the vascular endothelium. Extracellular ATP may facilitate transmigration by increasing endothelial permeability via activation of P2Y receptors (Tanaka et al., 2004). Once extravasated, neutrophils migrate to sites of inflammation or tissue damage; a process which is mediated by a variety of chemokines and chemoattractants. Effects of extracellular ATP on neutrophil migration are equivocal. At micromolar ATP concentrations, neutrophil motility (chemotaxis and chemokinesis) has been shown either to be: (a) unaffected (Aziz & Zuzel, 2001), (b) inhibited (Elferink et al., 1992), or (c) promoted via stimulation of P2Y2

receptors (Kaneider et al., 2004). ATP may also indirectly affect neutrophil migration by modulating formation of the potent neutrophil chemoattractant leukotriene (LT)-B₄, which is formed from arachidonic acid (AA) through the 5lipoxygenase (5-LO) pathway. High micromolar ATP concentrations were shown to inhibit the release of AA, whereas low micromolar concentrations stimulated AA release by activating neutrophil P2Y2 receptors (Xing et al., 1992). These findings suggest that ATP may exert a dual modulatory role on neutrophil migration during inflammation. At low micromolar concentrations, ATP may promote neutrophil accumulation via P2Y2 receptor activation, either directly by acting as a chemoattractant or indirectly by facilitating LTB₄ production. Moreover, since ATP has been shown to stimulate production of IL-8 by both eosinophils and astrocytes (John et al., 2001; Idzko et al., 2003), ATP-mediated stimulation of chemokine release by cells near sites of tissue damage may contribute to neutrophil recruitment towards these sites. Upon arriving at inflamed sites where ATP levels are the highest, neutrophil recruitment may be no longer affected, even inhibited by ATP, allowing the neutrophils to exert their bactericidal functions. The first step in the bactericidal function of neutrophils is phagocytosis of pathogens, which has been shown to be stimulated by low micromolar concentrations of both ATP and ADP via activation of Mac-1 (Miyabe et al., 2004). Through activation of P2Y2 receptors (Meshki et al., 2004), micromolar concentrations of extracellular ATP stimulate the degranulation of both primary (Meshki et al., 2004) and secondary (specific) granules (Aziz & Zuzel, 2001). P2Y2 receptor-mediated LTB₄ generation, which may subsequently enhance granule secretion in an autocrine manner, has been proposed as a mechanism for nucleotide-induced neutrophil degranulation during inflammation (Kannan, 2001, 2002, 2003). In addition to stimulating degranulation, extracellular ATP has been shown to contribute to the initiation of the oxidative burst. ATP appears to prime neutrophils for functional responses to various inflammatory mediators, as indicated by increased production of reactive oxygen species (ROS, O₂₋ and H₂O₂) (Tuluc et al., 2005). Extracellular ATP at millimolar concentrations may induce ROS production even in quiescent neutrophils via stimulation of P2X₇ receptors (Suh et al., 2001). Extracellular ATP at micromolar concentrations has been shown to delay neutrophil apoptosis in synergy with the neutrophil survival factor granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor

(GM-CSF), thus extending the functional life span of neutrophils (Gasmi et al., 1996).

Monocytes and macrophages

Monocytes and macrophages express multiple P2 receptor subtypes, i.e., monocytes express $P2Y_{1,2,4,6,11,12,13}$ and $P2X_{1,4,5,7}$ receptors (Gu et al., 2000; Chessel et al., 2001; Mehta et al., 2001; Moore et al., 2001b; Warny et al., 2001; Aga et al., 2002; Into et al., 2002a; Zhang et al., 2002; Derks and Beaman, 2004; Sluyter et al., 2004; Wang et al., 2004; Kaufmann et al., 2005), and macrophages express the same receptor subtypes except for $P2Y_{13}$ (Bowler et al., 2003; Hanley et al., 2004; Coutinho-Silva et al., 2005). P2 receptor expression may depend on maturation stage, since up-regulated expression of $P2X_7$ as well as P2Y receptors was noted upon differentiation of monocytes into macrophages (Falzoni et al., 1995). P2 receptor expression may also depend on the nature of cellular activation, since $P2X_7$ receptor expression and function appears to be up-regulated following classical activation of monocytes and macrophages by IFN γ , TNF α or LPS (Lemaire and Leduc, 2003). Classical activation of monocytes and macrophages with IFNy and LPS has been shown to induce downregulation of P2Y2 receptor expression. (Martin et al., 1997). In contrast, activation of rat alveolar macrophages by the cytokines IL-4 and IL-10 was shown to induce down-regulation of functional P2X₇ receptors (Lemaire and Leduc, 2003). Extracellular ATP and ADP have been shown to increase adhesiveness of human promonocytic U937 cells (Ventura and Thomopoulos, 1991, 1995), suggesting that endogenous nucleotides may contribute to the adhesion of inflammatory monocytes to the vascular endothelium. Interaction of selectins with their respective ligands slows down rapidly flowing monocytes (monocyte rolling), a process to which ATP may contribute by up-regulating E-selectin expression through P2X₇-mediated activation of NFkB (von Albertini et al., 1998; Goepfert et al., 2000). Stimulation of monocyte P2X₇ receptors has been shown to induce shedding of L-selectin from the surface of monocytes (Sluyter et al., 2004). This might indicate that ATP at high extracellular levels contributes to activation and transmigration of monocytes, as leukocytes shed L-selectin upon activation and during (trans-)migration. Indeed, ATP was shown to stimulate transmigration of murine monocytes through an endothelial cell monolayer (Goepfert et al., 2001).

Subsequent to transmigration, monocytes migrate to inflammatory foci in response to various chemoattractants. Both ATP and ADP at micromolar concentrations have been shown to stimulate chemotaxis of murine monocytes as well as rat microglial cells (McCloskey et al., 1999; Goepfert et al., 2001; Honda et al., 2001). Similar levels of extracellular ATP were also shown to stimulate chemokinesis (i.e. undirected cell motility) of human monocytes (Kaufmann et al., 2005). Although the mechanism by which extracellular nucleotides mediate these chemotactic effects have not been clarified to date, stimulation of monocyte migration could be P2 receptor-mediated. Production of soluble immunomediators such as cytokines, chemokines and eicosanoids is essential in immunity and involves the activation of several transcription factors, including NFkB and activator protein AP-1. NF κ B is activated in monocytes and macrophages by stimulation of P2X7 receptors Many studies have confirmed that ATP at millimolar concentrations stimulates production of IL-1a, IL-1B IL-6, IL-18 (Mehta et al., 2001; Muhl et al., 2003; Sluyter et al., 2004) and TNFa (Guerra et al., 2003). These stimulatory effects are likely mediated through $P2X_7$ receptor activation. IL-1 β is a potent pro-inflammatory cytokine mediating acute inflammatory responses. Mechanisms involved in ATP-mediated stimulation of IL-1 β release have been extensively studied. Thus, extracellular ATP appears to be a crucial signal that triggers the synthesis and release of mature IL-1 β following monocytes and macrophages priming by an inflammatory signal such as LPS. Binding of ATP to $P2X_7$ receptors causes opening of the channel and depletion of intracellular potassium, resulting in activation of Ca^{2+} -independent phospholipase A₂ (iPLA₂), which induces generation of active caspase-1 that catalyzes the formation of mature IL-1 β from proIL-1 β (Sluyter et al., 2004). An important function of inflammatory macrophages is phagocytosis and elimination of potentially harmful pathogens. For this purpose, macrophages are equipped with a diverse array of cytotoxic effector functions, including the secretion of proteolytic enzymes and the production of ROS and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) However, uncontrolled cytotoxicity and cell killing may result in considerable collateral damage to healthy tissues. ATP has been shown to modulate macrophage phagocytosis bi-directionally depending on its extracellular concentration. Phagocytosis was inhibited through P2X7 receptor activation at millimolar ATP concentrations, while it was stimulated through activation of $P2Y_2$ receptors at lower ATP levels (Sung and Silverstein, 1985; Ichinose, 1995). Proteolytic enzyme secretion is affected in a similar bidirectional fashion. Whereas ATP at millimolar levels has been shown to increase lysosomal enzyme secretion via stimulation of $P2X_7$ receptors in macrophages (Labasi et al., 2002), ATP as well as ADP inhibited lysosomal enzyme secretion at micromolar concentrations in one study (Riches et al., 1985).

Dendritic cells

Dendritic cells (DCs) are antigen-presenting innate immune cells whose specific function is to activate naive T cells and to initiate primary immune responses. Human DCs have been shown to express P2X_{1,4,5,7} and P2Y_{1,2,4,6,11,13,14} receptor subtypes (Berchtold et al., 1999; Ferrari et al., 2000; Wilkin et al., 2001; Idzko et al., 2002; Zhang et al., 2002; Schnurr et al., 2003; Skelton et al., 2003; Georgiou et al., 2005). Purinergic receptor expression may depend on degree of DC maturity, since expression of $P2Y_{11}$ and $P2Y_{14}$ receptor subtypes was shown to be downregulated upon maturation of monocyte-derived DCs (MoDCs) (Skelton et al., 2003). ATP at low micromolar concentrations transiently enhanced endocytotic activity of human immature DCs (Schnurr et al., 2000). ATP also appears to affect migration of DCs, as originally reported by Liu and co-workers who demonstrated that DCs migrated towards a pipette containing ATP (Liu et al., 1999). Subsequent studies showed that low micromolar concentrations of ATP as well as UDP and UTP stimulated migration of DCs by activating P2Y receptors (Idzko et al., 2002; la Sala et al., 2002; Schnurr et al., 2003; Idzko et al., 2004b). In contrast, a gradient of ATP and chemokines, which is likely to occur at sites of inflammation or tissue damage in vivo, resulted in inhibition of chemokinedirected migration of human MoDCs through activation of P2Y₁₁ receptors (Schnurr et al., 2003). The authors hypothesized that ATP, after initially stimulating DC migration towards sites of inflammation, may cause an arrest in movement of DCs arriving at these inflammatory sites by activating P2Y₁₁ receptors, thereby prolonging exposure of DCs to antigens and factors inducing DC maturation. Extracellular ATP may in fact be one of the factors involved in DC maturation, as micromolar ATP concentrations have been shown to induce up-regulation of maturation markers (CD80, CD83, CD86, CD54 and major histocompatibility complex MHC-II) in human peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC)-derived immature DCs (Schnurr et al., 2000; la Sala et al., 2001;Wilkin et al., 2001, 2002; Marteau et al., 2004), possibly by stimulation of the $P2Y_{11}$ receptor subtype. Purinergic signaling by extracellular nucleotides is thought to modulate cytokine production by DCs, resulting in a specific cytokine profile that appears to depend on which P2 receptor subtype is being activated. The first indication of such an effect came from an experiment showing that murine fetal skin-derived DCs (FSDCs) selected for low P2X7 receptor expression released less IL-1 β upon co-incubation with Th lymphocytes than wild-type FSDCs, which express the P2X₇ receptor subtype at a high level (Mutini et al., 1999). When coincubated with syngeneic Th cells, the ATP-resistant FSDCs also showed reduced T cell-stimulatory activity in comparison with wild-type cells, as judged by the ability to trigger IL-2 secretion by T cells (Mutini et al., 1999). Prolonged exposure (>15-30 min) to millimolar ATP concentrations causes morphological changes and eventually apoptosis of mouse and human DCs (Mizumoto et al., 2002; Sluyter and Wiley, 2002). These cytotoxic effects of ATP, which were shown to be mediated by the P2X₇ receptor and partly depended on activation of caspase-1 and caspase-3 (Coutinho-Silva et al., 1999; Falzoni et al., 2000), may contribute to the removal of DCs after antigen delivery to lymphocytes in lymphoid tissues.

Lymphocytes

Lymphocytes are central to humoral and cellular immune responses, two major lymphocyte subclasses are B and T cells expressing antigen-specific receptors, which are the hallmark of adaptive immunity. T lymphocyte function may be subject to autocrine or paracrine regulation by extracellular nucleotides as suggested by three lines of evidence. First, T lymphocytes are capable of releasing ATP upon activation (Filippini and Sitkovsky, 1990; Canaday et al., 2002; Into et al., 2002b; Loomis et al., 2003). Second, T lymphocytes express purinergic receptors for extracellular nucleotides. Several P2X receptor subtypes are expressed in peripheral T lymphocytes, such as, P2X_{1,4,5,7} (Chused et al., 1996; Gu et al., 2000; Smith et al., 2001; Di Virgilio et al., 2001; Li et al., 2001; Adinolfi et al., 2002; Budagian et al., 2003; Loomis et al., 2003; Wang et al., 2004). Although mRNA of P2Y_{1,2,4,6,11,12,13,14} receptor subtypes has been detected in resting peripheral T lymphocytes (Jin et al., 1998; Somers et al., 1998; Moore et al., 2001a; Duhant et al., 2002; Zhang et al., 2002; Moore et al., 2003a; Wang et al., 2004), P2Y receptors are thought to be nonfunctional in these cells (Oshimi et al., 1999; Duhant et al., 2002). However, T cell activation during immune responses may induce expression of functional P2Y receptor subtypes. The third line of evidence, which would suggest extracellular nucleotide-mediated regulation of T lymphocyte function, comprises the expression of several purine-metabolizing ecto-enzymes by T lymphocytes. Lymphocytes are thought to be characterized by an ATP regenerating/Adenosine-eliminating phenotype allowing them to maintain surrounding ATP at steady-state levels (Yegutkin et al., 2002). Extracellular ATP has been shown to induce shedding of L-selectin from T lymphocytes via activation of P2X₇ receptors (Elliott and Higgins, 2004). Since L-selectin is primarily involved in lymphocyte homing to lymphoid tissues and is shed upon lymphocyte activation, ATP may be involved in migration of activated lymphocytes to sites of inflammation. Purine nucleotides may also indirectly facilitate transendothelial lymphocyte extravasation by impairing vascular barrier function. Henttinen and co-workers demonstrated that adhesion of lymphocytes to endothelial cells suppressed endothelial purine metabolism (Henttinen et al., 2003). Extracellular ATP may be involved in lymphocyte proliferative responses. In murine peripheral T lymphocytes, ATP at concentrations of 0.5-2 mM was shown to inhibit proliferation of both resting and stimulated cells (Ikehara et al., 2004; DosReis et al., 1986). These inhibitory effects might be due to breakdown of ATP to adenosine. Using human peripheral blood lymphocytes, ATP at micromolar levels (100-300 µM) was shown to be a co-stimulator of mitogeninduced CD^{4+} and CD^{8+} T lymphocyte proliferation via activation of a P2X receptor channel, possibly the P2X7 receptor (Baricordi et al., 1996). The P2X7 receptor is expressed on normal B lymphocytes (Collo et al., 1997; Markwardt et al., 1997; Smith et al., 2001), but also on CD⁵⁺ B lymphocytes from chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) patients (Barden et al., 2003). NK cells are a subset of lymphocytes that appear to have a specific capacity for spontaneous cytolysis of tumor and virus-infected cells. Research on the effects of nucleotides on the activity of NK cells is very limited; existing knowledge derives mainly from studies done in the early 1990s. A study reported a dose-dependent inhibition of NK cell-mediated cytotoxic activity by exogenous ATP, probably by interacting
with P2 purinergic receptors. It was shown that ATP (micromolar) treatment of these NK cells neither induced a non-specific decrease in the number of viable cells, nor showed specific elimination of the NK cells (Krishnaraj, 1992). In human NK cells, incubation with extracellular purine nucleotides resulted in an inhibition of the IL-2 dependent NK proliferation, which was stronger for ATP than for adenosine. Koziak and co-workers showed in human NK cells a correlation between the levels of CD39 expression and ATP diphosphohydrolase (ATPDase) activity (Koziak et al., 1999) The presence of mRNAs specific for purinergic P2 receptors (P2Y₁, P2X₄, and P2X₇) in these NK cells would suggest a regulation of the purinergic signaling by the CD39/ATPDase co-expression.

ATP and adenosine as endogenous signaling molecules in immunity and inflammation

The extensive available data on the immunologic effects of purinergic signaling by extracellular ATP and adenosine, as presented in the previous paragraphs, gives overwhelming evidence that these endogenous signaling molecules and their purinergic receptors play a major role in immunity and inflammation. However, the presented data also suggest that the role of ATP and adenosine in immunity and inflammation is extremely complex and interdependent. Existing knowledge derives mainly from in vitro studies, which are directed towards unravelling biochemical mechanisms at molecular receptor and post-receptor levels, rather than providing a general picture of physiological or pathological conditions in vivo. The immunological role of ATP and adenosine is best viewed within the scope of a model which provides a functional explanation for the initiation of inflammatory and immune responses as well as their resolution, in short, for the regulation of immunity. One theory, which has gained considerable empirical support over the past decade and that complements the classical infectious-nonself theory of immunity, is the so-called "Danger theory", which proposes that the immune system is principally occupied with detecting "danger", defined as anything causing tissue damage or cellular stress (Matzinger, 1994, 2001, 2002; Heath and Carbone, 2003; Jerome and Corey, 2004). According to this line of thought, substances causing damage or emerging during, after or because of damage constitute danger signals that alert and instruct the immune system

(Gallucci & Matzinger, 2001; Rock et al., 2004; Skoberne et al., 2004). A distinction is made between on the one hand exogenous danger signals, which are typically the pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs; e.g. LPS) triggering responses through ligation of pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs; e.g. TLRs), and on the other hand endogenous danger signals, which can be produced by activated immune cells (e.g. cytokines) or can derive from stressed or damaged tissue cells. These latter tissue-derived distress signals have recently also been called damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) (Seong and Matzinger, 2004). DAMPs initiate and regulate immune responses in co-operation with other danger signals, and should ideally be entities that: (1) are constitutively present at high intracellular concentrations, (2) are normally present at negligible extracellular concentrations, (3) are easily released in response to injury, infection or other inflammatory stimuli, (4) are able to activate selective and specific cellular receptors responsive over a wide range of concentrations, and (5) are quickly degraded following their release (Di Virgilio et al., 2003; Di Virgilio, 2005). Both ATP and adenosine meet all five of the above prerequisites, and may therefore be considered as DAMP molecules. For the purpose of clarity, inflammatory and immune responses are divided into three stages, which partly overlap (Chaplin, 2003; Gilroy et al., 2004; Sherwood and Toliver-Kinsky, 2004). The first stage encompasses the onset of acute inflammation and the initiation of primary immune responses upon encounter with infectious or injurious agents. The second stage comprises the modulation and fine-tuning of ongoing inflammatory and immune responses by endogenous immunoregulatory substances. Finally, the third stage encompasses the down-regulation of immune responses, the induction of inflammatory resolution and the restoration of damaged tissues to preserve cellular homeostasis. These three stages will be used as a steppingstone to positioning purinergic signaling by extracellular ATP and adenosine in immunity and inflammation. In the first stage, extracellular ATP mainly functions as a proinflammatory and immunostimulatory mediator in the microenvironment of damaged cells. ATP may be part of a group of endogenous molecules that have recently been termed 'alarmins' (Oppenheim and Yang, 2005). These multifunctional molecules appear to be an unique subgroup of endogenous danger signals since they exhibit both chemotactic and activating effects on leukocytes, particularly DCs, thereby displaying potent innate immunoenhancing activity (Oppenheim and Yang, 2005). ATP is present in the cell cytosplasm at millimolar concentrations and is released from the intracellular compartment upon cellular stress or non-physiological necrotic cell death. Extracellular ATP concentrations in the local microenvironment of damaged cells can rise considerably, marking the damaged site and contributing to the promotion of inflammation and the initiation of primary immune responses. From this point of view, ATP at high extracellular concentrations appears to be a natural endogenous adjuvant released from injured and dying cells, which initiates inflammation and has an augmenting effect to amplify and sustain cell-mediated immunity through P2 receptor-mediated purinergic signaling. At an early phase following cell damage, when ATP levels are highest, the receptor subtype most likely involved in sensing the purinergic danger is the $P2X_7$ receptor (Elliott and Higgins, 2004). Via activation of P2X₇ receptors, ATP induces the production of cytokines such as IL-1 β , IL-2, IL-12, IL-18 and TNF α by residing immune cells, triggering the inflammatory response and inducing type 1 lymphocyte polarization. Highlevel signaling through other P2 receptors probably also contributes to the pro-inflammatory and immunostimulatory role of ATP. Recruitment of leukocytes to damaged sites is promoted by ATP as well as other adenine and uridine nucleotides, which also induce inflammatory activation of neutrophils, classical activation of macrophages, maturation and Th1 cellstimulatory capacity of DCs, and proliferation and activation of lymphocytes. In the second stage, the immunological role of ATP appears to shift gradually from being mostly immunostimulatory to being more immunomodulatory. In addition, extracellular adenosine mainly appears to predominate as an anti-inflammatory mediator at this stage. Over-activation of the immune system may lead to uncontrolled or chronic inflammation resulting in collateral cell damage and destruction of healthy tissues. Therefore, inflammatory and immune responses must be tightly regulated to protect the host. For this purpose, the immune system disposes of several regulatory molecules that orchestrate host responses by controlling inflammatory and immune responses (Nathan, 2002). Extracellular ATP and adenosine could be endogenous regulatory molecules comprising a purinergic feedback system. Crucial components of such a purinergic feedback system are the purinergic receptors mediating the immunological effects of extracellular nucleotides and nucleosides, as well as the ectoenzymes mediating a purinergic cascade that leads to a progressive decrease in nucleotide concentrations and an increase in nucleoside concentrations. The expression profile of purinergic receptors as well as of ecto-enzymes by immune cells changes under inflammatory conditions, allowing for the progressive acquisition of an immunomodulatory purinergic repertoire expressed by the cells involved in inflammatory and immune responses. The ecto-enzymes CD39 and CD73 control extracellular nucleotide concentrations and thereby regulate the extent of purinergic signaling, as evidenced by several studies using ecto-enzyme knockout models (Goepfert et al., 2000, 2001; Mizumoto et al., 2002; Eltzschig et al., 2003, 2004; Koszalka et al., 2004). It appears that low-level purinergic signaling by P2 receptors, induced by nucleotides at decreased concentrations, modulates ongoing inflammatory and immune responses. Activation of P2 receptors, most probably P2Y receptor subtypes, attenuates pro-inflammatory cytokine production by monocytes and macrophages, diminishes Th1 cell-stimulatory capacity of DCs and inhibits lymphocyte effector functions. Thus, upon progression of the immune response, nucleotide-mediated purinergic signaling may switch from being predominantly pro-inflammatory to being mostly immunomodulatory, depending on the extracellular concentrations of the nucleotides as well as the P2 receptor subtype(s) ligated by these nucleotides. This switch could be part of a mechanism by which the effector class of an immune response is being fine-tuned and redirected by microenvironmental signals according to the tissue in which the response occurs (Di Virgilio et al., 2003; La Sala et al., 2003; Mazzoni and Segal, 2004). However, evidence for such an immunomodulatory role of low-level ATPmediated purinergic signaling is very limited. ATP at low micromolar concentrations markedly inhibited the inflammatory reaction by inhibiting $TNF\alpha$ release and stimulating IL-10 release in immunostimulated whole blood, even under conditions of severe oxidative stress (Swennen et al., 2005, 2006). Since natural cell-to-cell interactions are preserved in this diluted whole blood system and blood components are present in in vivo ratios with non-cellular components, this ex vivo system is a good reflection of the natural environment. Furthermore, adenosine-mediated P1 receptor signaling during the second stage down-regulates neutrophil effector functions, contributes to alternative activation of macrophages, stimulates Th2 cell-stimulatory capacity of DCs and inhibits lymphocyte effector functions. At the final stage, extracellular adenosine appears to be an important immunosuppressive and tissue-healing factor. Like ATP, adenosine can also be considered as a danger molecule because its extracellular levels rise markedly in response to tissue damage. However, unlike ATP, rising extracellular adenosine levels in response to damage inflicted by overactive host immune cells mediate an autoregulatory immunosuppressive loop to protect healthy tissues from these 'dangerous' immune cells. Damage-associated increases in extracellular adenosine thus represent a 'second' danger signal that is sensed by P1 receptors (Frantz et al., 2005). Inflammatory mediators progressively up-regulate the expression of the P1 receptor subtypes through which adenosine mediates its immunosuppressive effects (Varani et al., 2003; Gessi et al., 2004b; Lappas et al., 2005a; Murphree et al., 2005; Fortin et al., 2006). Using receptor knock-out models, the A_{2A} AR subtype has been considered to play a non-redundant role in down-regulating cell-mediated immunity and in activating pro-resolution pathways (Thiel et al., 2005; McColl et al., 2006). A₁, A_{2B} and A₃ ARs also contribute to the adenosine-mediated negative feedback signaling (Lee et al., 2004a, 2004b; Tsutsui et al., 2004; Sun et al., 2005; Tilley and Boucher, 2005). Adenosine mediated signaling by these purinergic receptors induces an angiogenic switch in macrophages or deactivates macrophages, suppresses proliferation and effector functions of lymphocytes, and promotes angiogenesis and tissue regeneration. In conclusion, although it is still far from clear how extracellular ATP and adenosine exert their immunologic roles, they appear to be crucial endogenous signaling molecules in immunity and inflammation. Because ATP and adenosine are unstable molecules with a short half-life, they probably operate only transiently in the local microenvironment of cells in an autocrine or paracrine manner. Purinergic signaling constitutes one of the mechanisms by which the immune system tailors inflammatory and immune responses according to the host's need for protection against danger. Purinergic signaling molecules may be beneficial in the treatment of immune-related diseases, as signaling by extracellular adenosine may contribute to the anti-inflammatory effects of lowdose methotrexate, which probably is one of the most prescribed antiinflammatory drug in the treatment of patients with RA (Cronstein, 2005). Thus in view of the pivotal role of the immune system in health and disease, current research on endogenous immunomodulatory molecules, ATP and adenosine included, may help devise novel strategies for the treatment of human diseases.

REFERENCES

Abbracchio MP and Burnstock G (1994) Purinoceptors: are there families of P2X and P2Y purinoceptors? Pharmacol Ther 64:445–475.

Abbracchio MP and Burnstock G. (1998) Purinergic signalling: pathophysiological roles. Jpn J Pharmacol 78:113–145.

Abbracchio MP, Boeynaems JM, Barnard EA, Boyer JL, Kennedy C, Miras-Portugal MT, King BF, Gachet C, Jacobson KA, Weisman GA, Burnstock G. (2003) Characterization of the UDP-glucose receptor (re-named here the P2Y14 receptor) adds diversity to the P2Y receptor family. Trends Pharmacol Sci 24(2): 52-55.

Abbracchio MP, Burnstock G, Boeynaems J-M, Barnard EA, Boyer JL, Kennedy C, Knight GE, Fumagalli M, Gachet C, Jacobson KA. et al. (2006) International Union of Pharmacology. Update and subclassification of the P2Y G protein-coupled nucleotide receptors: from molecular mechanisms and pathophysiology to therapy. Pharmacol Rev 58:281–341.

Adinolfi E, Melchiorri L, Falzoni S, Chiozzi P, Morelli A, Tieghi A (2002) P2X7 receptor expression in evolutive and indolent forms of chronic B lymphocytic leukemia. Blood 99(2):706–708.

Adrian K, Bernhard MK, Breitinger HG, Ogilvie A (2000) Expression of purinergic receptors (ionotropic P2X1-7 and metabotropic P2Y1-11) during myeloid differentiation of HL60 cells. Biochim Biophys Acta 1492(1):127–138.

Aga M, Johnson CJ, Hart AP, Guadarrama AG, Suresh M, Svaren J (2002) Modulation of monocyte signaling and pore formation in response to agonists of the nucleotide receptor P2X(7). J Leukoc Biol 72(1):222–232.

Amoah-Apraku B, Xu J, Lu JY, Pelleg A, Bruns RF, Belardinelli L. (1993) Selective potentiation by an A_1 adenosine receptor enhancer of the negative dromotropic action of adenosine in the guinea pig heart. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 266:611-7.

Akbar GK, Mills DC, Kunapuli SP (1997) Characterization of extracellular nucleotide-induced Mac-1 (alphaM beta2 integrin) surface expression on peripheral blood leukocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 233(1):71–75.

Aziz KA, Zuzel M (2001) Regulation of polymorphonuclear leukocyte function by platelets. Saudi Med J 22(6):526–530.

Barden JA, Sluyter R, Gu BJ, Wiley JS (2003) Specific detection of nonfunctional human P2X(7) receptors in HEK293 cells and B-lymphocytes. FEBS Lett 538(1–3):159–162.

Baraldi PG, Zaid AN, Lampronti I, Fruttarolo F, Pavani MG, Tabrizi MA, Shryock JC, Leung E, Romagnoli R (2000) Synthesis and biological effects of a

new series of 2-amino-3-benzoylthiophenes as allosteric enhancers of A_1 -adenosine receptor. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 10(17):1953-7195.

Barclay J, Patel S, Dorn G, Wotherspoon G, Moffatt S, Eunson L, Abdel'al S, Natt F, Hall J, Winter J, Bevan S, Wishart W, Fox A, Ganju P (2002) Functional downregulation of $P2X_3$ receptor subunit in rat sensory neurons reveals a significant role in chronic neuropathic and inflammatory pain. J Neurosci 22(18): 8139-8147.

Baricordi OR, Ferrari D, Melchiorri L, Chiozzi P, Hanau S, Chiari E (1996) An ATP-activated channel is involved in mitogenic stimulation of human T lymphocytes. Blood 87(2):682–690.

Battacharya S, and Linden J (1995) The allosteric enhancer, PD 81,723, stabilizes human A_1 adenosine receptor coupling to G proteins. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1265:15-21.

Battacharya S, and Linden J (1996) Effects of long-term treatment with the allosteric enhancer, PD81,723, on Chinese hamster ovary cells expressing recombinant human A_1 adenosine receptors. Mol Pharmacol 50:104-111.

Berchtold S, Ogilvie AL, Bogdan C, Muhl-Zurbes P, Ogilvie A, Schuler G (1999) Human monocyte derived dendritic cells express functional P2X and P2Y receptors as well as ecto-nucleotidases. FEBS Lett 458(3):424–428.

Bowler JW, Bailey RJ, North RA, Surprenant A (2003) P2X4, P2Y1 and P2Y2 receptors on rat alveolar macrophages. Br J Pharmacol 140:567–575.

Boeynaems JM, Communi D, Gonzalez NS, Robaye B (2005) Overview of the P2 receptors. Semin Thromb Hemost. 31(2):139-149.

Bours MJL, Swennen ELR, Virgilio FD, Cronstein BN, Dagnelie PC (2006) Adenosine 5'-phosphate and adenosine as endogenous signaling molecules in immunity and inflammation. Pharmacol Ther 112:358-404.

Brouns I, Adriaensen D, Burnstock G, Timmermans JP (2000) Intraepithelial vagal sensory nerve terminals in rat pulmonary neuroepithelial bodies express $P2X_3$ receptors. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 23(1):52-61.

Broussas M, Cornillet-Lefebvre P, Potron G, Nguyen P (1999) Inhibition of fMLP triggered respiratory burst of human monocytes by adenosine: involvement of A₃ adenosine receptor. J Leukoc Biol 66:495-501.

Bruns RF and Fergus JH (1990a) Allosteric enhancement of adenosine A₁ receptor binding and function by 2-Amino-3-benzoylthiophenes. Mol Pharmacol 38:939-949.

Bruns RF, Fergus JH, Coughenour LL, Courtland GG, Pugsley TA, Dodd JH, Tinney FJ (1990b) Structure-activity relationship for enhancement of adenosine A_1 receptor binding by 2-Amino-3-benzoylthiophenes. Mol Pharmacol 38:950-958.

Bruns RF (1996) Conformational induction versus conformational selection: evidence from allosteric enhancers. Trends Pharmacol Sci 17:189-191.

Budagian V, Bulanova E, Brovko L, Orinska Z, Fayad R, Paus R (2003) Signaling through P2X7 receptor in human T cells involves p56lck, MAP kinases, and transcription factors AP-1 and NF-kappa B. J Biol Chem 278(3):1549–1560.

Burnstock G (2002) Purinergic signalling and vascular cell proliferation and death. Arteriosclerosis Thromb Vasc Biol 22:364–373.

Burnstock G (2006) Pathophysiology and therapeutic potential of purinergic signalling. Pharmacol Rev 58:58–86.

Burnstock G (2007) Physiology and pathophysiology of purinergic neurotransmission. Physiol Rev 87:659-797.

Burnstock G (2009) Purinergic signaling: past, present and future. Braz J Med Biol Res 42:3-8.

Burnstock G and Knight GE (2004) Cellular distribution and functions of P2 receptor subtypes in different systems. Int Rev Cytol 240:31–304.

Canaday DH, Beigi R, Silver RF, Harding CV, Boom WH, Dubyak GR (2002) ATP and control of intracellular growth of mycobacteria by T cells. Infect Immun 70(11):6456–6459.

Chambers JK, Macdonald LE, Sarau HM, Ames RS, Freeman K, Foley JJ, Zhu Y, Mclaughlin MM, Murdock P, Trill J (2000) A G protein-coupled receptor for UDP-glucose. J Biol Chem 275(15):10767-10771.

Chaplin DD (2003) Overview of the immune response. J Allergy Clin Immunol 111:442–459.

Chen CC, Akopian AN, Sivilotti L, Colquhoun D, Burnstock G, Wood JN (1995). A P2X purinoceptor expressed by a subset of sensory neurons. Nature 377(6548): 428-430.

Chen L, Fredholm BB, Jondal M (2008) Adenosine, trough the A_1 receptor, inhibits vescicular MHC class I cross-presentation by resting DC. Mol Immunol 45:2247-2254

Chen Y, Corriden R, Inoue Y, Yio L, Hashigushi N, Zinkernagel A, Nizet V, Insel PA, Junger WG (2006) ATP release guides neutrophil chemotais via P2Y₂ and A₃ receptors. Science 314:1792-1795.

Chen Y, Shukla A, Namiki S, Insel PA, Junger WG (2004) A putative osmoreceptor system that controls neutrophil function through the release of ATP, its conversion to adenosine, and activation of A2 adenosine and P2 receptors. J Leukoc Biol 76(1):245–253.

Chessel IP, Grahames CB, Michel AD, Humphrey PP (2001) Dynamics of P2X7 receptor pore dilation: pharmacological and functional consequences. Drug Dev Res 53:60–65

Chused TM, Apasov S, Sitkovsky M (1996) Murine T lymphocytes modulate activity of an ATP-activated P2Z-type purinoceptor during differentiation. J Immunol 157(4):1371–1380.

Chvatchko Y, Valera S, Aubry JP, Renno T, Buell G, Bonnefoy JY (1996) The involvement of an ATP-gated ion channel, $P2X_1$, in thymocyte apoptosis. Immunity 5(3):275-283.

Cockayne DA, Hamilton SG, Zhu QM, Dunn PM, Zhong Y, Novakovic S, Malmberg AB, Cain G, Berson A, Kassotakis L, Hedley L, Lachnit WG, Burnstock G, Mcmahon SB, Ford AP (2000) Urinary bladder hyporeflexia and reduced pain-related behaviour in P2X3-deficient mice. Nature 407(6807):1011-1015.

Cockayne DA, Dunn PM, Zhong Y, Rong W, Hamilton SG, Knight GE, Ruan HZ, Ma B, Yip P, Nunn P, Mcmahon SB, Burnstock G, Ford APDW (2005) P2X2 knockout mice and P2X2/P2X3 double knockout mice reveal a role for the P2X2 receptor subunit in mediating multiple sensory effects of ATP. J Physiol 567:621-639

Collo G, Neidhart S, Kawashima E, Kosco-Vilbois M, North RA, Buell G (1997) Tissue distribution of the P2X7 receptor. Neuropharmacology 36(9): 1277–1283.

Communi D, Janssens R, Robaye B, Zeelis N, Boeynaems JM (2000a) Rapid upregulation of P2Y messengers during granulocytic differentiation of HL-60 cells FEBS Lett 475(1):39-42.

Communi D, Janssens R, Suarez-Huerta N, Robaye B, Boeynaems JM (2000b) Advances in signalling by extracellular nucleotides. the role and transduction mechanisms of P2Y receptors. Cell Signal 12(6):351-360.

Communi D, Janssens R, Robaye B, Zeelis N, Boeynaems JM (2001) Role of P2Y11 receptors in hematopoiesis. Drug Dev Res 52:156–163.

Corvol JC, Studler JM, Schonn JS, Girault JA, Hervé D (2001) Galpha(olf) is necessary for coupling D1 and A_{2A} receptors to adenylyl cyclase in the striatum. J Neurochem 76(5):1585-8.

Costanzi S, Ivanov AA, Tikhonova IG, Jacobson KA (2007) Structure and function of G protein-coupled receptors studied using sequence analysis, molecular modelling, and receptor engineering: adenosine receptors. Front Drug Design Disc 3:63-79

Coutinho-Silva R, Persechini PM, Bisaggio RD, Perfettini JL, Neto AC, Kanellopoulos JM (1999) P2Z/P2X7 receptor-dependent apoptosis of dendritic cells. Am J Physiol 276(5 Pt 1):1139–1147.

Coutinho-Silva R, Ojcius DM, Gorecki DC, Persechini PM, Bisaggio RC, Mendes AN (2005) Multiple P2X and P2Y receptor subtypes in mouse J774, spleen and peritoneal macrophages. Biochem Pharmacol 69:641–655.

Cronstein BN (2005) Low-dose methotrexate: a mainstay in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. Pharm Rev 57(2):163–172.

Deaglio S, Dwyer KM, Gao W, Friedman D, Usheva A, Erat A, Chen JF, Enjyoji K, Linden J, Oukka M, Kuchroo VK, Strom TB, Robson SC (2007) Adenosine generation catalized by CD39 and CD73 expressed on regulatory T cells mediates immune suppression. J Exp Med 204:1257-1265.

Derks R, Beaman K (2004) Regeneration and tolerance factor modulates the effect of adenosine triphosphate-induced interleukin 1 beta secretion in human macrophages. Hum Immunol 65(7):676-682.

Dhulipala PD, Wang YX, Kotlikoff MI (1998) The human P2X4 receptor gene in alternatively spliced. Gene 207(2):259-266.

Dickenson JM, Reeders S, Rees B, Alexander S, Kendall D (2003) Functional expression af adenosine A_{2A} and A_3 receptors in the mouse dendritic cell line XS-106. Eur J pharmacol 474:43-51.

Di Virgilio F, Chiozzi P, Ferrari D, Falzoni S, Sanz JM, Morelli A, Torboli M, Bolognesi G, Baricordi OR (2001) Nucleotide receptors: an emerging family of regulatory molecules in blood cells. Blood 97(3):587-600.

Di Virgilio F, Ferrari D, Idzko M, Panther E, Norgauer J, La Sala A (2003) Extracellular ATP, P2 receptors, and inflammation. Drug Dev Res 59(1):171–174.

Di Virgilio F, Baricordi OR, Romagnoli R, Baraldi PG (2005) Leukocyte P2 receptors: a novel target for anti-inflammatory and anti-tumor therapy. Curr Drug Targets 5:85–99.

Dixon AK, Gubitz AK, Sirinathsinghji DJ, Richardson PJ, Freeman TC (1996) Tissue distribution of adenosine receptor mRNAs in the rat. Br J Pharmacol 118(6):1461-8.

DosReis GA, Nobrega AF, de Carvalho RP (1986) Purinergic modulation of Tlymphocyte activation: differential susceptibility of distinct activation steps and correlation with intracellular 3',5'-cyclic adenosine monophosphate accumulation. Cell Immunol 101(1):213–231.

Dubyak GR (2006) ATP Release Mechanisms (Burnstock G and Arnett TR, eds), Taylor & Francis Group

Duhant X, Schandene L, Bruyns C, Gonzalez NS, Goldman M, Boeynaems JM (2002) Extracellular adenine nucleotides inhibit the activation of human CD4+ T lymphocytes. J Immunol 169(1):15–21.

Egan TM, Samways DS,Li Z (2006) Biophysics of P2X receptors. Pfl ge s Arch. 452:501–512.

Elferink JG, de Koster BM, Boonen GJ, de Priester W (1992) Inhibition of neutrophil chemotaxis by purinoceptor agonists. Arch Int Pharmacodyn Ther 317:93–106.

Elliott JI, Higgins CF (2004) Major histocompatibility complex class I shedding and programmed cell death stimulated through the proinflammatory $P2X_7$ receptor. A candidate susceptibility gene for NOD diabetes. Diabetes 53:2012–2017.

Eltzschig HK, Ibla JC, Furuta GT, Leonard MO, Jacobson KA, Enjyoji K (2003) Coordinated adenine nucleotide phosphohydrolysis and nucleoside signaling in posthypoxic endothelium: role of ectonucleotidases and adenosine A2B receptors. J Exp Med 198(5):783–796.

Eltzschig HK, Thompson LF, Karhausen J, Cotta RJ, Ibla JC, Robson SC (2004) Endogenous adenosine produced during hypoxia attenuates neutrophil accumulation: coordination by extracellular nucleotide metabolism. Blood 104(13):3986–3992.

Elzein E, Zablocki J (2008) A_1 adenosine receptor agonists and their potential therapeutic applications. Expert Opin Investig Drugs 17(12):1901-10.

Eppell BA, Newell AM, Brown EJ (1989) Adenosine receptors are expressed during differentiation of monocytes to macrophages invitro. J Immunol 143:4141-4145

Erb L, Garrad R, Wang Y, Quinn T, Turner JT, Weisman GA (1995) Site-directed mutagenesis of P2U purinoceptors. Positively charged amino acids in transmembrane helices 6 and 7 affect agonist potency and specificity. J Biol Chem 270(9):4185-4188.

Ezamuzie CI, Khan I (2007) The role of adenosine A2 receptors in the regulation of TNF- α production and PGE2 release in mouse peritoneal macrophages. Int Immunopharm 7:483-490.

Fabre JE, Nguyen M, Latour A, Keifer JA, Audoly LP, Coffman TM, Koller BH (1999) Decreased platelet aggregation, increased bleeding time and resistance to thromboembolism in P2Y1-deficient mice. Nat Med 5(10):1199-1202.

Falzoni S, Munerati M, Ferrari D, Spisani S, Moretti S, Di Virgilio F (1995) The purinergic P2Z receptor of human macrophage cells. Characterization and possible physiological role. J Clin Invest 95(3):1207–1216.

Falzoni S, Chiozzi P, Ferrari D, Buell G, Di Virgilio F (2000) P2X(7) receptor and polykarion formation. Mol Biol Cell 11(9):3169–3176.

Ferrari D, La Sala A, Chiozzi P, Morelli A, Falzoni S, Girolomoni G (2000) The P2 purinergic receptors of human dendritic cells: identification and coupling to cytokine release. FASEB J 14(15):2466–2476.

Filippini A, Sitkovsky MV (1990) "Extracellular ATP" hypothesis of cellcell interactions in the effector phase of the immune response. FASEB J 4,A1870.

Fishman P, Bar-Yehuda S, Madi L, Cohn I (2002) A_3 adenosine receptor as a target for cancer therapy. Anticancer Drugs 13(5):437-43.

Flamand N, Bourdreault S, Picard S, Austin M, Surette ME, Plante H, Krump E, Vallee MJ, Gilbert C, Naccache P, Laviolette M, Borgeat P (2000) Adenisne, a potent natural suppressor of arachidonic acid release and leukotriene biosynthesis in human neutrophils. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 161:88-94.

Flamand N, Lefebvre L, Lapointe G, Picard S, Lemieux L, Bourgoin SG, Borgeat P (2006) Inhibition of platelet-activating factor biosynthesis by adenosine and histamine in human neutrophils: involvement of cPLA2alpha and reversal by lyso-PAF. J Leukoc Biol 79:1043-1051.

Fortin A, Harbour D, Fernandes M, Borgeat P, Bourgoin S (2006) Differential expression of adenosine receptors in human neutrophils: upregulation by specific Th1 cytokines and lipopolysaccharide. J Leukoc Biol 79(3):574–585.

Fossetta J, Jackson J, Deno G, Fan X, Du XK, Bober L, Soudè-Bermejo A, de Bouteiller O, Caux C, Lunn C, Lundell D, Palmer RK (2003) Pharmacological analysis of calcium responses mediated by the human A₃ adenosine receptor in monocyte-derived dendritic cells and recombinant cells. Mol Pharmacol 63:342-350.

Franco R, Casadó V, Ciruela F, Mallol J, Lluis C, Canela EI (1996) The clusterarranged cooperative model: a model that accounts for the kinetics of binding to A_1 adenosine receptors. Biochemistry 35(9):3007-15.

Frantz S, Vincent KA, Feron O, Kelly RA (2005) Innate immunity and angiogenesis. Circ Res 96:15–56.

Fredholm BB, IJzerman AP, Jacobson KA, Klotz KN, Linden J (2001) International Union of Pharmacology. XXV. Nomenclature and classification of adenosine receptors. Pharmacol Rev 53(4):527-52.

Fredholm BB, Chen JF, Masino SA, Vaugeois JM (2005) Actions of adenosine at its receptors in the CNS: insights from knockouts and drugs. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 45:385-412

Fredholm BB, Chern Y, Franco R, Sitkovsky M (2007) Aspects of the general biology of adenosine A_{2A} signaling. Prog Neurobiol 83(5):263-276.

Fredholm BB, Jacobson KA John W (2009) Daly and the early characterization of adenosine receptors. Heterocycles 79:73-83.

Fu XW, Nurse CA, Cutz E (2004) Expression of functional purinergic receptors in pulmonary neuroepithelial bodies and their role in hypoxia chemotransmission. Biol Chem 385(3-4):275-284.

Gallucci S, Matzinger P (2001) Danger signals: SOS to the immune system. Curr Opin Immunol 13(1), 114–119.

Garcia-Guzman M, Stühmer W, Soto F (1997) Molecular characterization and pharmacological properties of the human $P2X_3$ purinoceptor. Brain Res 47(1-2): 59-66.

Gasmi L, McLennan AG, Edwards SW (1996) The diadenosine polyphosphates Ap3A and Ap4A and adenosine triphosphate interact with granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor to delay neutrophil apoptosis: implications for neutrophil: platelet interactions during inflammation. Blood 87(8):3442–3449.

Georgiou JG, Skarratt KK, Fuller SJ, Martin CJ, Christopherson RI, Wiley JS (2005) Human epidermal and monocyte-derived Langerhans cells express functional P2X7 receptors. J Invest Dermatol 125(3):482–490.

Germack R, Dickenson JM (2005) Adenosine triggers preconditioning through MEK/ERK1/2 signalling pathway during hypoxia/reoxygenation in neonatal rat cardiomyocytes. J Mol Cell Cardiol 39(3):429-442.

Gessi S, Varani K, Merighi S, Cattabriga E, Iannotta V, Leung E, Baraldi PG, Borea PA (2002) A_3 adenosine receptors in human neutrophils and promyelocytic HL60 cells: a pharmacological and biochemical study. Mol Pharmacol 61:415-424

Gessi S, Varani K, Merighi S, Cattabriga E, Avitabile A, Gavioli R, Fortini C, Leung E MacLennan S, Borea PA (2004) Expression of A₃ adenosine receptors in human lymphocytes: up-regulation in T cell activation. Mol Pharm 65:711-719

Gessi S, Varani K, Merighi S, Cattabriga E, Pancaldi C, Szabadkai Y, Rizzuto R, Klotz KN, Leung E, Mac Lennan S, Baraldi PG, Borea PA (2005) Expression, pharmacological profile, and functional coupling of A_{2B} receptors in a recombinant system and in peripheral blood cells using a novel selective antagonist radioligand, [³H]MRE 2029-F20. Mol Pharmacol 67(6):2137-2147.

Gessi S, Merighi S, Varani K, Leung E, Mac Lennan S, Borea PA (2008) The A_3 adenosine receptor: an enigmatic player in cell biology. Pharmacol Ther 117(1):123-140.

Gever JR, Cockayne DA, Dillon MP, Burnstock G, Ford APDW (2006). Pharmacology of P2X channels. Pflugers Archl 452(5):513-537.

Gilroy DW, Lawrence T, Perretti M, Rossi AG (2004) Inflammatory resolution: new opportunities for drug discovery. Nat Rev Drug Disc 3:401–416.

Goepfert C, Imai M, Brouard S, Csizmadia E, Kaczmarek E, Robson SC (2000) CD39 modulates endothelial cell activation and apoptosis. Mol Med 6(7):591–603.

Goepfert C, Sundberg C, Sevigny J, Enjyoji K, Hoshi T, Csizmadia E (2001) Disordered cellular migration and angiogenesis in cd39-null mice. Circulation 104(25):3109–3115.

Gu BJ, Zhang WY, Bendall LJ, Chessell IP, Buell GN, Wiley JS (2000) Expression of P2X(7) purinoceptors on human lymphocytes and monocytes: evidence for nonfunctional P2X(7) receptors. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 279(4):1189–1197.

Gu JG, Macdermott AB (1997) Activation of ATP P2X receptors elicits glutamate release from sensory neuron synapses. Nature 389(6652):749-753.

Guerra AN, Fisette PL, Pfeiffer ZA, Quinchia-Rios BH, Prabhu U, Aga M (2003) Purinergic receptor regulation of LPS-induced signaling and pathophysiology. J Endotoxin Res 9(4):256–263.

Hanley PJ, Musset B, Renigunta V, Limberg SH, Dalpke AH, Sus R (2004) Extracellular ATP induces oscillations of intracellular Ca2+ and membrane potential and promotes transcription of IL-6 in macrophages. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 101(25):9479–9484.

Harada N, Okajima K, Murakami K, Usune S, Sato C, Ohshima K, Katsuragy T (2000) Adenosine and selective A_{2A} receptor agonist reduce ischemia/reperfusion injury of rat liver mainly by inhibiting leukocyte activation. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 294:1034-1042.

Heath, WR, Carbone FR (2003) Dangerous liaisons. Nat Immunol 425:460–461.

Hechler B, Lenain N, Marchese P, Vial C, Heim V, Freund M, Cazenave JP, Cattaneo M, Ruggeri ZM, Evans R, Gachet C (2003) A role of the fast ATP-gated P2X1 cation channel in thrombosis of small arteries in vivo. J Exp Med 198(4): 661-667.

Henttinen T, Jalkanen S, Yegutkin, GG (2003) Adherent leukocytes prevent adenosine formation and impair endothelial barrier function by Ecto-5'-nucleotidase/CD73-dependent mechanism. J Biol Chem 278(27):24888–24895.

Honda S, Sasaki Y, Ohsawa K, Imai Y, Nakamura Y, Inoue K (2001) Extracellular ATP or ADP induce chemotaxis of cultured microglia through Gi/o-coupled P2Y receptors. J Neurosci 21(6):1975–1982.

Hoskin DW, Mader JS, Furlong SJ, Conrad DM, Blay J (2008) Inhibition of T cell and natural killer cell function by adenosine and its contribution to immune evasion by tumor cells. Int J Oncol 32:527-535

Huidobro-Toro JP, Lorca RA, Coddou C (2008) Trace metals in the brain: allosteric modulators of ligand-gated receptor channels, the case of ATP-gated P2X receptors. Eur Biophys J 37(3):301-314.

Ichinose M (1995) Modulation of phagocytosis by P2-purinergic receptors in mouse peritoneal macrophages. Jpn J Physiol 45(5):707–721.

Idzko M, Dichmann S, Ferrari D, Di Virgilio F, La Sala A, Girolomoni G (2002) Nucleotides induce chemotaxis and actin polymerization in immature but not mature human dendritic cells via activation of pertussis toxin-sensitive P2y receptors. Blood 100(3):925–932.

Idzko M, Panther E, Bremer HC, Sorichter S, Luttmann W, Virchow Jr CJ (2003) Stimulation of P2 purinergic receptors induces the release of eosinophil cationic protein and interleukin-8 from human eosinophils. Br J Pharmacol 138(7):1244–1250.

Ikehara S, Pahwa RN, Lunzer DG, Good RA, Modak MJ (2004) Adenosine-5'triphosphate-(ATP) mediated stimulation and suppression of DNA synthesis in lymphoid cells: I. Characterization of ATP responsive cells in mouse lymphoid organs. J Immunol 127(5):1834–1838.

Into T, Fujita M, Okusawa T, Hasebe A, Morita M, Shibata K (2002a) Synergic effects of mycoplasmal lipopeptides and extracellular ATP on activation of macrophages. Infect Immun 70(7):3586–3591.

Into T, Okada K, Inoue N, Yasuda M, Shibata K (2002b) Extracellular ATP regulates cell death of lymphocytes and monocytes induced by membrane-bound lipoproteins of Mycoplasma fermentans and Mycoplasma salivarium. Microbiol Immunol 46(10):667–675.

Inoue Y, Chen Y, Hirsh MI, Yip L, Junger WG (2008) A_3 and $P2Y_2$ receptors control their recruitment of neutrophils to the lungs in a model of sepsis. Shock 30:173-177.

Jacobson KA, Kim HO, Siddiqi SM, Olah ME, Stiles GL, von Lubitz DKJE (1995a) A_3 adenosine receptors: design of selective ligands and therapeutic prospects. Drugs Future 20:689-699.

Jacobson MA, Johnson RG, Luneau CJ, Salvatore CA (1995b) Cloning and chromosomal localization of the human A_{2B} adenosine receptor gene (ADORA2B) and its pseudogene. Genomics 27:374-376.

Janusz CA, Bruns RF, Berman RF (1991) Functional activity of the adenosine binding enhancer, PD 81,723, in the in vitro hippocampal slice. Brain Res 567:181-187.

Janusz CA, Berman RF (1993) The adenosine binding enhancer, PD 81,723, inhibits epileptiform bursting in the hippocampal brain slice. Brain Res 619:131-136.

Jerome KR, Corey L (2004) The danger within. N Engl J Med 350(4):411–412.

John GR, Simpson JE, Woodroofe MN, Lee SC, Brosnan CF (2001) Extracellular nucleotides differentially regulate interleukin-1beta signaling in primary human astrocytes: implications for inflammatory gene expression. J Neurosci 21(12):4134–4142.

Jin J, Dasari VR, Sistare FD, Kunapuli SP (1998) Distribution of P2Y receptor subtypes on haematopoietic cells. Br J Pharmacol 123(5):789–794.

Josselyn SA, Nguyen PV. CREB, synapses and memory disorders: past progress and future challenges. Curr Drug Targets CNS Neurol Disord. 2005;4(5):481-97.

Kaneider NC, Mosheimer B, Reinisch N, Patsch JR, Wiedermann CJ (2004) Inhibition of thrombin-induced signaling by resveratol and quercetin: effects on adenosine nucleotide metabolism in endothelial cells and platelet–neutrophil interactions. Thromb Res 144:185–194.

Kannan S (2001) Neutrophil degranulation: coactivation of chemokine receptor(s) is required for extracellular nucleotide-induced neutrophil degranulation. Med Hypotheses 57(3):306–309.

Kannan S (2002) Amplification of extracellular nucleotide-induced leukocyte(s) degranulation by contingent autocrine and paracrine mode of leukotrienemediated chemokine receptor activation. Med Hypotheses 59(3):261–265.

Kannan S (2003) Inflammation: a novel mechanism for the transport of extracellular nucleotide-induced arachidonic acid by S100A8/A9 for transcellular metabolism. Cell Biol Int 27(7):593–595.

Kaufmann A, Musset B, Limberg SH, Renigunta V, Sus R, Dalpke AH (2005) "Host tissue damage" signal ATP promotes non-directional migration and negatively regulates Toll-like receptor signaling in human monocytes. J Biol Chem 280(37):32459–32467.

Khoa ND, Postow M, Danielsson J, Cronstein BN (2006) Tumor necrosis factoralpha prevents desensitization of Galphas-coupled receptors by regulating GRK2 association with the plasma membrane. Mol Pharmacol 69(4):1311-1319.

Kim SK, Gao ZG, Van Rompaey P, Gross AS, Chen A, Van Calenergh S, Jacobson KA (2003) Modeling the adenosine receptors: comparison of binding domains of A_{2A} agonist and antagonist. J Med Chem 46:4847-4859.

Kirkup AJ, Booth CE, Chessell IP, Humphrey PPA, Grundy D (1999) Excitatory effect of P2X receptor activation on mesenteric afferent nerves in the anaesthetised rat. J Physiol 520(2):551-563.

Klaasse EC, Ijzerman AP, de Grip WJ, Beukers MW (2008) Internalization and desensitization of adenosine receptors. Purinergic Signal 4:21-37.

Koszalka P, Ozuyaman B, Huo Y, Zernecke A, Flogel U, Braun N (2004) Targeted disruption of CD73/ecto-5'-nucleotidase alters thromboregulation and augments vascular inflammatory response. Circ Res 95:814–821.

Koziak K, Sevigny J, Robson SC, Siegel JB, Kaczmarek (1999) Analysis of CD39/ATP diphosphohydrolase (ATPDase) expression in endothelial cells, platelets and leukocytes. Thromb Haemost 82(5):1538–1544.

Krecler LM, Wan TC, Ge ZD, Auchampach JA (2006) Adenosine inhibits tumor necrosis factor-alpha release from mouse peritoneal macrophages via A_{2A} and A_{2B} but not the A_3 adenosine receptor. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 317:172-180.

Krishnaraj R (1992) Negative modulation of human NK cell activity by purinoceptors. 1. Effect of exogenous adenosine triphosphate. Cell Immunol 141(2):306–322.

La Sala A, Ferrari D, Corinti S, Cavani A, Di Virgilio F, Girolomoni G (2001) Extracellular ATP induces a distorted maturation of dendritic cells and inhibits their capacity to initiate Th1 responses. J Immunol 166(3):1611–1617.

La Sala A, Sebastiani S, Ferrari D, Di Virgilio F, Idzko M, Norgauer J (2002) Dendritic cells exposed to extracellular adenosine triphosphate acquire the migratory properties of mature cells and show a reduced capacity to attract type 1 T lymphocytes. Blood 99(5):1715–1722.

La Sala A, Ferrari D, Di Virgilio F, Idzko M, Norgauer J, Girolomoni G (2003) Alerting and tuning the immune response by extracellular nucleotides. J Leukoc Biol 73(3):339–343.

Lappas CM, Rieger JM, Linden J (2005) A_{2A} adenosine receptor induction inhibit IFM-gamma production in murine CD4+ T cells. J Immunol 174:1073-1080.

Lee BC, Cheng T, Adams GB, Attar EC, Miura N, Lee SB, Saito Y, Olszak I, Dombkowski D, Olson DP, Hancock J, Choi PS, Haber DA, Luster AD, Scadden DT (2003) P2Y-like receptor, GPR105 (P2Y14), identifies and mediates chemotaxis of bonemarrow hematopoietic stem cells. Genes Dev 17(13):1592-1604.

Lee HT, Gallos G, Nasr SH, Emala CW (2004a) A1 adenosine receptor activation inhibits inflammation, necrosis, and apoptosis after renal ischemia–reperfusion injury in mice. J Am Soc Nephrol 15(1):102–111.

Lee HT, Xu H, Nasr SH, Schnermann J, Emala CW (2004b) A1 adenosine receptor knockout mice exhibit increased renal injury following ischemia and reperfusion. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 286(2):298–306.

Lee HY, Bradini M, Burnstock G (2000) Distribution of P2X receptors in the urinary bladder and the ureter of the rat. J Urol 163(6): 2002-2007.

Lee YC, Chien CL, Sun CN, Huang CL, Huang NK, Chiang MC, Lai HL, Lin YS, Chou SY, Wang CK, Tai MH, Liao WL, Lin TN, Liu FC, Chern Y (2003) Characterization of the rat A_{2A} adenosine receptor gene: a 4.8-kb promoterproximal DNA fragment confers selective expression in the central nervous system. Eur J Neurosci 18(7):1786-1796. Lemaire I, Leduc N (2003) Purinergic P2X7 receptor function in lung alveolar macrophages: pharmacologic characterization and bidirectional regulation by Th1 and Th2 cytokines. Drug Dev Res 59:118–127.

Lewis CJ, Surprenant A, Evans RJ (1998) 2',3'-O-(2,4,6-trinitrophenyl) adenosine 5'-triphosphate (TNP-ATP): a nanomolar affinity antagonist at rat mesenteric artery P2X receptor ion channels. Br J Pharmacol 124(7):1463-1466.

Le Vraux V, Chen YL, Masson I, De Sousa M, Giroud JP, Florentin I, Chavelot-Moachon L (1993) Inhibition of human monocyte TNF production by adenosine receptors agonists. Life Sci 52:1917-1924.

Li CKF, Bowers K, Pathamakanthan S, Gray T, Lawson M (2001) Expression and functions of purinergic receptor P2X7 in colonic macrophages and T lymphocytes from normal and inflammatory bowel disease mucosa. Gastroenterology 120:A-522.

Linden J (1997) Allosteric enhancement of adenosine receptors. In: Purinergic approaches in experimental therapeutics; Jacobson KA; Jarvis MF, Eds.; Wiley-Liss: New York, pp 29-37.

Liu QH, Bohlen H, Titzer S, Christensen O, Diehl V, Hescheler J (1999) Expression and a role of functionally coupled P2Y receptors in human dendritic cells. FEBS Lett 445(2–3):402–408.

Lokshin A, Raskovalova T, Huang X, Zacharia LC, Jackson EK, Gorelik E (2006) Adenosine-mediated inhibition of the cytotoxic activity and cytokine production by activated natural killer cells. Cancer Res 66:7758-7765.

Loomis WH, Namiki S, Ostrom RS, Insel PA, Junger WG (2003) Hypertonic stress increases T cell interleukin-2 expression through a mechanism that involves ATP release, P2 receptor, and p38 MAPK activation. J Biol Chem 278(7):4590–4596.

Markwardt F, Lohn M, Bohm T, Klapperstuck M (1997) Purinoceptor operated cationic channels in human B lymphocytes. J Physiol 498(Pt 1):143–151.

Marone G, Vigorita S, Triggiani M, Condorelli M (1986) A denosine receptors on human lymphocytes. Adv Exp Med Biol 195:7-14.

Marone G, Petracca R, Vigorita S, Genovese A, Casolaro V (1992) Adenosine receptors on human leokocytes. IV. Characterization of an A1/Ri receptor. Int J Clin Lab Res 22:235-242.

Marteau F, Communi D, Boeynaems JM, Suarez Gonzalez N (2004) Involvement of multiple P2Y receptors and signaling pathways in the action of adenine nucleotides diphosphates on human monocyte-derived dendritic cells. J Leukoc Biol 76(4):796–803.

Martin KA, Kertesy SB, Dubyak GR (1997) Down-regulation of P2U-purinergic nucleotide receptor messenger RNA expression during in vitro differentiation of human myeloid leukocytes by phorbol esters or inflammatory activators. Mol Pharmacol 51(1):97–108.

Martin L, Pingle SC, Hallam DM, Rybak LP, Ramkumar V (2006) Activation of the adenosine A₃ receptor in RAW 264.7 cells inhibits lipopolysaccharidestimulated tumor necrosis factor-alpha release by reducing calcium-dependent activation of nuclear factor-kappaB and extracellular signal-regulated kinase. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 316:71-78.

Matzinger P (1994) Tolerance, danger, and the extended family. Annu Rev Immunol 12:991–1045.

Matzinger P (2001) The danger model in its historical context. Scand J Immunol 54:4–9.

Matzinger P (2002) The danger model: a renewed sense of self. Science 296:301–305.

Mazzoni A, Segal DM (2004) Controlling the road to dendritic cell polarization. J Leukoc Biol 75:721–730.

McCloskey MA, Fan Y, Luther S (1999) Chemotaxis of rat mast cells toward adenine nucleotides. J Immunol 163(2):970–977.

McColl SR, St-Onge M, Dussault AA, Laflamme C, Bouchard L, Boulanger J, Pouliot M (2006) Immunomodulatory impact of the A2A adenosine receptors on the profile of chemokines produced by neutrophils. FASEB J 1:187-189.

McGaraughty S, Coward M, Jarvis MF, Berman RF (2005) Anticonvulsant and antinociceptive actions of novel adenosine kinase inhibitors. Curr Top Med Chem 5:43-58.

McWhinney CD, Dudley MW, Bowlin TL, Peet NP, Schook L, Bradshaw M, De M, Borcherding DR, Edwards CK (1996) Activation of adenosine A3 receptors on macrophages inhibits tumor necrosis factor-alpha. Eur J Pharmacol 310:209-216.

Mehta VB, Hart J, Wewers MD (2001) ATP-stimulated release of interleukin (IL)-1beta and IL-18 requires priming by lipopolysaccharide and is independent of caspase-1 cleavage. J Biol Chem 276(6):3820–3826.

Meshki J, Tuluc F, Bredetean O, Ding Z, Kunapuli SP (2004) Molecular mechanism of nucleotide-induced primary granule release in human neutrophils: role for the P2Y2 receptor. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 286(2):264–271.

Minguet S, Huber T, Rosenkranz L, Schamel WW, Reth M, Brummer T (2005) Adenosine and cAMP are potent inhibitors of the NF-kappa B pathway downstream of immunoreceptors. Eur J Immunol 35:31-41. Miyabe K, Sakamoto N,Wu YH, Mori N, Sakamoto H (2004) Effects of platelet release products on neutrophilic phagocytosis and complement receptors. Thromb Res 114:23–36.

Mizumoto N, Kumamoto T, Robson SC, Sevigny J, Matsue H, Enjyoji K, (2002) CD39 is the dominant Langerhans cell-associated ecto-NTPDase: modulatory roles in inflammation and immune responsiveness. Nat Med 8(4):358–365.

Mohanty JG, Raible DG, McDermott LJ, Pelleg A, Schulman ES (2001) Effects of purine and pyrimidine nucleotides on intracellular Ca2+ in human eosinophils: activation of purinergic P2Y receptors. J Allergy Clin Immunol 107(5):849–855.

Monitto CL, Levitt RC, Disilvestre D, Holroyd KJ (1995) Localization of the A3 adenosine receptor gene (ADORA3) to human chromosome 1p. Genomics 26:637-638.

Moore DJ, Chambers JK, Wahlin JP, Tan KB, Moore GB, Jenkins O (2001a) Expression pattern of human P2Y receptor subtypes: a quantitative reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction study. Biochim Biophys Acta 1521(1–3):107–119.

Moore DJ, Chambers JK, Wahlin JP, Tan KB, Moore GB, Jenkins O (2001b) Expression pattern of human P2Y receptor subtypes: a quantative reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction study. Biochim Biophys Acta 1521:107–119.

Moore DJ, Murdock PR, Watson JM, Faull RL, Waldvogel HJ, Szekeres PG (2003a) GPR105, a novel Gi/o-coupled UDP-glucose receptor expressed on brain glia and peripheral immune cells, is regulated by immunologic challenge: possible role in neuroimmune function. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 118(1–2):10–23.

Moore DJ, Murdock PR, Watson JM, Faull RLM, Waldvogel HJ, Skezeres PG (2003b) GPR105, a novel Gi/o-coupled UDP-glucose receptor expressed on brain microglia and peripheral immune cells, is regulated by immunological challenge: possible role in neuroimmune function. Mol Brain Res 118:10–23.

Mozzicato S, Joshi BV, Jacobson KA, Liang BT (2004) Role of direct RhoAphospholipase D1 interaction in mediating adenosine-induced protection from cardiac ischemia. FASEB J 18(2):406-408.

Mudumbi RV, Montamat SC, Bruns RF, Vestal RE (1993) Cardiac functional responses to adenosine by PD 81,723, an allosteric enhancer of the adenosine A₁ receptor. Am J Physiol 264:1017-1022.

Muhl H, Hofler S, Pfeilschifter J (2003) Inhibition of lipopolysaccharide/ATPinduced release of interleukin-18 by KN-62 and glyburide. Eur J Pharmacol 482(1–3)325–328.

Mulryan K, Gitterman DP, Lewis CJ, Vial C, Leckie BJ, Cobb AL, Brown JE, Conley EC, Buell G, Pritchard CA, Evans RJ (2000) Reduced vas deferens

contraction and male infertility in mice lacking P2X1 receptors. Nature 403(6765):86-89.

Murphree LJ, Sullivan GW, Marshall MA, Linden J (2005) Lipopolysaccharide rapidly modifies adenosine receptor transcripts in murine and human macrophages: role of NF-kappaB in A(2A) adenosine receptor induction. Biochem J 391(Pt 3):575–580.

Mutini C, Falzoni S, Ferrari D, Chiozzi P, Morelli A, Baricordi OR (1999) Mouse dendritic cells express the P2X7 purinergic receptor: characterization and possible participation in antigen presentation. J Immunol 163(4):1958–1965.

Nathan C (2002) Points of control in inflammation. Nature 420(6917):846–852.

Newbolt A, Stoop R, Virginio C, Surprenant A, North RA, Buell G, Rassendren F (1998) Membrane topology of an ATP-gate ion channel (P2X receptors). J Biol Chem. 273(24):15177-15182.

Nicke A, Baumert HG, Rettinger J, Eichele A, Lambrecht G, Mutschler E, Shmalzing G (1998) P2X1 and P2X3 receptors form stable trimers: a novel structural motif of ligand-gated ion channels. EMBO J 17(11): 3016-3028.

North, RA (2002) Molecular physiology of P2X receptors. Physiol Rev 82:1013–1067.

North A, Surprenant AM (2000) Pharmacology of cloned P2X receptors. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 40:563-580.

Odaschima M, Bamias G, Rivera-Nieves J, Linden J, Nast CC, Moskaluk CA, Marini M, Sugawara K, Kozaiwa K, Otaka M, Watanabe S, Cominelli F (2005) Activation of A_{2A} adenosine receptor attenuates intestinal inflammation in animal models of inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterology 129:26-33.

Oppenheim JJ, Yang D (2005) Alarmins: chemotactic activators of immune responses. Curr Opin Immunol 17:359–365.

Oshimi Y, Miyazaki S, Oda S (1999) ATP-induced Ca2+ response mediated by P2U and P2Y purinoceptors in human macrophages: signalling from dying cells to macrophages. Immunology 98(2):220–227.

Pankratov Y, Lalo U, Verkhratsky A, North RA (2006) Vesicular release of ATP at central synapses. Pflugers Arch 452:589–597

Pankratov Y, Lalo U, Verkhratsky A, North RA (2007) Quantal release of ATP in mouse cortex. J Gen Physiol 129:257–265

Panther E, Idzko M, Herouy Y (2001) Expression and function of adenosine receptors in human dendritic cells. FASEB J 15:1963-1970.

Panther E, Corinti S, Idzko M, Herouy Y, Napp M, la Sala A, Girolomi G, Norgauer J (2003) Adenosine affects expression of membrane molecules,

cytokine and chemokine release, and the T-cell stimulatory capacity of human dendritic cells. Blood 101:3985-3990.

Peterfreund RA, MacCollin M, Gusella J, Fink JS (1996) Characterization and expression of the human A_{2A} adenosine receptor gene. J Neurochem 66:362-368.

Pizzo P, Zanovello P, Bronte V, Di Virgilio F (1991) Extracellular ATP causes lysis of mause thymocytes and activates a plasma membrane ion channel. Biochem J 274: 139-144.

Poole DP, Castelucci P, Robbins HL, Chiocchetti R, Furness JB (2002) The distribution of P2X3 purine receptor subunits in the guinea pig enteric nervous system. Auton Neurosci 101(1-2):39-47.

Priebe T, Platsoucas CD, Seki H, Fox FE, Nelson JA (1990) Purine nucleoside modulation of functions of human lymphocytes. Cell Immunol 129:321-328.

Ralevic V, Burnstock G (1998). Receptors for purines and pyrimidines. Pharmaco Rev 50(3):415-475.

Raskovalova T, Lokshin A, Huang X, Jacson EK, Gorelik E (2006) Adenosine mediated inhibition of cytotoxic activity and cytokine production by IL-2/NKp46-activated NK cells: involvement of protein kinase A isozyme I (PKA I). Immunol Res 36:91-99.

Riches DW, Watkins JL, Henson PM, Stanworth DR (1985) Regulation of macrophage lysosomal secretion by adenosine, adenosine phosphate esters, and related structural analogues of adenosine. J Leukoc Biol 37(5);545–557.

Roberts JA, Vial C, Digby HR, Agboh KC, Wen H, Atterbury-Thomas A, Evans RJ (2006) Molecular properties of P2X receptors. Pflgers Arch 452:486–500.

Rock KL, Hearn A, Chen CJ, Shi Y (2004) Natural endogenous adjuvants. Springer Semin Immunopathol 26:231–246.

Rounds S, Likar LL, Harrington EO, Kim KC, Smeglin A, Heins K (1999) Nucleotide-induced PMN adhesion to cultured epithelial cells: possible role of MUC1 mucin. Am J Physiol 277:874–880.

Ryzhov S, Goldstein AE, Biaggioni I, Feoktistov I (2006) Cross-talk between G(s)- and G(q)- couplet pathways in regulation of interleukin-4 by A_{2B} adenosine receptors in human mast cells. Mol Pharmacol 70:727-735.

Sajjadi FG, Takabayashi K, Foster AC, Domingo RC, Firestein GS (1996) Inhibition of TNF-alpha expression by adenosine: a role of A_3 adenosine receptors. J Immunol 156:3435-3442.

Salmon JE, Cronstein BN (1990) Fc gamma receptor-mediated functions in neutrophils are modulated by adenosine receptor occupancy. A1 receptors are stimulatory and A2 receptors are inhibitory. J Immunol 145:2235-2240.

Salmon JE, Brogle N, Brownlie C, Edberg JC, Kimberly RP, Chen BX, Erlanger BF (1993) Human mononuclear phagocytes express adenosine A_1 receptors. A novel mechanism for differential regulation of Fc gamma receptor function. J Immunol 151:2775-2785.

Sawada K, Echigo N, Juge N, Miyaji T, Omote H, Yamamoto A, Moriyama Y (2008) Identification of a vesicular nucleotide transporter. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:5683–5686.

Scemes E, Suadicani SO, Dahl G, Spray DC (2007) Connexin and pannexin mediated cell-cell communication. Neuron Glia Biol 3:199–208.

Schnurr M, Then F, Galambos P, Scholz C, Siegmund B, Endres S (2000) Extracellular ATP and TNF-alpha synergize in the activation and maturation of human dendritic cells. J Immunol 165(8):4704–4709.

Schnurr M, Toy T, Stoitzner P, Cameron P, Shin A, Beecroft T (2003) ATP gradients inhibit the migratory capacity of specific human dendritic cell types: implications for P2Y11 receptor signaling. Blood.

Schnurr M, Toy T, Shin A, Hartmann G, Rothenfusser S, Soellner J, Davis ID, Cebon J, Maraskovsky E (2004) Role of adenosine receptors in regulating chemotaxis and cytokine production of plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Blood 103:1391-1397.

Schulte G, Fredholm BB (2003) Signalling from adenosine receptors to mitogenactivated protein kinases. Cell Signal 15(9):813-27.

Seong SY, Matzinger P (2004) Hydrophobicity: an ancient damageassiciated molecular pattern that initiates innate immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol 4, 469–478.

Sherwood ER, Toliver-Kinsky T (2004) Mechanisms of the inflammatory response. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol 18(3):385–405.

Skelton L, Cooper M, Murphy M, Platt A (2003) Human immature monocytederived dendritic cells express the G protein-coupled receptor GPR105 (KIAA0001, P2Y14) and increase intracellular calcium in response to its agonist, uridine diphosphoglucose. J Immunol 171(4):1941–1949.

Skoberne M, Beignon AS, Bhardwaj N (2004) Danger signals: a time and space continuum. Trends Mol Med 10(6):251–257.

Sluyter R, Wiley JS (2002) Extracellular adenosine 5'-triphosphate induces a loss of CD23 from human dendritic cells via activation of P2X(7) receptors. Int Immunol 14(12):1415–1421.

Sluyter R, Shemon AN, Wiley JS (2004) Glu496 to Ala polymorphism in the P2X7 receptor impairs ATP-induced IL-1beta release from human monocytes. J Immunol 172(6):3399–33405.

Smith RA, Alvarez AJ, Estes DM (2001) The P2X7 purinergic receptor on bovine macrophages mediates mycobacterial death. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 78(3–4):249–262.

Somers GR, Hammet FM, Trute L, Southey MC, Venter DJ (1998) Expression of the P2Y6 purinergic receptor in human T cells infiltrating inflammatory bowel disease. Lab Invest 78(11):1375–1383.

Spicuzza L, Di Maria G, Polosa R (2006)Adenosine in the airways: implications and applications. Eur J Pharmacol 8:77-88.

Stojilkovic S, Tomic M, He ML, Yan Z, Koshimizu TA, Zemkova H (2005) Molecular dissection of purinergic P2X receptor channels. Ann NY Acad Sci 1048:116–130.

Suh BC, Kim JS, Namgung U, Ha H, Kim KT (2001) P2X7 nucleotide receptor mediation of membrane pore formation and superoxide generation in human promyelocytes and neutrophils. J Immunol 166(11):6754–6763.

Sullivan GW, Linden J, Buster BL, Scheld WM (1999) Neutrophils A_{2A} adenosine receptor inhibits inflammation in a rat model of meningitis: synergy with the type IV phosphodiesterase inhibitor, rolipram. J Infect Dis 180:1550-1560.

Sullivan GW, Lee DD, Ross WG, DiVietro JA, Lappas CM, Lawrence MB, Linden J (2004) Activation of A_{2A} adenosine receptor inhibits expression of alpha 4/beta 1 integrin (very late antigen-4) on stimulated human neutrophils. J Leukoc Biol 75:127-134.

Sun B, Li J, Okahara K, Kambayashi J (1998) P2X1 purinoceptor in human platelets: molecular cloning and functional characterization after heterologous expression. J Biol Chem 273(19):11544-11547.

Sun CX, Young HW, Molina JG, Volmer JB, Schnermann J, Blackburn MR (2005) A protective role for the A1 adenosine receptor in adenosine-dependent pulmonary injury. J Clin Invest 115(1):35–43.

Sung SJ, Silverstein SC (1985) Inhibition of macrophage phagocytosis by methylation inhibitors. Lack of correlation of protein carboxymethylation and phospholipid methylation with phagocytosis. J Biol Chem 260(1):546–554.

Surprenant A, North RA (2008) Signaling at Purinergic P2X Receptors. Annu Rev Physiol 71:333-359.

Swennen EL, Bast A, Dagnelie PC (2005) Immunoregulatroy effects of adenosine 5'-triphosphate on cytokine release from stimulated whole blood. Eur J Immunol 35(3):852–858.

Swennen EL, Dagnelie PC, Bast A (2006) ATP inhibits hydroxyl radical formation and the inflammatory response of stimulated whole blood even under circumstances of severe oxidative stress. Free Radic Res 40(1):53–58.

Takahaschi HK, Iwagaki H, Hamano R, Kanke T, Liu K, Sadamori H, Yagi T, Yoshino T, Sendo T, Tanaka N, Nishibori M (2007b) Effect of adenosine receptor subtypes stimulation on mixed lymphocyte reaction. Eur J Pharmacol 564:204-210.

Tanaka N, Kawasaki K, Nejime N, Kubota Y, Nakamura K, Kunimoto M (2004) P2Y receptor-mediated Ca2+ signaling increases human vascular endothelial cell permeability. J Pharmacol Sci 95:174–180.

Thiel M, Chouker A, Ohta A, Jackson E, Caldwell C, Smith P (2005) Oxygenation inhibits the physiological tissue-protecting mechanism and thereby exacerbates acute inflammatory lung injury. PLoS Biol 3(6):169-174.

Thiele A, Kronstein R, Wetzel A, Gerth A, Nieber K, Hauschildt S (2004) Regulation of adenosine receptor subtypes during cultivation of human monocytes: role of receptors in preventing lipopolysaccharide-triggered respiratory burst. Infect Immun 72:1349-1357.

Thomas S, Virginio C, North RA, Surprenant A (1998) The antagonist trinitrophenyl-ATP reveals co-existence of distinct P2X receptor channels in rat nodose neurones. J Physiol 509(2):411-417.

Tilley SL, Boucher RC (2005) A1 antagonism in asthma: better than coffe? J Clin Invest 115(1):13–16.

Torres GE, Egan TM, Voigot MM (1998) N-Linked glycosylation is essential for the functional expression of the recombinant P2X2 receptor. Biochemistry 37(42): 4845-4851.

Townsend-Nicholson A, Baker E, Schofield PR, Sutherland GR (1995) Localization of adenosine A_1 receptor subtype gene (ADORA1) to chromosome 1q32.1. Genomics 26:423-425.

Townsend-Nicholson A, King B F, Wildman SS, Burnstock G (1999) Molecular cloning, functional characterization and possible cooperativity between the murine P2X4 and P2X4a receptors. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 64:246–254.

Tsutsui S, Schnermann J, Noorbakhsh F, Henry S, Yong VW, Winston BW (2004) A1 adenosine receptor upregulation and activation attenuates neuroinflammation and demyelination in a model of multiple sclerosis. J Neurosci 24(6):1521–1529.

Tuluc F, Bredetean O, Brailoiu E, Meshki J, Garcia A, Dun NJ (2005) The priming effect of extracellular UTP on human neutrophils: role of calcium released from thapsigargin-sensitive intracellular stores. Purinergic Signalling 1:359–368.

Tuker AL, Linden J (1993) Cloned receptors and cardiovascular responses to adenosine. Cardiovasc Res 27:62-67.

Van der Weyden L, Conigrave AD, Morris ME (2000) Signal transduction and white cell maturation via extracellular ATP and the P2Y11 receptor. Immunol Cell Biol 78(4): 369- 374.

Varani K, Laghi-Pasini F, Camurri A, Capecchi PL, Maccherini M, Diciolla F (2003) Changes of peripheral A_{2A} adenosine receptors in chronic heart failure and cardiac transplantation. FASEB J 17(2): 280–282.

Varani K, Gessi S, Merighi S, Vincenzi F, Cattabriga E, Benini A, Klotz KN, Baraldi PG, Tabrizi MA, Lennan SM, Leung E, Borea PA (2005) Pharmacological characterization of novel adenosine ligands in recombinant and native human A_{2B} receptors. Biochem Pharmacol 70(11):1601-12.

Ventura MA, Thomopoulos P (1991) Effect of ATP and ADP on U-937 promonocyte cell adhesiveness and intracelular Ca2+ levels. Nucleosides Nucleotides 10(5):1195–1197.

Ventura MA, Thomopoulos P (1995) ADP and ATP activate distinct signaling pathways in human promonocytic U-937 cells differentiated with 1,25-dihydroxy-vitamin D3. Mol Pharmacol 47(1):104–114.

Verghese MW, Kneisler TB, Boucheron JA (1996) P2U agonists induce chemotaxis and actin polymerization in human neutrophils and differentiated HL60 cells. J Biol Chem 271(26):15597–15601.

Vial C, Evans RJ (2000) P2X receptor expression in mouse urinary bladder and the requirement of P2X1 receptors for functional P2X receptor responses in the mouse urinary bladder smooth muscle. Br J Pharmacol 131(7):1489-1495.

Virginio C, Mackenzie A, North RA, Surprenant A (1999) Kinetics of cell lysis, dye uptake and permeability changes in cells expressing the rat P2X7 receptor. J Physiol 519(2): 335-346.

von Albertini M, Palmetshofer A, Kaczmarek E, Koziak K, Stroka D, Grey ST (1998) Extracellular ATP and ADP activate transcription factor NF-kappa B and induce endothelial cell apoptosis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 248(3):822–829.

Von Kugelgen I (2006) Pharmacological profiles of cloned mammalian P2Y-receptor subtypes. Pharmacol Ther 110(3): 415-432.

Wakai A, Wang JH, Winter DC, Street JT, O'Sullivan RG, Redmond HP (2001) Adenosine inhibits neutrophil vascular endothelial growth factor release and transendothelial migration via A2B receptor activation. Shock 15:297-301.

Wang L, Jacobsen SE, Bengtsson A, Erlinge D (2004) P2 receptor mRNA expression profiles in human lymphocytes, monocytes and CD34+ stem and progenitor cells. BMC Immunol 5(1):10-16.

Warny M, Aboudola S, Robson SC, Sevigny J, Communi D, Soltoff SP (2001) P2Y(6) nucleotide receptor mediates monocyte interleukin-8 production in response to UDP or lipopolysaccharide. J Biol Chem 276(28):26051–26056.

Wiley JS, Chen JR, Snook MS, Gargett CE, Jamieson GP (1996) Transduction mechanisms of P2Z purinoceptors. Ciba Found Symp 198: 149-160.

Wilkin F, Duhant X, Bruyns C, Suarez-Huerta N, Boeynaems JM, Robaye B (2001) The P2Y11 receptor mediates the ATP-induced maturation of human monocyte-derived dendritic cells. J Immunol 166(12):7172–7177.

Wilkin F, Stordeur P, Goldman M, Boeynaems JM, Robaye B (2002) Extracellular adenine nucleotides modulate cytokine production by human monocyte-derived dendritic cells: dual effect on IL-12 and stimulation of IL-10. Eur J Immunol 32(9):2409–2417.

Wirkner K, Sperlagh B, Illes P (2007) P2X3 receptor involvement in pain states. Mol Neurobiol 36(2):165-183.

Wynn G, Ma B, Ruan HZ, Burnstock G (2004) Purinergic component of mechanosensory transduction is increased in a rat model of colitis. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol 287(3): G647-G657.

Xing M, Thevenod F, Mattera R (1992) Dual regulation of arachidonic acid release by P2U purinergic receptors in dibutyryl cyclic AMPdifferentiated HL60 cells. J Biol Chem 267(10):6602–6610.

Yang Z, Day YJ, Toufektsian MC, Xu Y, Ramos SI, Marshall MA, French BA, Linden J (2006b) Myocardial infarct-sparing effect of adenosine A2A receptor activation is due to its action on CD4+ T lymphocytes. Circulation 114:2056-2064.

Yegutkin GG, Henttinen T, Samburski SS, Spychala J, Jalkanen S (2002) The evidence for two opposite, ATP-generating and ATPconsuming, extracellular pathways on endothelial and lymphoid cells. Biochem J 367(Pt 1):121–128.

Zhang FL, Luo L, Gustafson E, Palmer K, Qiao X, Fan X (2002) P2Y(13): identification and characterization of a novel Galphai-coupled ADP receptor from human and mouse. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 301(2);705–713.

Zhang H, Conrad DM, Butler JJ, Zhao C, Blay J, Hoskin DW (2004). Adenosine acts through A2 receptors to inhibit IL-2-induced tyrosine phosphorylation of STAT5 in T lymphocytes: role of cyclic adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate and phosphatases. J Immunol 173(2):932–944.

Zhang JG, Hepburn L, Cruz G, Borman RA, Clark KL (2005) The role of adenosine A2A and A2B receptors in the regulation of TNF-alpha production by human monocytes. Biochem Pharmacol 69:883-889.

Zhang Z, Chen G, Zhou W, Song A, Xu T, Luo Q, Gu XS, Duan S (2007) Regulated ATP release from astrocytes through lysosome exocytosis. Nat Cell Biol 9:945–953.

Zezula J, Freissmuth M (2008) The A_{2A} -adenosine receptor: a GPCR with unique features? Br J Pharmacol 153:S184-S190.

Zhou QY, Li C, Olah ME, Johnson RA, Stiles GL, Civelli O (1992) Molecular clonino and characterization of an adenosina receptor: the A_3 adenosine receptor. Proc Nat Acad Sci 89:7432-7436.

Zimmermann H (2000) Extracellular metabolism of ATP and others nucleotides. Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch Pharmacol 362:299-309.

AIM OF THE THESIS

The nucleotide ATP is normally present in every living cell of the human body and is well-known for its role in intracellular energy metabolism. In addition to this intracellular role, ATP in the extracellular compartment is thought to contribute to the regulation of a variety of other biological processes, including cardiac function, neurotransmission, muscle contraction, vasodilatation, bone metabolism, liver glycogen metabolism and inflammation. The human immune system comprises an interactive network of lymphoid organs and immune cells, and is essential to host defense. Interaction between the various components of the immune system during activation is realized by multiple signaling molecules. These molecules, which can be released in response to tissue injury or exogenous pathogens, signal danger to the host and are necessary for initiating primary immune responses as well as for controlling the course and resolution of the concomitant inflammatory processes. Extracellular nucleotides such as ATP may function as endogenous signaling molecules that control inflammation and immune responses. Modulation of inflammatory processes by extracellular ATP is complex and results from specific effects on a wide variety of both immune and non-immune cells. The role of ATP in immunity is closely related to one of its breakdown products, the nucleoside adenosine. Adenosine has an already established role in immunity, in which it may contribute to the engineering of inflammation and immune reponses by providing a suppressive tissue-protecting signal in a delayed, negative feedback manner. Animal models of asthma, ischaemia, arthritis, sepsis, inflammatory bowel disease and wound healing have helped to elucidate the regulatory roles of the various adenosine receptors in dictating the development and progression of disease. The notion of an interrelation between ATP and adenosine is firmly based on the presence of a large family of purinergic receptors. Several enzymes, which are also expressed by various immune and non-immune cells, are involved in a purinergic cascade by which extracellular purine levels and the ensuing purinergic signaling can be dynamically controlled during inflammatory. This recent heightened awareness of the role of ATP and adenosine in the control of immune and inflammatory systems has generated excitement regarding the potential use of purinergic-based therapies in the treatment of inflammatory diseases.

On this background, the aim of this study is to investigate the role of A_1 , A_{2A} , A_{2B} and A₃ ARs, P2X₁ and P2X₃ in chondrocytes and fibroblast-like synoviocytes that are the cells mainly involved in inflammatory processes of joint diseases such as osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis. The study in chapter 1 describes the presence and binding parameters of A1, A2A, A2B and A3 ARs in bovine chondrocytes and fibroblast-like synoviocytes. To this aim saturation, competition binding experiments and western blotting assays to adenosine receptors in bovine chondrocytes and fibroblast-like synoviocytes were performed. In the adenylyl cyclase and proliferation assays the potency of typical high-affinity agonists was evaluated to characterized the functional responses of ARs. In the chapter 2 the role of adenosine analogs stimulation on prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) release and cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) expression in bovine fibroblast-like synoviocytes was investigated. Saturation and competition binding experiments were performed by using adenosine agonists such as CHA, CGS 21680, NECA and Cl-IB-MECA. Bovine fibroblast-like synoviocytes were treated with TNF-α and lipopolysaccharide (LPS) to activate inflammatory response. Adenosine analogs were added to control and TNF-a- or LPS- treated cultures both in the absence and presence of adenosine deaminase (ADA) which is used to depleted endogenous adenosine. The modulation of PGE2 release was measured by immunoassay and COX-2 expression was evaluated by RT-PCR. Chapter 3 reports the pharmacological and functional characterization of ARs in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes derived from patients with OA. To this aim mRNA, western blotting, saturation binding experiments and cAMP assays were performed. To better investigate the functional role of adenosine in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes, the activation of MAPK and NF- κ B and the release of TNF- α and IL-8 were analized. In chapter 4 thermodynamic parameters such as standard free energy, enthalpy and entropy (ΔG° , ΔH° and ΔS° respectively) of the binding equilibrium of well-known purinergic agonists and antagonists to human P2X₁ and P2X₃ receptors, expressed in HEK-293 cells, were determined. To this aim saturation binding experiments were performed by using $[{}^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ methyleneATP as radioligand, and the van't Hoff analysis were conducted with the aim to investigate the driving forces associated with the drug-receptor interaction. The thermodynamic characterization of human purinergic P2X₁ and P2X₃ expressed in HEK-293 cells, represents an important point to better investigate purinergic receptors in native tissues. As a consequence, in chapter 5 a biochemical and functional characterization of P2X₁ and P2X₃ receptors were performed in bovine chondrocytes. In particular saturation, competition binding experiments, blotting, thermodynamic analysis and western immunohistochemistry assays in bovine chondrocytes were performed to better analized purinergic receptors. The pharmacological characterization of purine receptors was completed by functional assays to evaluated the effect of purinergic agonists and antagonists on NO and PGE₂ release. The study in chapter 6 describes, in fibroblast-like synoviocytes obtained from OA patients and in SW 982 cells derived from human synovial sarcoma, a pharmacological characterization of P2X₁ and P2X₃ receptors. To this aim mRNA, western blotting, saturation and competition binding experiments were performed to characterize the purinergic receptors. In addition NF-κB activation, TNF-α, IL-6 and PGE₂ production were also evaluated by means of enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays.

CHAPTER 1:

Characterization of adenosine receptors in bovine chondrocytes and fibroblast-like synoviocytes.

INTRODUCTION

Chronic inflammation is a significant factor in the pathophysiology of many forms of joint disease. Adenosine has been reported to reduce inflammation in several in vivo models suggesting a potential value of this purine nucleoside as a therapeutic mediator of inflammatory joint disease able to limit articular cartilage degeneration (Tesh et al., 2002, 2004). In the peripheral system, adenosine has been shown to limit systemic inflammatory responses through receptor-mediated regulation of a wide variety of cell types (Varani et al., 1997; Gessi et al., 2004). Adenosine interacts with four cell surface receptor subtypes named as A1, A2A, A_{2B} and A₃, which are coupled to different G-proteins (Fredholm, 2001). A₁ and A₃ receptors mediate inhibition of the adenylate cyclase activity, in contrast both A_{2A} and A_{2B} subtypes stimulate cAMP (cyclic AMP) accumulation. A role of adenosine in modulating chondrocytes and fibroblast-like synoviocytes is documented by previous studies. In chondrocytes it has been reported that adenosine and its analogs were capable of altering cAMP and nitric oxide (NO) production (Tesh et al., 2002, 2004). In addition, it seems likely that for normal cartilage function, extracellular adenosine levels must be quite tightly regulated since depletion leads to increased glycosaminoglycan (GAG) release and the production of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) such as MMP-3 and MMP-13, prostaglandin E₂ (PGE₂) and NO, whilst its increase may trigger chondrocyte death (Tesh et al., 2004; Benton et al., 2002; Mistry et al., 2006). In fibroblast-like synoviocytes adenosine receptor stimulation is involved in the regulation of MMPs (Boyle et al., 1996, 1997). Recently, in human synoviocytes it has been reported the selective involvement of the A_{2A} AR subtype in the immunomodulatory actions of methotrexate (Ralph et al., 2005) Further, in vivo adenosine A2A AR agonists inhibit cartilage damage when used in the treatment of septic arthritis by diminishing interleukin-8 expression and GAG loss and reduce rat adjuvant induced arthritis (Boyle et al., 2002; Cohen et al., 2004, 2005). Although A_{2A} and A_{2B} ARs transcripts have been described in articular chondrocytes (Koolpe et al., 1999), however, the binding parameters such as affinity and density of adenosine subtypes have not been investigated in chondrocytes and fibroblast-like synoviocytes. From this background, the aim of this study was to investigate the expression and binding parameters of the A₁, A_{2A},

 A_{2B} and A_3 ARs in bovine chondrocyte and fibroblast-like synoviocyte membranes. The ARs most involved in inflammatory process were the subtypes A_{2A} and A_3 thus we also performed competition experiments, cAMP levels and cell proliferation assays of A_{2A} or A_3 ARs agonists.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Chondrocyte monolayer cultures

Bovine articular cartilage derived from the metacarpophalangeal joints of 14-18month-old animals (Limousine breed). Chondrocytes were isolated from cartilage fragments obtained from the weight-bearing region of the articular surface (Pezzetti et al., 1999). Briefly, the cartilage was dissected out and cut into small pieces. Pieces were subjected to a sequential digestion in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's/Ham's F12 (1:1) medium (DMEM/F12) with pronase from Streptomyces griseus for 90 min and collagenase P from Clostridium histolyticum for about 12 h. The resulting cell suspension was filtered to remove undigested cartilage. Chondrocytes were recovered by centrifugation, counted and plated at high density (150,000/cm²) in 75 cm² flasks and in multiwells (6.6 x 6.6 cm, 1.6 cm the diameter of each well). Chondrocytes were cultured in DMEM/F12 supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and antibiotics (penicillin 100 U/ml, streptomycin 0.1 mg/ml) (complete medium). Only chondrocytes without subculturing and maintained in culture for 1 week were used in the binding and functional experiments.

Fibroblast-like synoviocyte cultures

Fibroblast-like synoviocytes were obtained by culture of the bovine synovial fluid. Synovial fluid was aspirated from the metacarpophalangeal joints of 14-18-month-old animals by a syringe. Then, fresh synovial fluid was diluted 1:4 with complete medium and plated in 25 cm² culture flasks (Falcon, Becton Dikinson and Company, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA). After 3 h, medium was removed and fresh complete medium was added to the flasks. Cells were maintained in culture and passaged when reaching confluence. Synovial cells at the third and fourth passages were used for the analysis of adenosine receptors.
Chondrocytes and fibroblast-like synoviocytes characterization

The expression of aggrecan, type II and type I collagens in the same chondrocyte monolayer cultures used for binding experiments was evaluated by immunohistochemistry as previously described (De Mattei et al., 2004). Incubations with the primary mouse monoclonal antibody to aggrecan (1:50) and the rabbit polyclonal to collagen type II (1:200) (Abcam, Cambridge Science Park, Cambridge, UK) were performed for 1 h at 37°C. Fibroblast-like synoviocytes were characterized by immunofluorescence staining with vimentin, a specific cellular marker for mesenchymal cells (Upragarin et al., 2005). Cells were fixed with cold methanol, washed with phosphate buffer saline (PBS) and incubated with the primary mouse antibody specific for the human vimentin at 1:200 dilution for 1 h at 37°C. Washed slides were then incubated with a secondary fluorescein isothiocyanate-conjugated goat anti-mouse antibody for 1 h at 37°C in the dark. Antibodies were from Sigma-Aldrich S.r.l. (Milan, Italy). Fluorescence was visualized using the Nikon Eclipse TE 2000-E microscope (Nikon Instruments Spa, Sesto Fiorentino, Firenze, Italy) equipped with a digital camera (DXM 1200F, Nikon Instruments Spa, Sesto Fiorentino, Firenze, Italy). To confirm that fibroblast-like synoviocyte cultures were not contaminated by macrophages, CD14 expression was evaluated by reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR). Total RNA extraction was performed using a commercial kit. RNA conversion to cDNA was performed using the commercial kit Superscript First-strand Synthesis System for RT-PCR (Invitrogen Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA). Two microliters of cDNA were amplified by specific oligonucleotide primers for CD 14 (dp50-CTG GAA GCC GGC G-30; rp50-AGC TGA GCA GGA ACC TGT GC-30). Primer sequences were selected to amplify both human and bovine genome and were from separate exons to exclude a possibly genomic DNA contamination of the RNA samples. PCR reactions were performed in a total volume of 25 ml containing 1 U Taq DNA polymerase (Roche Molecular Biochemicals, Indiana, USA), 25 pmol of each primer, 200 mM deoxynucleotide triphosphates (dNTPs) in 1 x PCR buffer (10 mM Tris, pH 8.3, 50 mM KCl, 1.5 mM MgCl₂). Cycling parameters were as follows: 1 min at 94°C, 1 min at 55°C, 1 min at 72°C for CD14. The size of the amplified sequence was 403 bp. mRNA from human macrophages was used as a positive control for CD14 expression. PCR products were analyzed on 1.5% agarose gel, stained with ethidium bromide.

Preparation of bovine chondrocytes and fibroblast-like synoviocytes membranes

For membrane preparation, the culture medium was removed the cells were washed with PBS and scraped off T75 flasks in ice-cold hypotonic buffer (5 mM Tris HCl, 2 mM EDTA pH 7.4). The cell suspension was homogenized by using a Polytron and was centrifuged for 30 min at 100,000g. The membrane pellet was resuspended in the same buffer solution used in the binding experiments, incubated with 2 IU/ml of adenosine deaminase for 30 min at 37°C and centrifuged for 30 min at 100,000g. Finally the suspension was used in saturation and competition binding experiments. The protein concentration was determined according to a Bio-Rad method with bovine albumin as reference standard.

Western blotting of ARs

Chondrocytes and fibroblast-like synoviocytes were harvested and washed with ice-cold PBS containing 1 mM sodium orthovanadate, 104 mM 4-(2-aminoethyl)benzenesulfonyl fluoride, 0.08 mM aprotinin, 2 mM leupeptin, 4 mM bestatin, 1.5 mM pepstatin A, and 1.4 mM E-64. Then cells were lysed in Triton lysis buffer and the protein concentration was determined using bicinchoninic acid (BCA) protein assay kit (Pierce, Illinois, USA). Aliquots of total protein sample (50 mg) were analyzed using antibodies specific for human A₁, A_{2A}, A_{2B} and A₃ ARs (1 mg/ml dilution) (Merighi et al., 2002). Filters were washed and incubated for 1 h at room temperature with peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies (1:2000 dilution). Specific reactions were revealed with Enhanced Chemiluminescence Western blotting detection reagent (Amersham Biosciences, New York, USA).

Saturation and competition binding experiments to ARs

The chondrocyte and synoviocyte membranes were used for the A_1 , A_{2A} , A_{2B} and A_3 binding experiments (Varani et al., 2002, 2003a). Saturation binding experiments to A_1 ARs were performed according to the method described previously using [³H]-1,3-dipropyl-8-cyclopentyl-xanthine ([³H]-DPCPX, specific activity 120 Ci/mmol; NEN-Perkin Elmer Life and Analytical Sciences, USA) as

radioligand (Borea et al., 1994). The membranes derived from chondrocytes or fibroblast-like synoviocytes (100 mg of protein/assay) with 8-10 concentrations of the radioligand [³H]-DPCPX (0.01-20 nM) were incubated in Tris HCl 50 mM, pH 7.4, for 90 min at 4°C. Non specific binding was determined in the presence of DPCPX 1 μ M. Saturation binding experiments to A_{2A} ARs were performed according to the method described previously using [³H]-4-(2-[7-amino-2-(2furyl)[1,2,4] triazolo [2,3-a] [1,3,5] triazin-5-yl-amino]-ethyl ([³H]-ZM 241385, specific activity 27.4 Ci/mmol; American Radiolabeled Chemicals Inc, Saint Louis, MO, USA) as radioligand (Varani et al., 2003b). The membranes derived from chondrocytes or fibroblast-like synoviocytes (100 mg of protein/assay) were incubated for 60 min at 4°C with 8-10 concentrations of the radioligand [³H]-ZM 241385 (0.01-20 nM) and Tris HCl 50 mM, MgCl₂ 10 mM, pH 7.4. Nonspecific binding was determined in the presence of ZM241385 1 μ M. Saturation binding experiments to A_{2B} ARs were performed using [³H]-N-benzo [1,3[dioxol-5-yl-2-[5-(2,6-dioxo-1,3-dipropyl-2,3,6,7-tetrahydro-1H-purin-8-yl)-1-methyl-1H-

pyrazol-3-yloxy]-acetamide ([³H]-MRE 2029F20, specific activity 123 Ci/mmol; Amersham International Chemical Laboratories, Buckinghamshire, UK) as radioligand (Gessi et al., 2005). The membranes obtained as previously described (100 mg of protein/assay) with 8-10 concentrations of [³H]-MRE 2029F20 in the range 0.01-20 nM were incubated in Tris HCl 50 mM, MgCl₂ 10 mM, EDTA 1 mM, pH 7.4 at 4°C for 60 min. Nonspecific binding was determined in the presence of MRE 2029F20 1 µM. Saturation binding experiments to A₃ ARs were performed using [³H]-5N-(4-methoxyphenylcarbamoyl) amino-8-propyl-2-(2furyl) pyrazolo [4,3-e]-1,2,4-triazolo [1,5-c]pyrimidine ([³H]-MRE 3008F20, specific activity 67 Ci/mmol; Amersham International Chemical Laboratories, Buckinghamshire, UK) as radioligand (Varani et al., 2000). The membranes treated as above mentioned (100 mg of protein/assay) with 8-10 concentrations in the range 0.01-50 nM of [³H]-MRE 3008F20 were incubated in Tris HCl 50 mM, MgCl₂ 10 mM, EDTA 1 mM, pH 7.4, at 4°C for 150 min. Nonspecific binding was determined in the presence of MRE 3008F20 1 µM. In competition experiments, carried out to determine the A2A or A3 affinity values, 1 nM of [3H]-ZM241385 or 2 nM of [³H]-MRE3008F20, bovine chondrocyte or fibroblast-like synoviocyte membranes (100 mg of protein per assay) and at least 6-8 different 2-[p-(2-carboxyethyl)-phenetyl-amino]-50-N-ethylconcentrations of

carboxamido adenosine (CGS 21680, Sigma-RBI, St. Louis,MO,USA) or N6-(3iodobenzyl)2-chloroadenosine-50-N-methyluronamide (Cl-IB-MECA, Sigma-RBI, St. Louis, MO, USA) as typical A_{2A} or A_3 adenosine agonists were incubated at 4°C for 60 or 150 min, respectively. In saturation or competition binding experiments, at the end of the incubation time, bound and free radioactivity was separated by filtering the assay mixture through Whatman GF/B glass fiber filters by using a Brandel cell harvester. The filter bound radioactivity was counted by Scintillation Counter Packard Tri Carb 2500 TR with an efficiency of 58%.

Measurement of cAMP levels in bovine chondrocytes or fibroblast-like synoviocytes

Bovine chondrocytes or fibroblast-like synoviocytes (10⁶ cells/ml) were suspended in 0.5 ml incubation mixture Krebs Ringer phosphate buffer, containing 1.0 IU/ml adenosine deaminase and 0.5 mM 4-(3-butoxy-4methoxybenzyl)-2-imidazolidinone (Ro 20-1724) as phosphodiesterase inhibitor and preincubated for 10 min in a shaking bath at 37°C. Then the effect of a typical A_{2A} adenosine agonist was studied by using CGS 21680 at different concentrations (1 nM-1 μ M) that was added to the mixture for a further 5 min. In similar experimental conditions, the effect of N-ethylcarboxamidoadenosine (NECA) on adenosine nonselective agonist was studied. To evaluate the effect of a typical A₃ adenosine agonist, forskolin 1 µM and Cl-IB-MECA at different concentrations (0.1 nM-100 nM) were added to the mixture and the incubation continued for a further 5 min. The effect of a selective A_{2A} or A₃ antagonists such as 7-(2-phenylethyl)-2-furyl)pyrazolo [4,3-e]-1,2,4-triazolo-[1,5-c] pyrimidine (SCH 58261) (1 mM) or MRE 3008F20 (1 mM) on CGS 21680(1 mM) or Cl-IB-MECA (100 nM) was evaluated, respectively. The reaction was terminated by the addition of cold 6% trichloroacetic acid (TCA). The cells were also incubated with forskolin (1 mM) and/or Ro 20-1724 (0.5 mM) to evaluate the adenylyl cyclase activity. The TCA suspension was centrifuged at 2000g for 10 min at 4°C and the supernatant was extracted four times with water saturated diethyl ether. The final aqueous solution was tested for cAMP levels through a competition protein binding assay by using [³H]-cAMP as radioligand (specific activity 21 Ci/mmol, NEN Research Products, Boston, MA, USA) (Varani et al., 2002). Samples of cAMP standards (0-10 pmol) were added to each test tube containing

trizma base 0.1 M, aminophylline 8.0 mM, mercaptoethanol 6.0 mM, pH 7.4 and [³H]-cAMP (at the final concentration of 1 nM). The binding protein, previously prepared from beef adrenals, was added to the samples and incubated at 4°C for 150 min. At the end of the incubation time and after the addition of charcoal the samples were centrifuged at 2000g for 10 min. The clear supernatant was mixed with 4 ml of Atomlight and counted in a Scintillation Counter Packard Tri Carb 2500 TR.

^{[3}H] Thymidine incorporation

Chondrocytes or fibroblast-like synoviocytes were treated with CGS 21680 and Cl-IB-MECA (10 μ M) in complete medium containing adenosine deaminase (ADA) and 1 mCi/ml [³H] thymidine. Cells cultured in the absence of adenosine agonists were used as controls. After 24 h of labeling cells were trypsinized, and [³H] thymidine was evaluated as previously described (Merighi et al., 2002). In all cultures, cell viability was evaluated by the Trypan blue exclusion test (Merighi et al., 2005).

Statistical analysis

A weighted nonlinear least-squares curve fitting program Ligand (Munson and Rodbard, 1980) was used for computer analysis of saturation and competition binding experiments. Functional experiments were calculated by nonlinear regression analysis using the equation for a sigmoid concentration-response curve (GraphPAD Prism, San Diego, CA, USA). Analysis of data was done with Student's t test (unpaired analysis). Differences were considered significant at a value of p<0.01. All data are reported as mean \pm S.E.M. of independent experiments (n=3-6).

RESULTS

Phenotype characterization of bovine chondrocytes and

fibroblast-like synoviocytes

Chondrocytes, cultured in monolayer, show phenotypic instability and can dedifferentiate toward the fibroblast phenotype shifting from the synthesis of type II to type I collagen (De Mattei et al., 2004). When analyzed by

immunohistochemistry, under the same experimental conditions of binding experiments, chondrocytes stained positive for aggrecan and type II collagen, specific markers of the chondrocytic phenotype, and resulted negative for type I collagen, which is expressed in dedifferentiated chondrocytes. Negative controls, obtained without primary antibodies, did not show any staining. Fibroblast-like synoviocytes used in our experiments showed the expression of vimentin, the main intermediate filament protein in mesenchymal cells and synovial fibroblast. Results obtained by RT-PCR showed the absence of CD14, thus indicating the absence of contaminating macrophages in our cultures (data not shown).

Western blotting

Figure 1.1A shows the immunoblot signals of A_1 , A_{2A} and A_{2B} ARs in bovine chondrocytes and fibroblast-like synoviocytes. The intensity of each band in immunoblot assay was quantified using molecular analyst/PC densitometry software (Bio-Rad). Mean densitometry data from three independent experiments were normalized to control that was set to 100% (figure1.1B-C). Unfortunately Western blot of A_3 AR was undetectable probably due to the low degree of homology between bovines and humans.

Saturation binding experiments in bovine chondrocytes and fibroblast-like synoviocytes

A series of experiments were carried out to determine the binding parameters of A_1 , A_{2A} , A_{2B} and A_3 ARs in bovine chondrocytes and fibroblast-like synoviocytes. Table 1.1 reports the affinity (K_D, nM) and density (Bmax, fmol/mg protein) of A_1 , A_{2A} , A_{2B} and A_3 ARs in bovine chondrocyte and in fibroblast-like synoviocyte membranes. The affinity values were in the low nanomolar range for both the substrates. Bmax values confirm the presence of all the ARs. For chondrocytes membrane the Bmax values were 41, 53, 51,and 79 fmol/mg protein for A_1 , A_{2A} , A_{2B} and A_3 ARs respectively. For the fibroblast-like synoviocytes the Bmax values were 30, 76, 84 and 83 fmol/mg protein for A_1 , A_{2A} , A_{2B} and A_3 ARs respectively.

Competition binding experiments in bovine chondrocytes and fibroblast-like synoviocytes

Figure 1.4 and figure 1.5 shows the competition curves of CGS 21680 and Cl-IB-MECA in bovine chondrocyte or in fibroblast-like synoviocyte membranes, respectively. The affinity (Ki) of CGS 21680 or Cl-IBMECA in bovine chondrocyte membranes was 28 ± 3 or 2.6 ± 0.3 nM, respectively (n = 4). In fibroblast-like synoviocyte membranes CGS 21680 or Cl-IBMECA showed a Ki value of 30 ± 3 or 3.3 ± 0.3 nM, respectively (n = 4). The competition curves of both the agonists examined, exhibited Hill coefficients near the unity and were best described by the existence of one high-affinity binding site.

cAMP assay in bovine chondrocytes and fibroblast-like synoviocytes

The A_{2A} ARs are coupled to stimulation of adenylate cyclase via Gs stimulatory proteins, which leads to an increase of cAMP formation. Bovine chondrocyte or fibroblast-like synovial cells did not reveal change of basal enzyme activity and of the response of adenylate cyclase activator forskolin. No change in cAMP production was also observed in the absence or in the presence of the cAMPdependent phosphodiesterase inhibitor, Ro 20-1724 (Table 1.2). We have also evaluated the effect of a typical A_{2A} adenosine agonist such as CGS 21680 on the adenylate cyclase activity. When CGS 21680 was incubated with examined cells an amplification of adenylate cyclase response was detected revealing a significant increase of cAMP production in a concentration-dependent manner. In particular CGS 21680 elicited a stimulation of cAMP levels in bovine chondrocytes with an EC₅₀ of 82 \pm 7 nM (Figure 1.6A). Moreover, CGS 21680 elicited a stimulation of cAMP levels in fibroblastlike synoviocytes with an EC_{50} of 91 \pm 8 nM (Figure 1.7A). The selective A_{2A} antagonist SCH 58261 (1 μ M) totally inhibited the rise in cAMP levels induced by CGS 21680 (1 μ M) suggesting that the stimulatory effect was essentially A_{2A} mediated (Table 1.2). On the contrary, the A3 ARs are coupled to inhibition of adenylyl cyclase via Gi proteins, which leads to decreases of cAMP formation. We have also evaluated the inhibitory effect of a typical A₃ adenosine agonist like Cl-IBMECA on the adenylyl cyclase activity. Cl-IB-MECA determined a decrease of cAMP levels in bovine chondrocytes with an IC₅₀ values of 6.33 \pm 0.64 nM (Figure 1.6B). Moreover Cl-IB-MECA induced a decrease of cAMP levels in fibroblast-like

synoviocytes with an IC₅₀ values of 7.90 \pm 0.71 nM (Figure 1.7B). The selective A₃ antagonist MRE 3008F20 (1 μ M) antagonized Cl-IB-MECA (100 nM) mediated cAMP inhibition suggesting that the inhibitory effect was essentially A₃ mediated (Table 1.2). NECA, a typical adenosine receptor agonist, determines a stimulation of cAMP levels in bovine chondrocytes with an EC₅₀ value of 40 \pm 3 nM. Analogous results were obtained in fibroblast-like synoviocytes with an EC₅₀ value of 37 \pm 3 nM. This stimulatory effect due to the interaction of NECA with A_{2A} and A_{2B} ARs predominates on the inhibitory effect mediated by A₁ and A₃ ARs.

Cell proliferation and viability

Chondrocytes or fibroblast-like synoviocytes treated with CGS 21680 or Cl-IB-MECA (10 μ M) showed no statistically significant modulation of cell proliferation (Figure 1.8). However, in fibroblast- like synoviocytes, Cl-IB-MECA induced a slight reduction of cell proliferation. In all tested conditions cell viability was not changed with respect to control conditions (99% viable cells).

	Chondrocyte membranes		Fibroblast-like synoviocyte membranes	
	K _D (nM)	Bmax (fmol/mg protein)	K _D (nM)	Bmax (fmol/mg protein)
A ₁ AR	2.18±0.22	41±2	0.67±0.01	30±2
A _{2A} AR	1.71±0.32	53±5	2.05±0.17	76±6
A _{2B} AR	2.19±0.24	51±3	1.21±0.13	84±5
A ₃ AR	4.61±0.35	79±5	1.86±0.22	83±4

Table 1.1: Saturation binding experiments on ARs in bovine chondrocyte andin fibroblast-like synoviocyte membranes.

	Chondrocytes (pmol cAMP x 10 ⁶ cells)	Fibroblast-like synoviocytes (pmol cAMP x 10 ⁶ cells)
Basal levels	10±1	11±1
+ Ro 20-1724 (0.5 mM)	25±2	23±2
+ CGS 21680 (1 μ M) A _{2A} stimulation	51±4*	50±4*
+ CGS 21680 (1 μM) + SCH 58261 (1 μM)	27±2	25±2
Forskolin (1 µM)	98±10	96±9
Forskolin (1 µM) Ro 20-1724 (0.5 mM)	120±12	112±11
+ Cl-IBMECA (100 nM) A ₃ inhibition	82±6*	84±6*
+ Cl-IBMECA (100 nM) + MRE 3008F20 (1 μM)	116±11	108±11

Table 1.2: Basal and stimulated cAMP production in bovine chondrocytesand in fibroblast-like synoviocytes.

*, p<0.01 vs basal levels + Ro 20-1724 for CGS 21680 and vs Forskolin + Ro 20-1724 for Cl-IB-MECA Figure 1.1: Western blotting analysis of bovine chondrocytes and fibroblastlike synoviocytes for A_1 , A_{2A} and A_{2B} ARs (A) and densitometric analysis for chondrocytes (B) and fibroblast-like synoviocytes (C).





Figure 1.2: Saturation curves and Scatchard plots of A₁, A_{2A}, A_{2B} and A₃ ARs (A, B, C, D respectively) in chondrocyte membranes.



Figure 1.3: Saturation curves and Scatchard plots of A₁, A_{2A}, A_{2B} and A₃ ARs (A, B, C, D respectively) in fibroblast-like synoviocyte membranes.

Figure 1.4: Competition curves of CGS 21680 (A) and Cl-IB-MECA (B) in bovine chondrocyte membranes.



Figure 1.5: Competition curves of CGS 21680 (A) and Cl-IB-MECA (B) in bovine fibroblast-like synoviocyte membranes.



Figure 1.6: cAMP experiments by using CGS21680 (A) and Cl-IB-MECA (B) in bovine chondrocytes.



Figure 1.7: cAMP experiments by using CGS 21680 (A) and Cl-IB-MECA (B) in bovine fibroblast-like synoviocytes.



Figure 1.8: Proliferation activity measured by [³H] thymidine incorporation assay in bovine chondrocytes (A) or fibroblast-like synoviocytes (B).





DISCUSSION

The purpose of the current investigation was to document the presence and the binding parameters of adenosine receptor subtypes in bovine chondrocytes or in fibroblast-like synoviocytes. Preliminary characterization of cells used in our experiments showed the expression of chondrocyte and synoviocyte phenotypic markers, as well as the absence of contaminating cells in fibroblast-like synoviocyte cultures (De Mattei et al., 2004). Our pharmacological data in these cells report that A₁, A_{2A}, A_{2B} and A₃ ARs are expressed and similarly distributed in both cell types showing high-affinity values in the nanomolar range and a receptor density from 30 to 83 fmol/mg of protein. The results obtained in competition binding experiments show that the affinity of CGS 21680 or Cl-IB-MECA in bovine chondrocytes were 28 \pm 3 and 2.6 \pm 0.3 nM respectively. In fibroblast-like synoviocytes the affinity of CGS 21680 was 30 ± 3 nM and for Cl-IB-MECA was 3.3 \pm 0.3 nM. The effect of A_{2A} and A₃ agonists on adenylyl cyclase activity and cell proliferation was investigated. Our results did not show any change of basal enzyme activity and of the response of adenylyl cyclase to the direct activator forskolin used in the absence or in the presence of cAMPdependent phosphodiesterase inhibitor (Ro 20-1724). Forskolin, which directly activated adenylate cyclase was utilized in this study as a positive control for cAMP production. Ro 20-1724, a type IV phosphodiesterase inhibitor prevented the rapid degradation of cAMP allowing the accurate detection of the cAMP levels produced. Moreover, the capability of typical A_{2A} or A₃ adenosine agonists such as CGS 21680 or Cl-IB-MECA to modulate cAMP levels was evaluated. These compounds showed potency values in the nanomolar range, in agreement with their affinity in binding experiments. To further confirm that the effects induced by the agonists on cAMP formation were due to the modulation of adenosine receptors investigated, we performed experiments in the presence of typical selective A_{2A} or A₃ adenosine antagonists such as SCH 58261 or MRE 3008F20. These antagonists were able to prevent the effect of cAMP induced by CGS21680 or Cl-IB-MECA through a selective modulation of the adenylyl cyclase via the A_{2A} or A₃ ARs, respectively. In addition, the levels of cAMP increased in response to NECA, a nonselective agonist, suggesting that in physiological condition (presence of endogenous adenosine) the activation of A2A ARs may prevail over the A_3 ARs inhibitory action. This is not surprising because a similar behavior has already been reported in other substrates (Gessi et al., 2002, 2004). In line with cAMP data, cell proliferation in the absence of adenosine agonists and in the presence of ADA was not modify even if Cl-IB-MECA inhibited slightly cell proliferation in fibroblast-like synoviocytes. In conclusion, this study shown for the first time the presence and the binding parameters of the A_1 , A_{2A} , A_{2B} and A_3 ARs, in bovine chondrocytes and fibroblast-like synoviocytes. Functional assays performed on A_{2A} and A_3 ARs showed the involvement of these subtypes in bovine chondrocytes and fibroblast-like synoviocytes. These results open interesting perspectives on the modulation of adenosine pathways for the treatment of joint inflammatory diseases.

REFERENCES

Benton HP, MacDonald MH, Tesch AM (2002) Effects of adenosine on bacterial lipopolysaccharide and interleukin induced nitric oxide release from equine articular chondrocytes. Am J Vet Res 63:204-210.

Borea PA, Varani K, Dalpiaz A, Capuzzo A, Fabbri E, Ijzerman AP (1994) Full and partial agonists and thermodynamic binding parameters of adenosine A_1 receptor ligands. Eur J Pharmacol 267:55-61.

Boyle DL, Sajjadi FG, Firestein GS (1996) Inhibition of synoviocyte collagenase gene expression by adenosine receptor stimulation. Arthritis Rheum 39:923-930.

Boyle DL, Zuoning H, Rutter JL, Brinckerhoff E, Firestein GS (1997) Posttranscriptional regulation of collagenase-1 gene expression in synoviocytes by adenosine receptor stimulation. Arthritis Rheum 40:1772-1779.

Boyle DL, Moore J, Yang L, Sorkin LS, Firestein GS (2002) Spinal adenosine receptor activation inhibits inflammation and joint destruction in rat adjuvant induced arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 46:3076-3082.

Cohen SB, Gill SS, Baer GS, Leo BM, Scheld WM, Diduch DR (2004) Reducing joint destruction due to septic arthrosis using an adenosine A_{2A} receptor agonist. J Orthop Res 22:427-435.

Cohen SB, Leo BM, Baer GS, Turner MA, Beck G, Diduch DR (2005) An adenosine A_{2A} receptor agonist reduces interleukin-8 expression and glycosaminoglycan loss following septic arthrosis. J Orthop Res 23:1172-1178.

De Mattei M, Pellati A, Pasello M, Ongaro A, Setti S, Massari L (2004) Effects of physical stimulation with electromagnetic field and insulin growth factor-I treatment on proteoglycan synthesis of bovine articular cartilage. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 12:793-800.

Fredholm BB, Ijzerman AP, Jacobson KA, Klotz KN, Linden J (2001) International Union of Pharmacology. XXV. Nomenclature and classification of adenosine receptors. Pharmacol Rev 53:527-552.

Gessi S, Varani K, Merighi S, Cattabriga E, Iannotta V, Leung E, Baraldi PG, Borea PA (2002) A_3 adenosine receptors in human neutrophils and promyelocytic HL60 cells: a pharmacological and biochemical study. Mol Pharmacol 61:415-424.

Gessi S, Varani K, Merighi S, Cattabriga E, Avitabile A, Gavioli R, Fortini C, Leung E, Mac Lennan S, Borea PA (2004) Expression of A_3 adenosine receptors in human lymphocytes: upregulation in T cell activation. Mol Pharmacol 65:711-719.

Gessi S, Varani K, Merighi S, Cattabriga E, Pancaldi C, Szabadkai Y, Rizzuto R, Klotz KN, Leung E, Mac Lennan S, baraldi PG, Borea PA (2005) Expression, pharmacological profile and functional coupling of A_{2B} receptors in a recombinant

system and in peripheral blood cells by using a novel selective antagonist radioligand, [3H]-MRE 2029-F20. Mol Pharmacol 67:1-11.

Koolpe M, Pearson D, Benton HP (1999) Expression of both P1 and P2 purine receptor genes by human articular chondrocytes and profile of ligand mediated prostaglandin E2 release. Arthritis Rheum 42:258-267.

Merighi S, Mirandola P, Milani D, Varani K, Gessi S, Klotz KN, Leung E, Baraldi PG, Borea PA (2002) Adenosine receptors as mediators of both cell proliferation and cell death of cultured human melanoma cells. J Invest Dermatol 119:923-933.

Merighi S, Benini A, Mirandola P, Gessi S, Varani K, Leung E, Mac Lennan S, Borea PA (2005) A_3 adenosine receptor activation inhibits cell proliferation via phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt-dependent inhibition of the extracellular signalregulated kinase phosphorylation in A375 human melanoma cells. J Biol Chem 20:19516-1926.

Pezzetti F, De Mattei M, Caruso A, Cadossi R, Zucchini P, Carinci F (1999) Effects of pulsed electromagnetic fields on human chondrocytes: an in vitro study. Calcif Tissue Int 1999;65:396-401.

Munson PJ, Rodbard D (1980) Ligand: a versatile computerized approach for the characterization of ligand binding systems. Anal Biochem 107:220-239.

Pezzetti F, De Mattei M, Caruso A, Cadossi R, Zucchini P, Carinci F (1999) Effects of pulsed electromagnetic fields on human chondrocytes: an in vitro study. Calcif Tissue Int 1999;65:396-401.

Ralph JA, McEvoy AN, Kane D, Bresnihan B, FitzGerald O, Murphy EP (2005) Modulation of orphan nuclear receptor NURR1 expression by methotrexate in human inflammatory joint disease involves adenosine A_{2A} receptor-mediated responses. J Immunol 175:555-565.

Tesch AM, MacDonald MH, Kollas-Baker C, Benton HP (2002) Chondrocytes respond to adenosine via A2 receptors and activity is potentiated by an adenosine deaminase inhibitor and a phosphodiesterase inhibitor. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 10:34-43.

Tesch AM, MacDonald MH, Kollas-Baker C, Benton HP (2004) Endogenously produced adenosine regulates articular cartilage matrix homeostasis: enzymatic depletion of adenosine stimulates matrix degradation. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 12:349-359.

Upragarin NA, van Asten PC, Topten W, Landman JM, Gruys E (2005) Serum amyloid a production by chicken fibroblast-like synoviocytes. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 106:39-51.

Varani K, Gessi S, Dalpiaz A, Ongini E, Borea PA (1997) Characterization of A_{2A} adenosine receptors in human lymphocyte membranes by [³H]SCH 58261 binding. Br J Pharmacol 122:386-392.

Varani K, Merighi S, Gessi S, Klotz KN, Leung E, Baraldi PG, Cacciari B, Romagnoli R, Spalluto G, Borea PA (2000) [³H]-MRE 3008-F20: a novel antagonist radioligand for the pharmacological and biochemical characterization of human A_3 adenosine receptors. Mol Pharmacol 57:968-975.

Varani K, Gessi S, Merighi S, Iannotta V, Cattabriga E, Spisani S, Cadossi R, Borea PA (2002) Effect of low frequency electromagnetic fields on A_{2A} adenosine receptors in human neutrophils. Br J Pharmacol 136:57-66.

Varani K, Gessi S, Merighi S, Iannotta V, Cattabriga E, Pancaldi C, Cadossi R, Borea PA (2003a) Alteration of A_3 adenosine receptors in human neutrophils and low frequency electromagnetic fields. Biochem Pharmacol 66:1897-1906.

Varani K, Laghi-Pasini F, Camurri A, Capecchi PA, Maccherini M, Di Ciolla F, Ceccatelli L, Lazzerini PE, Ulouglu C, Cattabeni F, Borea PA, Abbracchio MP (2003b) Changes of peripheral A_{2A} adenosine receptors in chronic heart failure and cardiac transplantation. FASEB J 17:280-282.

CHAPTER 2:

Adenosine analogs inhibit prostaglandin E₂ (PGE₂) release in bovine fibroblast-like synoviocytes.

INTRODUCTION

OA and RA are the most common degenerative diseases of the joints, characterized by the progressive and permanent degradation of the articular cartilage, synovial hyperthrophy and change in underlying bone. Although the pathophysiologic events of OA and RA are quite different, inflammation and altered fibroblasts-like synoviocytes activities are observed in affected joints (Pelletier and Martel-Pelletier, 2007; Goldring, 2007; Muller-Landner et al., 2005; Moulton, 1996; Christodoulou and Choy, 2006; Abeles and Pillinger, 2006). In RA, fibroblasts-like synoviocytes play a central role to the pathogenesis of joint destruction by an increased proliferation and the secretion of a wide range of proinflammatory mediators, including cytokines, growth factors, and lipid mediators of inflammation (Muller-Landner et al., 2005; Abeles and Pillinger, 2006). Pro-inflammatory mediators produced by fibroblasts-like synoviocytes are detrimental to articular cartilage also in OA, although fibroblasts-like synoviocytes play a less central role than in RA (Pelletier and Martel-Pelletier, 2007; Goldring, 2007). Inflammatory mediators released by SFs can impact several cell types including lymphocytes, neutrophils, endothelial cells, osteoclasts and chondrocytes and a range of processes including maintenance of inflammation, angiogenesis, chemoattraction. Furthermore, fibroblasts-like synoviocytes are involved in cartilage destruction via the synthesis and secretion of matrix degrading enzymes such as matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and aggrecanases (Asano et al., 2006; Westra et al., 2004; Davidson et al., 2006). Prostaglandins, in particular PGE₂, are important lipid inflammatory mediators produced by fibroblasts-like synoviocytes and their levels are increased in the synovial fluid and synovial membrane of patients with inflammatory joint diseases (Park et al., 2006; Burger et al., 2003; Fahmi et al., 2001; Goetzl et al., 1995). PGE₂ is synthesized from arachidonic acid via the actions of cyclooxygenase (COX) enzymes, either constitutively or in response to cell specific trauma, stimuli, or signalling molecules such as IL-1 β or TNF- α and it accounts for many of the proinflammatory actions induced by these peptides (Berenbaum, 2000; Funk, 2001; Crofford, 1999). PGE₂ contributes to vasodilatation, vascular permeability, pain, cytokine and proteinase production in inflamed tissues (Hill et al., 2001; Cha et al., 2004; Agro et al., 1996).

Accordingly, the use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and/or selective COX-2 inhibitors which control inflammation and inhibit PGE₂ production represent the standard recommended treatment of OA and RA (Schnitzer, 2001; Hochberg et al., 1995). Adenosine, interacting with four types of cell surface receptor (AR) proteins, termed A₁, A_{2A}, A_{2B} and A₃ acts as a potent endogenous inhibitor of inflammatory processes in several tissues (Fredholm et al., 2001; Varani et al., 2003a; Gessi et al., 2002, 2004). In fibroblasts-like synoviocytes and chondrocytes adenosine has been involved in the production of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and inflammatory mediators (Tesch et al., 2002, 2004). Moreover, in human fibroblasts-like synoviocytes the selective involvement of the A2A AR subtype in the immunomodulatory actions of methotrexate has been reported (Ralph et al., 2005). Further, in vivo adenosine analogs inhibit joint destruction when used in the treatment of adjuvant induced arthritis and septic arthrosis (Boyle et al., 2002). On the bases of the above observations and of the role of fibroblasts-like synoviocytes to elicit and to maintain joint inflammation, we investigated if adenosine receptor agonists, might limit PGE₂ release in fibroblasts-like synoviocytes treated with known inflammatory stimuli: TNF- α and the bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (Westra et al., 2004; Park et al., 2004). COX-2 expression was also evaluated by RT-PCR as it appears to be the primary enzyme controlling PGE_2 synthesis in response to inflammatory stimuli (Park et al., 2006; Crofford, 1999). Further, adenosine analogs were used to characterise the presence of adenosine receptors and their affinity in bovine fibroblasts-like synoviocytes.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Fibroblasts-like synoviocytes cultures

Fibroblasts-like synoviocytes were obtained by culture of the bovine synovial fluid, aspirated from the metacarpophalangeal joints of 14-18 month-old animals, as previously described (Varani et al., 2007). Fibroblasts-like synoviocytes at the third-fourth passage were used in the experiments. Cells were characterized by immunofluorescence staining with vimentin, a marker for fibroblasts (Upragarin et al., 2005). To confirm that SF cultures were not contaminated by macrophages, CD14 expression was evaluated by RT-PCR.

Immunofluorescence staining

Fibroblasts-like synoviocytes were fixed with cold methanol, washed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and incubated with the primary monoclonal antibody (mAb) for the human vimentin (SigmaeAldrich, Italy) at 1:200 dilution for 1 h at 37°C. Washed slides were then incubated with a secondary fluorescein isothiocyanate-conjugated goat anti-mouse antibody for 1 h at 37°C. Nuclei were stained with the DNA dye, 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) (0.1 mg/ml in PBS ethylene glycol tetraacetic acid (EGTA)) for 10 min. Fluorescence was visualized using the Nikon Eclipse TE 2000-E microscope (Nikon Instruments, Italy) equipped with a digital camera (DXM 1200F).

RT-PCR experiments

CD14 and COX-2 expression in fibroblasts-like synoviocytes cultures was assayed by RT-PCR. Total RNA extraction was performed by a commercial kit (RNeasy Kit, Qiagen, Deutschland). RNA conversion to cDNA was performed by the kit SuperscriptTM First-Strand Synthesis System (Invitrogen, USA). Oligonucleotide primers for CD14 were dp50'-CTGGAAGCCGGCG-3'; rp5'-AGCTGAGCAGGAACCTGTGC-3' and oligonucleotides for glyceraldehydes 3dehydrogenase (GAPDH) phosphate were dp5'-TGGCAT CGTGGAGGGACTTAT-3'; rp5'-GACTTCAACAGCGACACTCAC-3'. Sequences were selected to amplify both human and bovine genome. Oligonucleotides for COX-2 were dp5'-TCCAGATCACATTTGATTGACA-3'; rp5'-TCTTTGACTGTGGGAGGATACA-3'. Oligonucleotides sequences were from separate exons to exclude genomic DNA contaminations. Two microliters of cDNA were amplified by the specific oligonucleotide sets and PCR reactions were performed as previously described (Varani et al., 2007). Cycling parameters were as follows: 1 min at 94°C; 1 min at the specific annealing temperature (55°C for CD14, 61°C for GAPDH, 60°C for COX-2); and 1 min at 72°C. PCR product sizes were 403 bp for CD14, 370 bp for GAPDH and 450 bp for COX-2. mRNA from human macrophages was used as a positive control for CD14 expression. PCR products were analyzed on 1.5% agarose gel, stained with ethidium bromide and visualized under UV.

Saturation and competition binding experiments to ARs

Fibroblasts-like synoviocytes, used for cellular membrane preparations, were washed with PBS and scraped off T75 flasks in ice-cold hypotonic buffer (5 mMTris HCl, 2 mM EDTA, pH 7.4). The cell suspension was homogenized by a Polytron, centrifuged for 30 min at 100,000g and used in saturation and competition binding experiments (Varani et al., 2007, 2002, 2003a,b). Saturation experiments to A_1 ARs were performed using [³H]-N6-cyclohexyladenosine ([³H]-CHA, 34.4 Ci/mmol; NEN - Perkin Elmer, USA) as radioligand for an incubation time of 90 min. Non-specific binding was determined in the presence of CHA 1 μ M. Saturation experiments to A_{2A} ARs were performed using [³H]-CGS 21680 (39.6 Ci/mmol; NEN - Perkin Elmer, USA) as radioligand with an incubation time of 120 min. Non-specific binding was determined with CGS 21680 1 μ M. Saturation experiments to A_{2B} ARs were performed using [³H]-MRE 2029F20, (123 Ci/mmol; Amersham Laboratories, UK) as radioligand for 60 min. Non-specific binding was determined with MRE 2029F20 1 µM. Saturation experiments to A₃ ARs were performed using [¹²⁵I]-4-aminobenzyl-50-Nmethylcarboxamidoadenosine ([¹²⁵I]-AB-MECA, 2000 Ci/mmol; Amersham Laboratories, UK) as radioligand, for 60 min (Varani et al., 1998). Non-specific binding was determined with AB-MECA 1 µM. In competition experiments, carried out to determine A1, A2A, A2B and A3 affinity values, 1 nM radioligands were used on fibroblasts-like synoviocytes membranes (100 mg protein per assay) and 6-8 different concentrations of the examined agonists. At the end of incubation time, in binding experiments performed in fibroblasts-like synoviocytes membranes, bound and free radioactivities were separated by filtering the assay mixture through Whatman GF/B filters (Brandel Harvester) and radioactivity was counted (Scintillation Counter Packard Tri Carb 2500TR).

Fibroblasts-like synoviocytes treatments with adenosine agonists

For the analysis of PGE₂ release, fibroblasts-like synoviocytes at third-fourth passage were plated at 10,000/cm² in complete medium DMEM/F12 containing 10% FBS and antibiotics in multiwells (Nunc, Denmark, 1.6 cm the diameter of each well) and used after 5 days plating. In preliminary experiments increasing doses of the recombinant human TNF- α (Preprotech, USA) and the bacterial LPS (Sigma, USA) selected in the range of those used in previous studies, were tested.

In the following experiments TNF- α and LPS were used, respectively, at 10 ng/ml and 1 mg/ml, which elicited maximal PGE_2 increase in preliminary experiments. Control cells were incubated in complete medium alone. In a first series of experiments adenosine analogs were added to both control and TNF- α - or LPStreated cultures in the presence of endogenous adenosine. The adenosine agonists CHA (A1 AR), CGS 21680 (A2A AR), NECA (non-selective), and Cl-IB-MECA (A₃ AR) were used at 1 µM (Sigma, USA). In a second series of experiments, treatments with adenosine agonists in the presence of TNF- α or LPS were performed in complete medium containing 2 IU/ml adenosine deaminase (ADA, FlukaeSigmae Aldrich, Switzerland) to deplete endogenously released adenosine. Different ADA concentrations (0.5-4 IU/ml) were analyzed on PGE₂ release and cell viability to evaluate the effect of endogenous adenosine. In some experiments, 1 µM forskolin (Sigma, USA), a direct activator of adenylate cyclase, was added to both control and TNF-α-treated cultures. At each condition tested, after 24 h treatment, medium was removed from the well, stored at -80°C for subsequent determination of PGE₂ and the monolayer protein content was evaluated (Lowry et al., 1951).

PGE₂ Assay

The concentration of PGE₂ was measured using a commercially available competitive enzyme immunoassay according to the manufacturer's instructions (PGE₂ ASSAY, R&D Systems, Inc. Minneapolis, USA). Samples and standards were assayed in duplicate. PGE₂ production was normalized to the total protein content and expressed as pg PGE₂/ μ g protein.

MTT assay

Effects of ADA on cell proliferation and viability of fibroblasts-like synoviocytes were evaluated by the MTT assay (Ahmed et al., 2006). Briefly, 100 μ l of MTT solution (5 mg/ml in PBS) (Sigma-Aldrich, Irvine UK) were added to each well and incubated at 37°C for 3 h. The medium was then discarded and 500 μ l of isopropanol/HCl 0.04 N were added to each well for the formazan solubilization. The solution absorbance was measured at 540 nm (Cary-50, UV-Visible Spectrophotometer, Varian).

Statistical Analysis

Data were obtained from at least five independent experiments. Each experiment was performed in triplicate. All values are expressed as mean \pm SEM of four independent experiments. Analysis of data was done with Student's t test. Differences were considered significant at a value of p<0.05.

RESULTS

Phenotype characterization of fibroblasts-like synoviocytes

Fibroblasts-like synoviocytes used in our experiments are shown in Figure 2.1. Cells showed a fibroblast-like morphology and the expression of vimentin, the main intermediate filament protein in mesenchymal cells and fibroblasts-like synoviocytes. Results obtained by RT-PCR showed the absence of CD14 expression, indicating the absence of contaminating macrophages.

Evaluation of ARs affinity and density by saturation and competition binding experiments

Table 2.1 reports the affinity (K_D, nM) and density (Bmax, fmol/mg protein) of A₁, A_{2A}, A_{2B} and A₃ receptors in fibroblasts-like synoviocytes membranes. The affinity values of AR subtypes were in the low nanomolar range and the Bmax values were from 24 to 65 fmol/mg of protein. Table 2.2 reports the affinity values (Ki, nM) of CHA, NECA, CGS 21680 and Cl-IB-MECA in bovine fibroblasts-like synoviocytes. The major affinity of CHA (Ki = 3.5 ± 0.4 nM) was reported in [³H]-CHA binding suggesting a high affinity vs A₁ AR. NECA and CGS 21680 showed similar affinity for A_{2A} AR even if NECA had a good affinity also for the other subtypes. Cl-IB-MECA showed a high affinity vs A₃ AR with a Ki value of 2.3 ± 0.2 nM. Saturation and competition binding experiments allowed to select, on the basis of the Ki values, the adenosine agonist concentrations to be used in subsequent experiments.

TNF- α and LPS induce a dose response increase on PGE₂ release in fibroblast-like synoviocytes

In preliminary experiments we investigated the effects of increasing doses of TNF- α and LPS, which are known to stimulate PGE₂ production in human

fibroblast-like synoviocytes, on PGE₂ release in bovine fibroblast-like synoviocytes cultures (Figure 2.2). PGE₂ production by control fibroblast-like synoviocytes was at very low levels. TNF- α and LPS significantly increased PGE₂ production in a dose-dependent manner. The most efficient doses were 10 ng/ml for TNF- α and 1 mg/ml for LPS yielding a maximal 7.9- and 9.8-fold increase, respectively. On these results, these TNF- α and LPS doses were used to stimulate PGE₂ production in subsequent experiments.

Adenosine agonist inhibit PGE₂ release in TNF-α- or LPS-treated fibroblastlike synoviocytes in the presence of endogenous adenosine

The effects of adenosine agonists on PGE₂ release in TNF- α or LPS unstimulated and stimulated fibroblast-like synoviocytes, in the presence of endogenous adenosine, are shown in figure 2.3. Treatment of cells with the A₁ agonist CHA, the A_{2A} agonist CGS 21680, the non-selective agonist NECA and the A₃ agonist Cl-IB-MECA did not modify basal PGE₂ production in the absence of TNF- α or LPS. In TNF- α stimulated fibroblast-like synoviocytes, all agonists, except for Cl-IBMECA, significantly inhibited PGE₂ production. PGE₂ inhibition ranged from 38.6% in the presence of CHA to 54.9% in the presence of NECA (Figure 2.3B). Similar data were obtained in LPS stimulated fibroblast-like synoviocytes (Figure 2.3C). The effects of adenosine agonists reduced PGE₂ levels to those of unstimulated control cells. Adenosine agonists were used at 1 μ M, the concentration that assured a complete saturation of adenosine receptors as suggested from the affinity values (Ki, nM) of Table 2.2.

Depletion of endogenous adenosine with ADA increases basal PGE₂ release in fibroblast-like synoviocytes

Fibroblast-like synoviocytes were exposed to increasing doses of ADA (0.5-2 IU/ml) to determine the effects of depleting endogenous adenosine. PGE₂ release slightly but significantly increased in a dose-dependent manner with maximal effect at 2 IU/ml (Figure 2.4A). In parallel experiments, MTT assay was performed to verify that in our experimental conditions ADA did not modify fibroblast-like synoviocytes proliferation or viability. At all the doses, ADA had no effect on cell proliferation and viability (Figure 2.4B).

Depletion of endogenous adenosine with ADA potentiates adenosine agonist's effects on PGE_2 release in TNF- α - or LPS- treated fibroblast-like synoviocytes

As 2 IU/ml ADA induced the maximal increase in PGE₂ production, this dose was used to deplete endogenous adenosine (Figure 2.5). Both TNF- α and LPS significantly stimulated PGE₂ synthesis similarly to what observed in the absence of ADA. Also, Cl-IB-MECA did not modify PGE₂ levels in TNF- α or LPS stimulated cells. In TNF- α or LPS stimulated fibroblast-like synoviocytes, CHA, CGS 21680 and NECA induced a stronger inhibition on PGE₂ production than in the absence of ADA. In fact, CHA, CGS 21680 and NECA reduced PGE₂ levels to those of unstimulated control cells.

Forskolin stimulates PGE2 release in activated fibroblast-like synoviocytes

As shown in figure 2.3 and 2.5, CHA and CGS 21680, which inhibit and stimulate adenylate cyclase, respectively, decreased PGE₂ release in TNF- α or LPS stimulated fibroblast-like synoviocytes. To clarify the potential involvement of adenylate cyclase activity in the modulation of PGE₂ production, we investigated the effects of forskolin, a potent stimulator of adenylate cyclase, on PGE₂ release. Forskolin did not modify basal PGE₂ levels. However, in fibroblast-like synoviocytes activated by the inflammatory stimuli, forskolin induced a further 24.3% increase in PGE₂ release.

Changes in COX-2 expression are associated to the changes in PGE_2 release induced by adenosine agonists in TNF- α - or LPS- treated fibroblast-like synoviocytes

Since PGE_2 levels were regulated by adenosine agonists we investigated whether changes in PGE_2 release were associated to a regulation of COX-2 transcripts. COX-2 expression, evaluated by RT-PCR, at 24 h treatment, is shown in figure 2.6. As reported in literature, in our experiments the stimulation of PGE₂ synthesis induced by TNF α and LPS was associated to an increase of COX-2 expression with respect to control cells. All adenosine agonists, except for Cl-IB-MECA, inhibited COX-2 expression in TNF- α or LPS stimulated cells.

 Table 2.1 Affinity and density of adenosine receptors in bovine fibroblast-like synoviocytes.

[³ H]CHA	[³ H]CGS 21680	[³ H]MRE 2029F20	[³ H]AB-MECA
binding to	binding to	binding to	binding to
A ₁ ARs	A _{2A} ARs	A _{2B} ARs	A ₃ ARs
$K_D = 1.82 \pm 0.16 \text{ nM}$	$K_D = 4.6 \pm 0.5 \text{ nM}$	$K_D = 1.32 \pm 0.12 \text{ nM}$	$K_D = 1.65 \pm 0.15 \text{ nM}$
Bmax= 24 ± 3	Bmax= 62 ± 6	Bmax= 78 ± 8	Bmax= 65 ± 6
fmol/mg protein	fmol/mg protein	fmol/mg protein	fmol/mg protein

Table 2.2 Affinity (Ki) of typical adenosine agonists versus A_1 , A_{2A} , A_{2B} and A_3 ARs, in bovine fibroblast-like synoviocytes.

	[³ H]CHA binding to A ₁ ARs Ki (nM)	[³ H]CGS 21680 binding to A _{2A} ARs Ki (nM)	[³ H]MRE 2029F20 binding to A _{2B} ARs Ki (nM)	[³ H]AB-MECA binding to A ₃ ARs Ki (nM)
СНА	3.5 ± 0.4	812 ± 75	> 1000	83 ± 7
NECA	22 ± 2	8.4 ± 0.8	156 ± 17	36 ± 4
CGS21680	740 ± 70	7.2 ± 0.7	> 1000	985 ± 90
Cl-IB-MECA	185 ± 22	643 ± 60	> 1000	2.3 ± 0.2

Figure 2.1: Bovine fibroblast-like synoviocytes in culture. Phase contrast (A) and vimentin expression by immunofluorescence (B) nuclei were counterstained in blue with DAPI.

A





B
Figure 2.2: Effect of increasing doses of TNF- α and LPS on PGE₂ production in bovine fibroblast-like synoviocytes.



* Indicates statistical significance (p<0.05) vs control.

** Indicates statistical significance (p<0.05) vs the previous dose.

Figure 2.3: Effect of AR agonists, in the presence of endogenous adenosine, on basal (A), TNF- α (B) or LPS (C) induced PGE₂ production in bovine fibroblast-like synoviocytes.



* Indicates statistical significance (p<0.05) vs control.

 $^\circ$ Indicates statistical significance (p<0.05) vs inflammatory stimuli (TNF- α 10 ng/ml, LPS 1 μ g/ml).

Figure 2.4: Effect of increasing doses of ADA on PGE₂ production (A) and cell proliferation/viability evaluated by MTT test (B).



* Indicates statistical significance (p<0.05) vs control.

Figure 2.5: Effect of adenosine agonists, in the presence of ADA (2 IU/ml), on TNF- α (A) or LPS (B) induced PGE₂ production in bovine fibroblast-like synoviocytes.



* Indicates statistical significance (p<0.05) vs control.

 $^\circ$ Indicates statistical significance (p<0.05) vs inflammatory stimuli (TNF- α 10 ng/ml, LPS 1 μ g/ml).

Figure 2.6: Effect of adenosine agonists on control and TNF-α (upper panel) or LPS (lower panel) induced COX-2 expression.





DISCUSSION

In this study we investigated how AR agonists, might modify PGE2 release in bovine fibroblast-like synoviocytes treated with pro-inflammatory stimuli. Saturation binding experiments confirmed the presence of A₁, A_{2A}, A_{2B} and A₃ ARs in fibroblast-like synoviocytes (Varani et al., 2007, 2002). In agreement with previous studies, TNF- α and LPS induced an approximately 8-10-fold increase in PGE₂ levels in fibroblast-like synoviocytes. In a first series of experiments we analyzed the effects of adenosine agonists in the presence of endogenous adenosine. All the agonists had no effect on basal PGE₂ release, however, CHA, NECA and CGS 21680 caused a significant inhibition on PGE₂ increase induced by TNF- α and LPS. These data indicate for the first time the involvement of A₁ and A2 ARs in the negative modulation of PGE2 synthesis in fibroblast-like synoviocytes. Cl-IB-MECA did not modify PGE2 production suggesting that the activation of the A₃ AR is not involved in the modulation of PGE₂ synthesis. As endogenous adenosine potentially could mask the selective involvement of a specific AR, we investigated the agonist effects also in the presence of ADA, an enzyme capable to deplete adenosine levels by its ability to convert adenosine to inosine (Tesh et al., 2004). The presence of ADA increased basal PGE₂ levels, confirming the involvement of adenosine in modulating PGE₂ production, a finding consistent with the first series of experiments and with previous studies in cartilage cells (Petrov et al., 2005). Further, in cells treated with TNF- α and LPS, CHA, NECA and CGS 21680 induced a stronger PGE₂ inhibition than in the absence of ADA; this can be explained by the increased potency of adenosine agonists in comparison to adenosine. Collectively, our results show that A₁ and A2A ARs are involved in the inhibition of PGE2 production in fibroblast-like synoviocytes. The similar effects on PGE₂ release obtained by using NECA (nonselective agonist) and CGS 21680 (A2A AR agonist) suggest that A2B AR are not involved in this functional response. In addition, the lack of an effect of Cl-IB-MECA excludes a role for the A₃ AR in modulating PGE₂ production. The canonical transduction pathway coupled to A_1 and A_{2A} ARs include, respectively, the inhibition and the stimulation of adenylate cyclase with consequent reduction and increase in cAMP levels. As both A₁ and A_{2A} agonists inhibited PGE₂ release to a similar degree, this suggested that cAMP changes were not involved in the

PGE₂ inhibition. Therefore, as a positive control for the adenylate cyclase activation, we investigated the effects of forskolin, a direct activator of this enzyme, on PGE₂ release. Forskolin increased PGE₂ release in stimulated fibroblast-like synoviocytes confirming that the PGE₂ release inhibition observed in our experiments was not linked to cAMP production; these findings are consistent with the results described by Kojima and co-workers (Kojima et al., 2003) in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes. Other signal transduction pathways, activated by ARs, might be involved in the negative regulation of PGE₂ production (Schulte and Fredholm, 2003; Ciccarelli et al., 2007). Finally, our results show that the ability of adenosine agonists to inhibit PGE₂ release is mediated by a down-regulation of TNF-a - and LPS-induced COX-2 mRNA expression. Worth of note, a similar effect is also induced in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes by known anti-inflammatory drugs (Fahmi et al., 2001). The pharmacologic PGE₂ blockade by aspirin, NSAIDs and COX-2 inhibitors has been a useful anti-inflammatory strategy for more than a century, however, it is known that the appearance of side-effects may limit the chronic use of these drugs. The findings of the present study open new perspectives to the control of inflammation associated to joint diseases. It is to note that adenosine modulate chondrocyte activities too. In cartilage cells, adenosine and the A_{2A} AR have been involved in the inhibition of inflammatory and matrix degradative events (Tesh et al., 2002, 2004) promote anabolic activities and prevent cartilage degradation (De Mattei et al., 2003, 2004, 2007). Thus, previous observations and the results of this study suggest that adenosine analogs, may reduce inflammation and cartilage degradation in articular joints, by targeting both fibroblast-like synoviocytes and chondrocytes. Indeed, in vivo, the separate ability of adenosine analogs to limit joint destruction has been previously proven in animal models (Ciombor et al., 2003). In conclusion, our results add new relevant data in the analysis of adenosine anti-inflammatory activities by showing the involvement of A_{1} and $A_{2\mathrm{A}}$ ARs in the inhibition of fibroblast-like synoviocytes responses to inflammatory stimuli. From a clinical point of view, the pharmacological modulation of adenosine pathways might have relevant therapeutic potential for the treatment of joint inflammatory diseases.

REFERENCES

Abeles AM, Pillinger MH (2006) The role of the synovial fibroblast in rheumatoid arthritis: cartilage destruction and the regulation of matrix metalloproteinases. Bull NYU Hosp Jt Dis 64:20-24.

Agro A, Langdon C, Smith F, Richards CD (1996) Prostaglandin E_2 enhances interleukin 8 (IL-8) and IL-6 but inhibits GMCSF production by IL-1 stimulated human synovial fibroblasts in vitro. J Rheumatol 23:862-868.

Ahmed S, Pakozdi A, Koch AE (2006) Regulation of interleukin-1beta-induced chemokine production and matrix metalloproteinase 2 activation by epigallocatechin-3-gallate in rheumatoid arthritis synovial fibroblasts. Arthritis Rheum 54:2393-2401.

Asano K, Sakai M, Matsuda T, Tanaka H, Fujii K, Hisamitsu T (2006) Suppression of matrix metalloproteinase production from synovial fibroblasts by meloxicam in-vitro. J Pharm Pharmacol 58:359-366.

Berenbaum F (2000) Proinflammatory cytokines, prostaglandins, and the chondrocyte: mechanisms of intracellular activation. Joint Bone Spine 67:561-564.

Boyle DL, Moore J, Yang L, Sorkin LS, Firestein GS (2002) Spinal adenosine receptor activation inhibits inflammation and joint destruction in rat adjuvant induced arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 46:3076-3082.

Burger D, Begue´-Pastor N, Benavent S, Gruaz L, Kaufmann MT, Chicheportiche R (2003) The active metabolite of leflunomide, A771726, inhibits the production of prostaglandin E(2), matrix metalloproteinase 1 and interleukin 6 in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes. Rheumatology (Oxford) 42:89-96.

Cha HS, Ahn KS, Jeon CH, Kim J, Koh EM (2004) Inhibitory effect of cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitor on the production of matrix metalloproteinases in rheumatoid fibroblast-like synoviocytes. Rheumatol Int 24:207-211.

Christodoulou C, Choy EH (2006) Joint inflammation and cytokine inhibition in rheumatoid arthritis. Clin Exp Med 6:13-19.

Ciccarelli R, D'Alimonte I, Ballerini P, D'Auro M, Nargi E, Buccella S (2007) Molecular signalling mediating the protective effect of A₁ adenosine and mGlu3 metabotropic glutamate receptor activation against apoptosis by oxygen/glucose deprivation in cultured astrocytes. Mol Pharmacol 71(5):1369-1380

Ciombor DM, Aaron RK, Wang S, Simon B (2003) Modification of osteoarthritis by pulsed electromagnetic field e a morphological study. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 11:455-462.

Cohen SB, Leo BM, Baer GS, Turner MA, Beck G, Diduch DR (2005) An adenosine A_{2A} receptor agonist reduces interleukin-8 expression and glycosaminoglycan loss following septic arthrosis. J Orthop Res 23:1172-1178.

Crofford LJ (1999) COX-2 in synovial tissues. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 7:406-408.

Davidson RK, Waters JG, Kevorkian L, Darrah C, Cooper A, Donell ST (2006) Expression profiling of metalloproteinases and their inhibitors in synovium and cartilage. Arthritis Res Ther 8:R124.

De Mattei M, Pasello M, Pellati A, Stabellini G, Massari L, Gemmati D (2003) Effects of electromagnetic fields on proteoglycan metabolism of bovine articular cartilage explants. Connect Tissue Res 44:154-159.

De Mattei M, Pellati A, Pasello M, Ongaro A, Setti S, Massari L (2004) Effects of physical stimulation with electromagnetic field and insulin growth factor-I treatment on proteoglycan synthesis of bovine articular cartilage. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 12:793-800.

De Mattei M, Fini M, Setti S, Ongaro A, Gemmati D, Stabellini G (2007) Proteoglycan synthesis in bovine articular cartilage explants exposed to different low-frequency low energy pulsed electromagnetic fields. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 15:163-168.

Fahmi H, He Y, Zhang M, Martel-Pelletier J, Pelletier JP, Di Battista JA (2001) Nimesulide reduces interleukin-1beta-induced cyclooxygenase-2 gene expression in human synovial fibroblasts. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 9:332-340.

Fredholm BB, Ijzerman AP, Jacobson KA, Klotz K-N, Linden J (2001) International Union of Pharmacology. XXV. Nomenclature and classification of adenosine receptors. Pharmacol Rev 53:527-552.

Funk CD (2001) Prostaglandins and leukotrienes: advances in eicosanoid biology. Science 294:1871-1875.

Gessi S, Varani K, Merighi S, Cattabriga E, Iannotta V, Leung E, Baraldi PG, Borea PA (2002) A_3 adenosine receptors in human neutrophils and promyelocitic HL60 cells: a pharmacological and biochemical study. Mol Pharmacol 61:415-424.

Gessi S, Varani K, Merighi S, Cattabriga E, Avitabile A, Gavioli R, Fortini C, Leung E, Mac Lennan S, Borea PA (2004) Expression of A_3 adenosine receptors in human lymphocytes: upregulation in T cell activation. Mol Pharmacol 65:711-719.

Goetzl EJ, An S, Smith WL (1995) Specificity of expression and effects of eicosanoid mediators in normal physiology and human diseases. FASEB J 9:1051-1058.

Goldring MB, Goldring SR (2007) Osteoarthritis. J Cell Physiol 213(3):626-634.

Hill CL, Gale DG, Chaisson CE, Skinner K, Kazis L, Gale ME (2001) Knee effusions, popliteal cysts, and synovial thickening: association with knee pain in osteoarthritis. J Rheumatol 28:1330-1337.

Hochberg MC, Altman RD, Brandt KD, Clark BM, Dieppe PA, Griffin MR (1995) Guidelines for the medical management of osteoarthritis. Part I. Osteoarthritis of the hip [American College of Rheumatology]. Arthritis Rheum 38:1535-1540.

Kojima F, Naraba H, Sasaki Y, Beppu M, Aoki H, Kawai S (2003) Prostaglandin E2 is an enhancer of interleukin-1beta-induced expression of membraneassociated prostaglandin E synthase in rheumatoid synovial fibroblasts. Arthritis Rheum 48:2819-2828.

Lowry OH, Rosebrough NJ, Farr AL, Randall RJ (1951) Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. J Biol Chem 193:265-275.

Moulton PJ (1996) Inflammatory joint disease: the role of cytokines, cyclooxygenases and reactive oxygen species. Br J Biomed Sci 53:317-324.

Muller-Ladner U, Pap T, Gay RE, Neidhart M, Gay S (2005) Mechanisms of disease: the molecular and cellular basis of joint destruction in rheumatoid arthritis. Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol 1:102-110.

Park HJ, Lee SH, Son DJ, Oh KW, Kim KH, Song HS (2004) Antiarthritic effect of bee venom: inhibition of inflammation mediator generation by suppression of NF-kappaB through interaction with the p50 subunit. Arthritis Rheum 50(11):3504-3515.

Park JY, Pillinger MH, Abramson SB (2006) Prostaglandin E_2 synthesis and secretion: the role of PGE2 synthases. Clin Immunol 119:229-240.

Pelletier JP, Martel-Pelletier J (2007) DMOAD developments: present and future. Bull NYU Hosp Jt Dis 65(3):242-248.

Petrov R, MacDonald MH, Tesch AM, Benton HP (2005) Inhibition of adenosine kinase attenuates interleukin-1- and lipopolysaccharide-induced alterations in articular cartilage metabolism. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 13:250-257.

Ralph JA, McEvoy AN, Kane D, Bresnihan B, FitzGerald O, Murphy EP (2005) Modulation of orphan nuclear receptor NURR1 expression by methotrexate in human inflammatory joint disease involves adenosine A2A receptor-mediated responses. J Immunol 175:555-565.

Schnitzer TJ (2001) Osteoarthritis management: the role of cyclooxygenase-2-selective inhibitors. Clin Ther 23:313-326.

Schulte G, Fredholm BB (2003) Signalling from adenosine receptors to mitogenactivated protein kinases. Cell Signal 15(9):813-827.

Tesch AM, MacDonald MH, Kollas-Baker C, Benton HP (2002) Chondrocytes respond to adenosine via A2 receptors and activity is potentiated by an adenosine deaminase inhibitor and a phosphodiesterase inhibitor. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 10:34-43.

Tesch AM, MacDonald MH, Kollas-Baker C, Benton HP (2004) Endogenously produced adenosine regulates articular cartilage matrix homeostasis: enzymatic depletion of adenosine stimulates matrix degradation. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 12:349-359.

Upragarin NA, Van Asten PC, Topten W, Landman JM, Gruys E (2005) Serum amyloid a production by chicken fibroblast-like synoviocytes. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 106:39-51.

Varani K, Cacciari B, Baraldi PG, Dionisotti S, Ongini E, Borea PA (1998) Binding affinity of adenosine receptor agonists and antagonists at human cloned A_3 adenosine receptors. Life Sci 63:81-87.

Varani K, Gessi S, Merighi S, Iannotta V, Cattabriga E, Spisani S, Cadossi R, Borea PA (2002) Effect of low frequency electromagnetic fields on A_{2A} adenosine receptors in human neutrophils. Br J Pharmacol 136:57-66.

Varani K, Gessi S, Merighi S, Iannotta V, Cattabriga E, Pancaldi C, Cadossi R, Borea PA (2003a) Alteration of A_3 adenosine receptors in human neutrophils and low frequency electromagnetic fields. Biochem Pharmacol 66:1897-1906.

Varani K, Laghi-Pasini F, Camurri A, Capecchi PA, Maccherini M, Di Ciolla F, Ceccatelli L, Lazzerini PE, Ulouglu C, Cattabeni F, Borea PA, Abbracchio MP (2003b) Changes of peripheral A_{2A} adenosine receptors in chronic heart failure and cardiac transplantation. FASEB J 17:280-282.

Varani K, De Mattei M, Vincenzi F, Gessi S, Merighi S, Pellati A, Ongaro A, Caruso A, Cadossi R, Borea PA (2007) Characterization of adenosine receptors in bovine chondrocytes and fibroblast-like synoviocytes exposed to low frequency low energy pulsed electromagnetic fields. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 16:292-304.

Westra J, Limburg PC, De Boer P, Van Rijswijk MH (2004) Effects of RWJ 67657, a p38 mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) inhibitor, on the production of inflammatory mediators by rheumatoid synovial fibroblasts. Ann Rheum Dis 63:1453-1459.

CHAPTER 3:

Expression and functional role of adenosine receptors in regulating inflammatory responses in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes.

INTRODUCTION

Human fibroblast-like synoviocytes play a central role in the pathogenesis of joint destruction primarily by the secretion of a wide range of pro-inflammatory mediators including cytokines, growth factors and lipid mediators of inflammation. Pro-inflammatory agents produced by synoviocytes are detrimental to articular cartilage in different joint diseases such as OA and RA (Abeles and Pillinger, 2006; De Mattei et al., 2009). OA is the most common form of arthritis, and is the single most important cause of disability in older adults (Benito et al., 2005; Goldring et al., 2007). At the present the current recommended treatment of OA involves weight loss, physical therapy and the use of pain relievers (Altman and Barkin, 2009). However these drugs do not reverse the degenerative process in OA and show some adverse effect on cartilage metabolism (Zhang et al., 2008). Adenosine is a modulator which interact with four cell surface receptor subtypes named as A₁, A_{2A}, A_{2B} and A₃ ARs which are coupled to different G-proteins (Burnstock, 2008). A1 and A3 ARs, through Gi proteins, mediate inhibition of the adenylate cyclase activity, whilst A_{2A} and A_{2B} ARs via Gs proteins stimulate cAMP production (Haskò et al., 2008). ARs modulation has an important role in the regulation of the inflammatory processes (Palmer and Trevethic, 2008; Ham and Rees, 2008; Gessi et al., 2008). Understanding how cytokine release is regulated endogenously can give important insight in various disease pathologies. It is well known that MAPKs like p38 are involved in controlling cellular responses as the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Fotheringham et al., 2004). The cell signaling pathways initiated by pro-inflammatory events converge on activation of the NF-kB which drive cytokines transcription and production (Wen et al., 2006). Notably, p38 MAPK is one of the kinases implicated in the phosphorylation of NF-kB inhibitors (IkBs) (Westra and Limburg, 2006). Once phosphorylated, IkBs undergo polyubiquitination and ultimately proteosomic degradation, allowing NF-kB to enter the nucleus and promote the transcription of inflammatory genes, such as TNF- α and IL-8 (Barnes and Karin, 1997). A role of adenosine in modulating bovine chondrocytes and fibroblast-like synoviocytes activity has been documented by previous studies of our group. In bovine fibroblast-like synoviocytes ARs have been characterized from saturation, competition binding experiments and western blotting analysis (Varani et al., 2008). Functional studies suggested an anti-inflammatory effect relative to A1 and

A2A ARs activation in LPS-induced PGE2 production mediated by a downregulation of TNF-α and COX-2 mRNA expression (De Mattei et al., 2009). It has been recently reported that in fibroblast-like synoviocytes from RA patients, A₃ ARs are over-expressed and an A₃ stimulation mediated a reduction in inflammation as a decrease in NF-kB and TNF-α release (Ochaion et al., 2008). Furthermore it has been demonstrated that in different cells or tissues adenosine is a regulator of NF-kB and MAPK signalling through the interaction with their receptor subtypes (Majumdar et al., 2003; Schulte and Fredholm, 2003; Jijon et al., 2005). From this background, the aim of this study was to investigate the presence of ARs in primary cultures of human fibroblast-like synoviocytes cells from OA patients by using mRNA and western blotting assays. Saturation binding experiments were performed to evaluate affinity (K_D) and density (Bmax) of A₁, A_{2A}, A_{2B} and A₃ ARs. Affinity values (Ki) of adenosine agonists and antagonists were determined by using competition binding experiments. In order to complete the pharmacological characterization, ARs were evaluated from a functional point of view. The effect of adenosine agonists and antagonists was investigated on cAMP production. Moreover, we focused the involvement of ARs on the signal transduction pathways including p38 MAPK and NF-kB. Consequently, the effect of adenosine agonists on TNF- α and IL-8 secretion were analyzed. The capability of adenosine antagonists to block the effect of the adenosine agonists was also carried out to better verify the involvement of ARs. Finally Gi, Gs and phosphatidylinositide-3-OH kinase (PI3K) pathways were investigated to study ARs signalling.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Subjects

Synovial tissues were obtained from patients with end-stage OA undergoing total joint replacement surgery. The diagnosis was based on clinical and radiological criteria. Human samples were collected with approved informed consent in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. The study protocol was approved by the local Ethics Committee of the University of Ferrara and the subjects provided written consent after receiving detailed verbal and written explanations of the study. All patients (n=35, F/M: 23/12; age: 63.7 ± 3.4 yrs) enrolled in this study were recruited from the Department of Biomedical Sciences

and Advanced Therapies, Orthopaedic Clinic of the University Hospital of Ferrara, Italy. Each patient underwent medical history, physical examination, electrocardiogram and routine blood tests. Mean disease duration expressed as years \pm SEM was 6 \pm 1. Regarding pharmacological therapy of OA, 80% of the enrolled patients were receiving non steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) and 20% had no medications.

Cell culture

Primary lines of surface adherent fibroblast-like synoviocytes were isolated by enzymatic digestion of synovial tissues for 2-3 hours at 37°C in DMEM containing 1.5 mg/ml of collagenase type I-A and 1 mg/ml of hyaluronidase (Sigma-Aldrich, Milan, Italy). After digestion the cells have been recovered by centrifugation and plated in T25 culture flasks (Miyashita et al., 2004). Human fibroblast-like synoviocytes were maintained in culture in DMEM, 10% FBS, penicillin (100 U/ml), streptomycin (100 μ g/ml), L-glutamine (2 mmol/L), passaged when reaching confluence and used at the 3rd-4th passages for binding and functional experiments. CHO or HEK 293 cells transfected with human A₁, A_{2A}, A_{2B} and A₃ ARs were prepared as previously described. Membrane preparation was performed prior of the competition binding experiments as previously described (Varani et al., 2000; 2005).

Human fibroblast-like synoviocyte characterization

Immunofluorescence with the primary monoclonal antibody specific for the human vimentin (Sigma Aldrich, St Louis, MO) was used to evaluate the expression of vimentin, a fibroblasts marker, in primary cultures of human fibroblast-like synoviocytes cells, as previously described. Nuclei were stained with the selective DNA dye, DAPI (0.1 mg/ml in PBS-EGTA) for 10 minutes. Fluorescence was visualized using the Nikon Eclipse TE 2000-E microscope equipped with a digital camera DXM 1200F (Nikon Instruments, Firenze, Italy). To exclude the presence of contaminating macrophages or endothelial cells, fibroblast-like synoviocyte cultures have been analyzed for CD14 and von-Willebrand factor (vWF) expression by reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR). Briefly, 2 μ l cDNA have been amplified by specific oligonucleotide primers for CD14 (for-5'-CTG GAA GCC GGC G-3'; rev5'-

AGC TGA GCA GGA ACC TGT GC-3') and for vWF (for-5'-TGG CCA GAC CTT GCT GAA GA-3'; rev-5'-CCA TTA TGG AGA ATC ACC TCC A-3'). Cycling parameters have been as follows: 1 min at 94°C; 1 min at the specific annealing temperature (62°C for CD14 and 55°C for vWF); and 1 min at 72°C. PCR product sizes are 405 bp for CD14 and 252 bp for vWF. mRNA from human macrophages and endothelial cells have been used as a positive control for CD14 and vWF expression respectively (Miyashita et al., 2004).

RT-PCR experiments

Total cytoplasmic RNA was extracted by the acid guanidinium thiocyanate phenol method. Quantitative real-time RT-PCR assay (Gessi et al., 2004) of A_1 , A_{2A} , A_{2B} and A_3 mRNAs was carried out using gene-specific fluorescently labelled TaqMan MGB probe (minor groove binder) in a ABI Prism 7700 Sequence Detection System (Applied Biosystems, Warrington Cheshire, UK). For the real-time RT-PCR of A_1 , A_{2A} , A_{2B} and A_3 adenosine receptors the assays-on-demandTM Gene expression Products NM 000674, NM 000675, NM 000676 and NM 000677 were used respectively. For the real-time RT-PCR of the reference gene the endogenous control human GAPDH kits was used, and the probe was fluorescent-labeled with VICTM (Applied Biosystems, Warrington Cheshire, UK). Genomic contamination was ruled out by including an RT-negative sample in each PCR set as a control.

Western blotting analysis

Human fibroblast-like synoviocytes were washed with ice-cold phosphate buffer saline containing sodium orthovanadate 1 mM, 4-(2-aminoethyl)-benzenesulfonyl fluoride 104 mM, aprotinin 0.08 mM, leupeptin 2 mM, bestatin 4 mM, pepstatin A 1.5 mM, E-64 1.4 mM (Sigma Aldrich, St Louis, MO). Cells were then lysed in Triton lysis buffer and the protein concentration was determined using BCA protein assay kit (Pierce, Rockford, IL). Aliquots of total protein sample (50 μ g) were analyzed using antibodies specific for human A₁, A_{2A}, A_{2B} and A₃ ARs (1 μ g/ml dilution, Alpha Diagnostic, San Antonio, TX) and P-p38 (1 μ g/ml dilution, Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA) (Merighi et al., 2002). Filters were washed and incubated for 1 hour at room temperature with peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies (1:2000 dilution). Specific reactions were revealed with

Enhanced Chemiluminescence Western blotting detection reagent (GE Healthcare, UK). Western blotting assays were also normalized against the housekeeping protein β -actin.

Saturation and competition binding experiments to ARs

To obtain membrane preparation the culture medium was removed and the cells were washed with PBS and scraped off T75 flasks in ice-cold hypotonic. The cell suspension was homogenized by using a Polytron, centrifuged for 30 min at 100000 g and used in the saturation and competition binding experiments. Saturation binding experiments on human fibroblast-like synoviocyte membranes were performed by using [³H]-DPCPX, [³H]-ZM241385, [³H]-MRE 2029F20 and $[^{3}H]$ -MRE 3008F20 as radioligands to study the presence of A₁, A_{2A}, A_{2B} and A₃ ARs, respectively. Briefly, these radioligands at different concentrations (0.01-20 nM or 0.01-30 nM) were incubated with 100 µg of protein per assay of membrane suspension for 90 min at 25°C (A1 AR) or 60 min at 4°C (A2A and A2B ARs) or 150 min at 4°C (A₃ AR). Competition binding experiments of 1 nM [³H]-DPCPX, ³H]-ZM 241385, ³H]-MRE 2029F20 and ³H]-MRE 3008F20 were carried out to determine the A₁, A_{2A}, A_{2B} and A₃ ARs affinity values of the selected adenosine agonists and antagonists, respectively. In these assays human fibroblast-like synoviocyte membranes (100 µg protein per assay) were incubated with different concentrations of the examined agonists CHA, CGS 21680, NECA, Cl-IB-MECA and antagonists DPCPX, SCH 58261, MRE 2029F20 and MRE 3008F20. Non specific binding was determined in the presence of DPCPX, ZM 241385, MRE 2029F20 or MRE 3008F20 at the 1 µM concentration, respectively and was always < 25% of the total binding. Similar experiments were also performed by using A₁, A_{2A}, A_{2B} and A₃ adenosine agonists such as CHA, CGS 21680, NECA and Cl-IB-MECA at the 1 μ M concentration, respectively and was always < 30% of the total binding. At the end of incubation time, bound and free radioactivity were separated by filtering, in a Brandel cell harvester, the assay mixture through Whatman GF/B glass-fiber filters. The filter bound radioactivity was counted in a liquid Scintillation Counter Tri Carb Packard 2500 TR (Perkin-Elmer Life and Analytical Sciences, Boston, USA). Similar competition binding experiments were performed in CHO cells transfected with human A1, A2A or A3 ARs and

 A_{2B} HEK 293 cells with the aim to evaluate affinity and selectivity of adenosine agonists and antagonists used in functional assays.

Measurement of cAMP levels

Human fibroblast-like synoviocytes (10^6 cells per sample) were suspended in 0.5 ml incubation mixture Krebs Ringer phosphate buffer, containing adenosine deaminase 1.0 IU/ml (Sigma, St Louis, MO) and preincubated for 10 min in a shaking bath at 37°C. Then the effect of selected adenosine agonists was studied by using CHA, CGS 21680, NECA and Cl-IB-MECA at 1 µM concentration. To better investigate the inhibitory effect of CHA and Cl-IB-MECA the cells were also incubated with forskolin (1 µM) and/or Ro 20-1724 (0.5 mM) as phosphodiesterase inhibitor. A₁, A_{2A}, A_{2B} and A₃ selected adenosine antagonists as DPCPX, SCH 58261 MRE 2029F20 and MRE 3008F20 at the 1 µM concentration were also used to verify the specific involvement of these subtypes in cAMP production. The final aqueous solution was tested to evaluate cAMP levels by using a competition protein binding assay with $[^{3}H]$ -cAMP. At the end of the incubation time (150 min at 4°C) and after the addition of charchoal the samples were centrifuged at 2000 x g for 10 min and the clear supernatant was counted in a liquid Scintillation Counter Tri Carb Packard 2500 TR (Perkin-Elmer Life and Analytical Sciences, Boston, USA).

NF-kB activation

Nuclear extracts from human fibroblast-like synoviocytes were obtained by using a nuclear extract kit (Active Motif, Carlsbad, USA) following the manufacturer's instructions. The NF-kB activation was evaluated by detecting phosphorylated p50 and p65 proteins in nuclear extracts by using the TransAM NF-kB kit (Active Motif, Carlsbad, USA). Phosphorylated NF-kB subunits specifically bind to the immobilized oligonucleotides containing the NF-kB consensus site (5'-GGGACTTTCC-3'). The primary antibody used to detect NF-kB recognized an epitope on each subunit that is accessible only when activated and bound to its DNA target. A horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated secondary antibody colorimetric sensitive readout that quantified provided а was by spectrophotometry at 450 nm.

TNF-α and II-8 release

TNF- α and II-8 levels were measured in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes by using a highly sensitive enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (R and D Systems, Minneapolis, USA) in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions.

Data and statistical analysis

The protein concentration was determined according to a Bio-Rad method with bovine albumin as reference standard (Bradford MA, 1976). A weighted non linear least-squares curve fitting program Ligand was used for computer analysis of saturation and competition binding experiments (Munson and Rodbard, 1980). Functional experiments were calculated by non linear regression analysis using the equation for a sigmoid concentration-response curve (GraphPAD Prism, San Diego, CA, USA). Analysis of data was performed by repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Bonferroni test that was used for multiple comparisons of data sets and was considered significant at a value of p<0.02. All data are reported as mean \pm SEM of independent experiments. Each experiment was performed by using the fibroblast-like synoviocytes derived from one single donors, and was done in duplicate (for binding experiments) or in triplicate (for functional experiments). The experiments were repeated at least 3 or 4 times as indicated from n values that showed the number of patients used.

RESULTS

Phenotype characterization of human fibroblast-like synoviocytes

Cells isolated from synovial of OA patients showed to be a homogenous population as demonstrated by their fibroblast-like morphology (Figure 3.1A). Primary cultures of human fibroblast-like synoviocytes cells also showed the expression of vimentin, a specific cellular marker for mesenchymal cells and fibroblast-like synoviocytes (Figure 3.1B). RT-PCR data showed that, under our experimental conditions, mRNA for CD14 and vWF were not amplified, suggesting the absence of macrophage and endothelial cell contamination in fibroblast-like synoviocytes cell cultures (Figure 3.1C).

Evaluation of ARs mRNA expression and protein level

Figure 3.2A shows adenosine mRNA in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes by using real-time quantitative RT-PCR. The present analysis performed with primers specifically designed for the various cloned human ARs revealed the expression of A_1 , A_{2A} , A_{2B} and A_3 mRNA. In particular, high levels of A_{2A} and A_3 mRNA were found in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes. The presence of ARs was also confirmed by western blot analysis (Figure 3.2B). In human fibroblast-like synoviocytes A_{2A} and A_3 ARs were present with a higher expression than A_1 and A_{2B} ARs as demonstrated by densitometric analysis reported in figure 3.2C.

Saturation and competition binding experiments

Saturation binding experiments in primary cultures of human fibroblast-like synoviocytes membranes were performed to evaluate affinity (K_D) and receptor density (Bmax) of ARs. Figure 3.3A illustrate saturation binding curves relative to A1, A2A, A2B and A3 ARs showing affinity in the nanomolar range and different receptor density. Scatchard plot analysis revealed the presence of an high affinity binding site as suggested by the linearity of the lines (Figure 3.3B). Computer analysis of the data failed to show a significantly better fit to a two site than to a one site binding model, indicating that in our experimental conditions is primarily present one class of high affinity binding site. Competition binding experiments to A₁, A_{2A}, A_{2B} and A₃ ARs by using selected adenosine agonists and antagonists in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes membranes were performed (Figure 3.4). As expected, CHA and Cl-IB-MECA showed biphasic competition binding curves versus A_1 and A_3 ARs, respectively as suggested by a significantly better fit to a two site binding model and by an Hill coefficient less than unity (0.54 and 0.63, respectively). Their competition binding curves were best described by the existence of one high affinity (K_H) and low affinity (K_L) agonist-receptor binding state (Figure 3.4A,D). Moreover, CGS 21680 and NECA agonists revealed good affinity values versus A_{2A} and A_{2B} ARs confirming a tight coupling between the receptors and G protein. For CGS 21680 and NECA, Hill coefficients were close to unity excluding the involvement of multiple coupling affinity states (Table 3.1). In addition, competition binding experiments were also carried out studying selected adenosine antagonists as DPCPX, SCH 58261, MRE 2029F20 and MRE 3008F20 revealing Ki values in the nanomolar range (Table 3.1). The affinity of the adenosine agonists and antagonists versus human A_1 , A_{2A} , A_{2B} and A_3 ARs expressed in CHO or HEK 293 cells was reported and compared with human fibroblast-like synoviocytes in Table 3.1. CHA showed an high affinity versus A_1 AR similarly to those obtained in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes. Our experimental data revealed a good affinity of CGS 21680 and NECA versus A_{2A} AR. Cl-IB-MECA presented a very high affinity versus human A_3 AR. DPCPX, SCH 58261, MRE 2029F20 and MRE3008F20 showed an high affinity versus A_1 , A_{2A} , A_{2B} and A_3 ARs, respectively (Table 3.1). The high affinity in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes of these adenosine antagonists confirmed the binding with A_1 , A_{2A} , A_{2B} and A_3 ARs, respectively (Table 3.1).

cAMP assays

The A_{2A} and A_{2B} ARs are coupled to stimulation of adenylate cyclase via Gs proteins which mediates an increase of cAMP production. CGS 21680 and NECA at the 1 µM concentration were able to mediate a significant increase in cAMP formation reaching 65-90 pmoles per 10^6 cells, respectively. The presence of a selective A_{2A} antagonist as SCH 58261 demonstrates a complete reduction in cAMP production (Figure 3.5A). MRE 2029F290 an A_{2B} adenosine antagonist, was only able partially to inhibit NECA-stimulated cAMP levels because of the dual effect of NECA as stimulatory agent for A_{2A} and A_{2B}ARs (Figure 3.5A). The effect of A1 and A3 agonists as CHA and Cl-IB-MECA (1 µM) was evaluated in the presence of 1 µM forskolin and Ro 20-1724 (0.5 mM). This experimental condition was chosen for the low basal levels (15-20 pmol cAMP per assay) which hamper the evaluation of a direct inhibitory effect. In our experimental conditions CHA and Cl-IB-MECA were able to decrease cAMP levels by 70%. DPCPX was not able to abrogate completely the inhibitory effect of CHA probably for A3 AR activation. On the other hand, MRE 3008F20 blocked the inhibitory effect induced by the selective A₃ agonist.

p38 MAPK activation

Western blotting analysis showed that LPS (10 μ g/ml) was able to increase phospho-p38 levels of 72% in comparison to basal levels. All adenosine agonists investigated at the 100 nM concentration were not able to significantly modify phospho-p38 levels (data not shown). Interestingly, at the 1 μ M concentration

adenosine agonists such as CGS 21680 and NECA were able to inhibit significantly in a similar way the LPS-stimulated P-p38 levels (Figure 3.6A,B). Moreover, Cl-IB-MECA (1 μ M) was also able to inhibit the LPS-stimulated Pp38 levels although in a minor extent (Figure 3.6A,B). SCH 58261 and MRE 3008F20 blocked the inhibitory effect of CGS 21680 and Cl-IB-MECA, respectively. On the contrary, MRE 2029F20 was not able to abrogate NECA effect probably due to the persistent A_{2A} and A₃ NECA modulation. CHA (1 μ M) in the absence and in the presence of DPCPX (1 μ M) had no effect in the modulation of P-p38 levels suggesting that A₁ AR were not implicated.

NF-kB activation in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes

NF-kB levels were evaluated studying p50 (Figure 3.7A) and p65 (Figure 3.7B) subunits activation. In primary cultures of human fibroblast-like synoviocytes, adenosine agonists examined were not able to decrease the LPS-stimulated NF-kB levels at a concentration of 100 nM with the exception of Cl-IB-MECA that mediated a reduction in p50 and p65 levels by $33 \pm 3\%$ and $24 \pm 3\%$, respectively (p<0.05). All adenosine agonists investigated at the 1 μ M concentration were able to inhibit the LPS-stimulated NF-kB levels. The inhibitory effect of CHA was reverted only by the A₃ antagonist MRE 3008F20. In addition, SCH 58261, but not MRE 3008F20, was able to block the reduction of NF-kB levels mediated by CGS 21680 because of the high or low affinity of this agonist for A2A AR or A3 AR, respectively (Table 3.1). The inhibitory effect of the adenosine agonist NECA was partially blocked (p<0.05) only by SCH 58261 and MRE 3008F20 suggesting the involvement of A_{2A} and A₃ ARs. Interestingly, the effect of NECA was completely abrogated by the simultaneous incubation with SCH 58261 and MRE 3008F20. The reduction in p50 and p65 activation mediated by Cl-IB-MECA was reverted only by MRE 3008F20 and not by SCH 58261. This effect was most likely due to the low affinity of the A₃ agonist, Cl-IB-MECA for A_{2A} AR (Table 3.1, Figure 3.7 A,B).

TNF- α and IL-8 production

In human fibroblast-like synoviocytes the effect of adenosine agonists and antagonists on TNF- α (Figure 3.8A) and IL-8 (Figure 3.8B) release was evaluated in the presence of LPS 10 μ g/ml. Of the agonists examined at 100 nM

concentration only Cl-IB-MECA was able to decrease significantly TNF-α and IL-8 production by $35 \pm 3\%$ and $28 \pm 2\%$, respectively (p<0.05). All adenosine agonists investigated at 1 µM concentration were able to significantly inhibit LPS-stimulated release of TNF-α and IL-8. The inhibitory effect of CHA was counteracted by MRE 3008F20 and not by DPCPX or SCH 58261 suggesting the involvement of A₃ ARs (Table 3.1). The effect of CGS 21680 was only blocked by SCH 58261 and not by MRE 3008F20 probably because of the low affinity of CGS 21680 for A₃ AR. NECA was able to significantly decrease the LPS-stimulated release of TNF-α and IL-8, an effect blocked by SCH 58261 or MRE 3008F20 (p<0.05), but not by DPCPX or MRE 2029F20. The simultaneous use of SCH 58261 and MRE 3008F20 completely reverted the inhibitory effect of NECA (p<0.01). Finally, only MRE 3008F20 was able to abrogate the effect of CI-IB-MECA on TNF-α and IL-8 release.

Modulation of Gi, Gs and PI3K proteins

To determine whether the Gi pathway or phosphatidylinositide-3-OH kinase (PI3K) was involved in A₃ AR responses, human fibroblast-like synoviocytes were preincubated with the Gi inactivator pertussis toxin (100 ng/ml) for 2 h or with the PI3K inhibitor LY294002 (25 μ M) for 20 min and then stimulated with Cl-IB-MECA (1 μ M). The preincubation with pertussis toxin did not modify the Cl-IB-MECA-mediated inhibition of P-p38, NF-kB p50 or p65, TNF- α and IL-8 levels. In contrast, LY294002 incubation completely abolished the inhibition of P-p38, NF-kB p50 or p65, TNF- α and IL-8 levels by Cl-IB-MECA. These data suggest that the A₃ ARs signals through a PI3K pathway (Table 3.2). In order to verify whether the Gs pathway was involved in A_{2A} functional responses, human fibroblast-like synoviocytes were incubated with a direct activator of adenylyl cyclase activity, forskolin (1 μ M). This compound was able to reduce P-p38, NF-kB p50 or p65, TNF- α and IL-8 levels suggesting the involvement of cAMP in A_{2A}-mediated responses (Table 3.2).

Table 3.1: Affinities expressed as pKi values of well-known adenosine agonists and antagonists in CHO or HEK 293 cells expressing human A_1 , A_{2A} , A_{2B} or A_3ARs and in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes.

Compounds	[³ H] DPCPX binding to hA-CHO cells	[³ H] ZM 241385 binding to	[³ H] MRE 2029F20 binding to	[³ H] MRE 3008F20 binding to hA-CHO calls	Human synoviocytes	
	pK_{H} , pK_{L} or pKi	pKi	pKi	pK _H , pK _L or pKi	pKi	n_H
CHA	8.96 ± 0.04	6.09 ± 0.03	4.38 ± 0.02	7.19 ± 0.05	9.08 ± 0.03^{a}	0.54 ± 0.05
	6.76 ± 0.03			5.57 ± 0.04	6.94 ± 0.04	
CGS 21680	> 5.3	7.92 ± 0.03	> 5.3	5.91 ± 0.04	7.55 ± 0.05^{b}	1.04±0.09
NECA	7.70 ± 0.04	8.08 ± 0.04	6.74 ± 0.03	7.44 ± 0.05	$7.02 \pm 0.04^{\circ}$	0.91±0.08
Cl-IBMECA	> 5.3	6.19 ± 0.04	> 5.3	8.89 ± 0.05	9.04 ± 0.04^{d}	0.63±0.05
				6.80 ± 0.04	7.06 ± 0.03	
DPCPX	8.80 ± 0.03	6.58 ± 0.04	7.40 ± 0.04	5.94 ± 0.06	8.65 ± 0.06^{a}	1.14±0.10
SCH 58261	6.26 ± 0.04	8.60 ± 0.05	> 5.3	> 5.3	$8.56\pm0.03^{\rm b}$	1.06±0.09
MRE 2029F20	6.55 ± 0.03	> 5.3	8.46 ± 0.05	> 5.3	$8.57 \pm 0.06^{\circ}$	1.11±0.11
MRE 3008F20	5.93 ± 0.04	6.72 ± 0.03	5.83 ± 0.03	9.05 ± 0.05	8.55 ± 0.04^{d}	0.99±0.08

Affinity values are represented as pK_H , pK_L and pKi values; $n_H = Hill$ coefficient.

	$LPS \\ (10 \ \mu g/m^l)$	$Cl-IB-MECA \\ (1 \ \mu g/m^{1})$	pertussis toxin (100 ng/m1) Cl-IB-MECA (1 µg/ml)	LY294002 (25 µg/ml) Cl-IB-MECA (1 µg/ml)	Forskolin (1 µg/ml)
P-p38	172 ± 10	135 ± 6^{a}	133 ± 7	$175\pm8^{\circ}$	128 ± 8^{b}
NF-kB (p50)	169 ± 14	110 ± 12^{b}	104 ± 10	$173 \pm 13^{\text{ d}}$	109 ± 9^{b}
NF-kB (p65)	353 ± 14	234 ± 12^{b}	242 ± 13	338 ± 14^{d}	$226\pm11^{\text{ b}}$
TNF-α	358 ± 21	$128 \pm 13^{\text{b}}$	134 ± 12	344 ± 19^{d}	136 ± 14^{b}
IL-8	455 ± 20	$262 \pm 11^{\text{b}}$	278 ± 15	437 ± 22^{d}	$287\pm14^{\rm \ b}$

Table 3.2: Modulation of Gi, PI3K and Gs pathways in differentinflammatory responses on human fibroblast-like synoviocytes.

The data are expressed as % of control \pm SEM. ^a p<0.02 versus LPS; ^b p<0.01 versus LPS; ^c p<0.02 versus Cl-IB-MECA; ^d p<0.01 versus Cl-IB-MECA.

Figure 3.1: Culture of human fibroblast-like synoviocytes. In A, phase contrast and in B vimentin expression by immunofluorescence. Nuclei were counterstained in blue with DAPI. Original magnification, ×200. In C CD14 and vWF mRNA expression in macrophages (MC), endothelial cells (EC) and in fibroblast-like synoviocytes (S).



В



С



Figure 3.2: mRNA expression of ARs (A) and representative western blotting analysis (B) in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes. Densitometric analysis for ARs were also shown (C).



Figure 3.3: Saturation curves (A) and Scatchard plot (B) of [³H]DPCPX, [³H]ZM 241385, [³H]MRE 2029F20, [³H]MRE 3008F20 binding to A₁, A_{2A}, A_{2B} and A₃ ARs in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes, respectively.



Figure 3.4: Affinity values of selected A_1 , A_{2A} , A_{2B} and A_3 adenosine agonists and antagonists obtained by using competition binding experiments versus A_1 (A), A_{2A} (B), A_{2B} (C) and A_3 (D) ARs.



Figure 3.5: Stimulatory effect on cAMP levels of CGS 21680 and NECA in the absence and in the presence of SCH 58261 and MRE 2029F20, respectively (A). Inhibitory effect of CHA and Cl-IB-MECA in the absence and in the presence of DPCPX and MRE 3008F20, respectively (B).



* p<0.01 versus control conditions.

Figure 3.6: Western blotting analysis of P-p38 in the absence and in the presence of LPS. The effect of examined adenosine agonists and antagonists was also evaluated (A). Densitometric analysis of the bands obtained were also shown (B).



*, p< 0.01 versus control conditions; **, p< 0.01 versus LPS conditions; #, p< 0.02 versus LPS conditions; \$, p< 0.01 versus CGS 21680; p< 0.02 versus Cl-IB-MECA.

Figure 3.7: Effect of adenosine agonists and antagonists in human fibroblastlike synoviocytes on NF-kB activation which was evaluated by detecting phosphorylated p50 (A) and p65 (B) proteins in nuclear extracts.



*, p<0.01 versus control conditions. **, p<0.01 versus LPS conditions; #, p< 0.01 versus CHA; \$, p< 0.01 versus CGS 21680; †, p< 0.05 versus NECA; ‡, p< 0.01 versus NECA; \$, p< 0.01 versus Cl-IB-MECA.

Figure 3.8: TNF- α (A) and IL-8 (B) levels in human synoviocytes in control conditions and stimulated by LPS (10 µg/ml). TNF- α and IL-8 levels were also calculated in the presence of adenosine agonists and antagonists.



*, p<0.01 versus control conditions. **, p<0.01 versus LPS conditions; #, p< 0.01 versus CHA; \$, p< 0.01 versus CGS 21680; †, p< 0.05 versus NECA; ‡, p< 0.01 versus NECA; \$, p< 0.01 versus Cl-IB-MECA.

DISCUSSION

Chronic inflammatory processes are based on a sustained and tightly regulated communication network among different cells types. It is generally accepted that fibroblast-like synoviocytes have a key function in the development of sustained inflammation in joint diseases such as OA. The aetiology of OA is multifactorial and includes the release of both systemic and local biochemical factors (Peat et al., 2001). Recently, growing evidence suggest that synovial inflammation have an important role in the pathophysiology of OA contributing to signs and symptoms of the disease (Liu et al., 2009; Sutton et al., 2009). The activation by inflammatory stimuli of fibroblast-like synoviocytes mediate the production of different chemokines, cytokines and matrix metalloproteinases (Georganas et al., 2000; Nanki et al., 2001). There is growing evidence that pro-inflammatory mediators could play critical roles in the development of inflammation and damage in joint tissues (Wen et al., 2006; Inoue et al., 2005). Several studies have indicated that adenosine, via stimulation of its receptors, is involved in the modulation of inflammatory processes (Palmer and Trevethic, 2008; Ham and Rees, 2008; Gessi et al., 2008). In particular, A_{2A} AR agonists inhibit cartilage damage when used in the treatment of septic arthritis by diminishing IL-8 expression and reduce rat adjiuvant induced arthritis (Cohen et al., 2005). In fibroblast-like synoviocytes the selective involvement of A2A and A3 ARs in the immunomodulatory actions of methotrexate has been studied (Montesinos et al., 2003; Cronstein, 2005). Recently, A₃ AR stimulation inhibits human fibroblastlike synoviocytes growth and the inflammatory manifestations of arthritis (Ochaion et al., 2008). The purpose of the present paper was to document the expression and the binding parameters of A₁, A_{2A}, A_{2B} and A₃ ARs in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes derived from OA patients. ARs are coexpressed in these cells and were investigated through mRNA, western blotting analysis and saturation binding experiments. To exactly quantify the affinity and density of ARs, saturation binding studies were performed. In human synoviocytes ARs affinities (K_D, nM) were in the nanomolar range and the receptor densities (Bmax, fmol/mg protein) were from 125 to 287 fmol/mg protein. No data are present in literature on the ARs binding parameters in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes. Moreover, binding and functional characterization was previously performed in
bovine fibroblast-like synoviocytes. In these cells, ARs affinity was similar in nanomolar range to those observed in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes. ARs density was higher in human than bovine fibroblast-like synoviocytes (Varani et al., 2008). The competition binding experiments in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes were performed with the aim to calculate the affinity of adenosine agonists and antagonists which have been also studied in functional assays. As expected, competition of [³H] DPCPX and [³H] MRE 3008F20 by increasing concentrations of CHA and Cl-IB-MECA, respectively revealed two binding sites for these agonists probably due to the presence of two different high and low receptor affinity states. On the contrary, competition binding curves with antagonists were monophasic (Varani et al., 2000; Merighi et al., 2001). In addition, competition of [³H] ZM 241385 and [³H] MRE 2029F20 by increasing concentrations of CGS 21680 and NECA, respectively showed simple inhibition curves excluding the involvement of multiple affinity states because of the tight coupling between A₂ ARs and Gs proteins (Varani et al., 1998; Gessi et al., 2005). Affinity values of adenosine agonists and antagonists versus human ARs expressed in CHO or HEK 293 cells were closely similar to those obtained in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes. CGS 21680 and Cl-IB-MECA were selective versus A_{2A} and A₃ ARs, CHA was able to interact with A₁ and A₃ ARs whilst NECA bound all ARs. The adenosine antagonists, DPCPX, SCH 58261, MRE 2029F20 and MRE 3008F20 chosen in this study are selective versus A_1 , A_{2A} , A_{2B} and A₃ ARs, respectively. Another purpose of the present study was to investigate the ARs functional activities in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes where adenosine agonists and antagonists were able to modulate cAMP production. As expected CGS 21680 and NECA stimulated adenylyl cyclase activity whereas CHA and Cl-IB-MECA decreased cAMP production. These adenosine agonist effects have been blocked by selected antagonists with the aim to discriminate selectively the involvement of specific ARs. These data are in agreement with those reported in human or bovine fibroblast-like synoviocytes where A2A and A2B ARs are coupled positively to adenylyl cyclase whereas A₁ and A₃ ARs are linked to Gi proteins and inhibit cAMP production (Boyle et al., 1996; Varani et al., 2008). There is a large body of evidence suggesting that p38 MAPK represents one key signal transduction pathway crucial for the induction and maintenance of chronic inflammation (Westra and Limburg, 2006). This network comprises the

extracellular mediators such as cytokines, chemokines and matrix-degrading proteases which orchestrate the participation of the cells in chronic inflammatory process (Karin, 2005). The mirrors of this outside communication world are intracellular transcription factor pathways such as NF-kB, which shuttle information about inflammatory stimuli to the cell nucleus (Pomerantz and Baltimore, 2002). To address this issue, p38 MAPK activation was studied following ARs modulation in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes. We found that the stimulation of A_{2A} and A₃ ARs by using CGS 21680 and Cl-IB-MECA, respectively mediated a significant decrease of the phosphorylated, hence activated form of p38 MAPK. In literature are present few papers on human fibroblast-like synoviocytes and functional response of ARs (Boyle et al., 1996; Ochaion et al., 2008). On the other hand these data are in agreement with those previously reported in human pro-monocytic U937 cells where CGS 21680 decreased phospho-p38 protein levels (Fotheringham et al., 2004). It is well known that phospho-p38 acts as a kinase implicated in the phosphorylation of the NF-kB inhibitors IkB, allowing the p50 and p65 subunits to enter the nucleus and promoting the transcription of inflammatory genes. Therefore, we have investigated the effects of adenosine agonists and antagonists on p50 and p65 subunit levels in the nuclear extract of human fibroblast-like synoviocytes. Our data demonstrated that adenosine agonists were able to reduce p50 and p65 levels primarily through the involvement of A_{2A} and A₃ ARs as revealed by the use of adenosine antagonists. In particular, the effect of CHA, that bind A1 and A3 ARs with high affinity and A_{2A} ARs with low affinity (Table 3.1), was reverted only by the A₃ antagonist MRE3008F20 and not by the A₁ antagonist DPCPX excluding the involvement of A1 ARs. The effect of the A2A agonist CGS 21680 was reverted by the selective A_{2A} antagonist SCH 58261, confirming the involvement of A_{2A} AR in the reduction in p50 and p65 levels. The inhibitory effect of the adenosine agonist NECA was only abrogated by SCH 58261 and MRE 3008F20, but not by the A_1 antagonist DPCPX or the A_{2B} antagonist MRE 2029F20, demonstrating the involvement of A_{2A} and A₃ ARs but not of A₁ or A_{2B} ARs. The direct role of A3 AR in the down-regulation of nuclear NF-kB levels was further confirmed by the inhibitory effect of the A3 agonist Cl-IB-MECA that was completely abrogated by the A₃ antagonist MRE 3008F20.

The present data strongly support several pieces of evidence performed in different cellular models such as murine microglial cells, mouse macrophages and leukemic cell line indicating that adenosine and in particular A_{2A} and A_3 stimulation mediated the inhibition of NF-kB (Lee et al., 2006; Martin et al., 2006; Majumdar and Aggarwal, 2003). The transcription factor NF-kB represents a major component of the TNF- α gene activation machinery and its activation is necessary for TNF- α production. In our study we found that the suppression of TNF- α release was mediated by A_{2A} and A₃ ARs. Our data are in agreement with those previously reported by several authors showing that A_{2A} and A_3 ARs mediated a reduction of TNF-α production (Haskò et al., 1996; Szabò et al., 1998; Haskò et al., 2000; Mabley et al., 2003). This reduction of TNF- α levels could be explained as a direct inhibition of NF-kB, thus at a transcriptional level (Lee et al., 2006). Alternatively, it is also possible that A_{2A} and A_3 ARs-mediated inhibition of TNF-a production is closely associated with p38 MAPK that has been proposed to be a key regulator of TNF- α mRNA stability and protein translation (Fotheringham et al., 2004). The cell signalling pathways initiated by proinflammatory events converge on the activation of p38 and NF-kB which are also implicated in the regulation of IL-8 expression, a critical mediator of tissue inflammation. As a result of p38 and NF-kB inhibition, A2A and A3 ARs stimulation resulted in a decrease of IL-8 production. Previous contrasting studies obtained in different cells have reported that adenosine acts as a positive or negative regulator of IL-8 suggesting that this disparity of the effect could be in part explained by the presence of different target cells or tissues (Jijon et al., 2005; Murakami et al., 2001). To better investigate the role of G proteins in A_{2A} or A₃ ARs functionality, selective experiments were performed with the aim to evaluate the effect of Cl-IB-MECA in the presence of Gi protein or PI3K inhibitors. We found that the A₃-mediated reduction in NF-kB activation and cytokines release was not affected by the block of Gi proteins but only by the inhibition of PI3K suggesting that, for these responses, A3 AR signals through a PI3K pathway. In contrast, the A_{2A} AR-mediated reduction of inflammatory responses was most likely due to the activation of Gs protein and to the increase in cAMP levels, as demonstrated by the use of adenylyl cyclase direct activator forskolin that leads to similar responses to those of A_{2A} ARs. Clearly, further studies will be needed regarding the differential roles of other MAPKs and transcription factors on

various inflammatory mediators to delineate the mechanisms underlying cytokine production by adenosine signalling. In conclusion, the novel findings of this study in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes from OA patients are represented by the presence of ARs that are also quantified by high levels of density. The functional results revealed the direct involvement of A_{2A} and A_3 ARs in the inhibition of inflammatory cascade in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes. Taken together these results suggest that ARs could represent potential therapeutic pharmacological target in the complex pathways regulating inflammatory processes in joint diseases.

REFERENCES

Altman R, Barkin RL (2009) Topical therapy for osteoarthritis: clinical and pharmacologic perspectives. Postgrad Med 121(2):139-147.

Abeles AM, Pillinger MH (2006) The role of the synovial fibroblast in rheumatoid arthritis: cartilage destruction and the regulation of matrix metalloproteinases. Bull NYU Hosp Jt Dis 64(1-2):20-24.

Barnes PJ, Karin M (1997) Nuclear factor-kappaB: a pivotal transcription factor in chronic inflammatory diseases. N Engl J Med 336(15):1066-1071.

Benito MJ, Veale DJ, FitzGerald O, Van den Berg WB, Bresnihan B (2005) Synovial tissue inflammation in early and late osteoarthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 64 (9):1263-1267.

Boyle DL, Sajjadi FG, Firestein GS (1996) Inhibition of synoviocyte collagenase gene expression by adenosine receptor stimulation. Arthritis Rheum 39(6):923-930.

Bradford M (1976) A rapid and sensitive method for the quantification of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein dye-binding. Anal Biochem 72:248-254.

Burnstock G (2008) Purinergic signalling and disorders of the central nervous system. Nat Rev Drug Discov 7(7):575-590.

Cohen SB, Leo BM, Baer GS, Turner MA, Beck G, Diduch DR (2005) An adenosine A_{2A} receptor agonist reduces interleukin-8 expression and glycosaminoglycan loss following septic arthrosis. J Orthop Res 23:1172-1178.

Cronstein BN (2005) Low-dose methotrexate: a mainstay in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. Pharmacol Rev 57:163-172.

De Mattei, Varani K, Masieri FF, Pellati A, Ongaro A, Fini M, Cadossi R, Vincenzi F, Borea PA, Caruso A (2009). Adenosine analogs and electtromagnetic fields inhibit prostaglandin E2 release in bovine synovial fibroblast. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage 17 (2):252-262.

Fotheringham JA, Mayne MB, Grant JA, Geiger JD (2004) Activation of adenosine receptors inhibits tumor necrosis factor-alpha release by decreasing TNF-alpha mRNA stability and p38 activity. Eur Pharmacol 497(1):87-95.

Georganas C, Liu H, Perlman H, Hoffmann A, Thimmapaya B, Pope RM (2000) Regulation of IL-6 and IL-8 expression in rheumatoid arthritis synovial fibroblasts: the dominant role for NF-kappa B but not C/EBP beta or c-Jun. J Immunol 165(12):7199-7206.

Gessi S, Cattabriga E, Avitabile A, Gafa' R, Lanza G, Cavazzini L, Bianchi N, Gambari R, Feo C, Liboni A, Gullini S, Leung E, Mac-Lennan S, Borea PA (2004) Elevated expression of A_3 adenosine receptors in human colorectal cancer is reflected in peripheral blood cells. Mol Pharmacol 65 (3):711-719.

Gessi S, Varani K, Merighi S, Cattabriga E, Pancaldi C, Szabadkai Y, Rizzuto R, Klotz KN, Leung E, Mac Lennan S, Baraldi PG, Borea PA (2005) Expression, pharmacological profile, and functional coupling of A_{2B} receptors in a recombinant system and in peripheral blood cells using a novel selective antagonist radioligand, [³H]MRE 2029-F20. Mol Pharmacol 67 (6):2137-2147.

Gessi S, Merighi S, Varani K, Leung E, Mac Lennan S, Borea PA (2008) The A_3 adenosine receptor: an enigmatic player in cell biology. Pharmacol Ther 117(1): 123-140.

Goldring MB, Goldring SR (2007) Osteoarthritis. Cell Physiol 213(3):626-634.

Gomez Cabrera MC, Martinez A, Santangelo G, Pallardò FV, Sastre J, Vina J (2006) Oxidative stress in marathon runners: interest of antioxidant supplementation. Br J Nutrition 96: 31-33.

Ham J, Rees DA (2008) The adenosine A_{2B} receptor: its role in inflammation. Endor Metab Immune Disord Drug Targets 8(4):244-254.

Haskò G, Szabò C, Nemeth ZH, Kvetan V, McCarthy Pastores S, Vizi ES (1996) Adenosine receptor agonists differentially regulate IL-10, TNF-α, and nitric oxide production in RAW 264.7 macrophages and in endotoxemic mice. The Journal of Immunology 157:4634-4640.

Haskò G, Kuhel DG, Chen JF, Schwarzschild A, Deitch EA, Mabley JC, Marton A, Szabò C (2000) Adenosine inhibits IL-12 and TNF- α production via adenosine A_{2A} receptor-dependent and independent mechanisms. Faseb J 14:2065-2074.

Haskò G, Linden J, Cronstein B, Pacher P (2008) Adenosine receptors: therapeutic aspects for inflammatory and immune diseases. Nat Rev Drug Discov 7 (9):759-770.

Inoue T, Hammaker D, Boyle DL, Firestein GS (2005) Regulation of p38 MAPK by MAPK kinases 3 and 6 in fibroblast-like synoviocytes. J Immunol 174(7):4301-4306.

Jijon HB, Walker J, Hoentien F, Diaz H, Ewaschuk J, Jobin C, Madsen KL (2005) Adenosine is a negative regulator of NF-kappaB and MAPK signaling in human intestinal ephithelial cells. Cell Immunol 237(2):86-95.

Karin M (2005) Inflammation-activated protein kinases as targets for drug development. Proc Am Thorac Soc 2(4):386-90.

Lee JY, Jhun BS, Oh YT, Lee JH, Choe W, Baik HH, Ha J, Yoon KS, Kim SS, Kang I (2006) Activation of adenosine A₃ receptor suppresses lipopolysaccharideinduced TNF-alpha production through inhibition of PI 3-kinase/Akt and NFkappaB activation in murine BV2 microglial cells. Neurosci Lett 396(1):1-6. Liu YZ, Jackson AP, Cosgrove SD (2009) Contribution of calcium-containing crystals to cartilage degradation and synovial inflammation in osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage 17:1333-1340.

Mabley J, Soriano F, Pacher P, Haskò G, Marton A, Wallace R, Salzman A, Szabò C (2003) The adenosine A_3 receptor agonist, N6-(3-iodobenzyl)-adenosine-5'-N-methyluronamide, is protective in two murine models of colitis. Eur J Pharmacol 466:323-329.

Majumdar S, Aggarwal BB (2003) Adenosine suppresses activation of nuclear factor-kappaB selectively induced by tumor necrosis factor in different cell types. Oncogene 22(8):1206-1218.

Martin L, Pingle SC, Hallam DM, Rybak LP, Ramkumar V (2006) Activation of the adenosine A₃ receptor in RAW 264.7 cells inhibits lipopolysaccharidestimulated tumor necrosis factor-alpha release by reducing calcium-dependent activation of nuclear factor-kappaB and extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 316(1):71-78.

Merighi S, Varani K, Gessi S, Cattabriga E, Iannotta V, Ulouglu C, Leung E, Borea PA (2001) Pharmacological and biochemical characterization of adenosine receptors in the human malignant melanoma A375 cell line. Br J Pharmacol 134 (6): 1215-1226.

Merighi S, Mirandola P, Milani D, Varani K, Gessi S, Klotz K-N, Leung E, Baraldi PG, Borea PA (2002) Adenosine receptors as mediators of both cell proliferation and cell death of cultured human melanoma cells. J Invest Dermatol 119: 923-933.

Miyashita T, Kawakami A, Nakashima T, Yamasaki S, Tamai M, Tanaka F, Kamachi M, Ida H, Migita K, Origuchi T, Nakao K, Eguchi K (2004) Osteoprotegerin (OPG) acts as an endogenous decoy receptor in tumour necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL)-mediated apoptosis of fibroblast-like synovial cells. Clin Exp Immunol. 137(2): 430-436.

Montesinos MC, Desai A, Delano D, Chen JF, Fink JS, Jacobson MA (2003) Adenosine A_{2A} or A_3 receptors are required for inhibition of inflammation by methotrexate and its analog MX-68. Arthritis Rheum 48:240-247.

Munson PJ, Rodbard D (1980) Ligand: a versatile computerized approach for the characterization of ligand binding systems. Anal Biochem 107:220-239.

Murakami S, Hashikawa T, Saho T, Takedachi M, Nozaki T, Shimabukuro Y, Okada H (2001) Adenosine regulates the IL-1 beta-induced cellular functions of human gingival fibroblasts. Int Immunol 13 (12):1533-1540.

Nanki T, Nagasaka K, Hayashida K, Saita Y, Miyasaka N (2001) Chemokines regulate IL-6 and IL-8 production by fibroblast-like synoviocytes from patients with rheumatoid arthritis. J Immunol 167(9):5381-5385.

Ochaion A, Bar-Yehuda S, Cohen S, Amital H, Jacobson KA, Joshi BV, Gao ZG, Barer F, Patoka R, Del Valle L, Perez-Liz G, Fishman P (2008) The A₃ adenosine receptor agonist CF502 inhibits the PI3K, PKB/Akt and NF-kappaB signaling pathway in synoviocytes from rheumatoid arthritis patients and in adjuvant-induced arthritis rats. Biochem Pharmacol 76(4):482-494.

Palmer TM, Trevethick Ma (2008) Suppression of inflammatory and immune responses by the A(2A) adenosine receptor: an introduction. Br J Pharmacol 153:27-34.

Peat G, Croft P, Hay E (2001) Clinical assessment of the osteoarthritis patient. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 15(4):527-544.

Pomerantz JL, Baltimore D (2002) Two pathways to NF-kappaB. Mol Cell 10 (4): 693-695.

Schulte G, Fredholm BB (2003) Signalling from adenosine receptors to mitogenactivated protein kinases. Cell Signal 15(9):813-827.

Sutton S, Clutterbuck A, Harris P, Gent T, Freeman S, Foster N, Barrett-Jolley R, Mobasheri A (2009) The contribution of the synovium, synovial derived inflammatory cytokines and neuropeptides to the pathogenesis of osteoarthritis. Vet J 179: 10-24.

Szabò C, Scott GS, Virag L, Egnaczyk G, Salzman AL, Shanley TP, Haskò G (1998) Suppression of macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-1α production and collagen-induced arthritis by adenosine receptor agonists. Br J Pharmacol 125: 379-387.

Varani K, Gessi S, Dionisotti S, Ongini E, Borea PA (1998) $[{}^{3}H]$ -SCH 58261 labelling of functional A_{2A} adenosine receptors in human neutrophil membranes. Br J Pharmacol 123(8):1723-1731.

Varani K, Merighi S, Gessi S, Klotz KN, Leung E, Baraldi PG, Cacciari B, Romagnoli R, Spalluto G, Borea PA (2000) [3 H]-MRE 3008-F20: a novel antagonist radioligand for the pharmacological and biochemical characterization of human A₃ adenosine receptors. Mol Pharmacol 57:968-975.

Varani K, Gessi S, Merighi S, Vincenzi F, Cattabriga E, Benini A, Klotz KN, Baraldi PG, Tabrizi MA, Lennan SM, Leung E, Borea PA (2005) Pharmacological characterization of novel adenosine ligands in recombinant and native human A_{2B} receptors. Biochem Pharmacol 70:1601-1612.

Varani K, De Mattei M, Vincenzi F, Gessi S, Merighi S, Pellati A, Ongaro A, Caruso A, Cadossi R, Borea PA (2008) Characterization of adenosine receptors in bovine chondrocytes and fibroblast-like synoviocytes exposed to low frequency low energy pulsed electromagnetic fields. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage 16(3):292-304.

Wen D, Nong Y, Morgan JG, Gangurde P, Bielecki A, Dasilva J, Keaveney M, Cheng H, Fraser C, Schopf L, Hepperle M, Harriman G, Jaffee, BD, Ocain TD

Xu Y (2006) A selective small molecule IkappaB kinase beta inhibitor blocks nuclear factor kappaB-mediated inflammatory responses in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes, chondrocytes and mast cells. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 317:989-1001.

Westra J, Limburg PC (2006) p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) in rheumatoid arthritis. Mini Rev Med Chem 6 (8): 867-874.

Zhang W, Moskowitz RW, Nuki G, Abramson S, Altman RD, Arden N, Bierma-Zeinstra S, Brandt KD, Croft P, Doherty M, Dougados M, Hochberg M, Hunter DJ, Kwoh K, Lohmander LS, Tugwell P (2008) OARSI recommendations for the management of hip and knee osteoarthritis, Part II: OARSI evidence-based, expert consensus guidelines. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 16 (2): 137-162.

CHAPTER 4:

Binding thermodynamic characterization of human P2X₁ and P2X₃ purinergic receptors.

INTRODUCTION

P2 purinergic receptors are divided in two subfamilies: G-protein coupled (P2Y) and ligand-gated ion channels (P2X). In mammalian cells eight P2Y (P2Y_{1,2,4,6,11,12,13,14}), 7 homomeric P2X (P2X₁₋₇) and four heteromeric (P2X_{2/3}, P2X_{1/5}, P2X_{2/6}, P2X_{4/6}) receptors have been cloned and characterized pharmacologically (North, 2002). Both of these receptor families are activated by the presence of extracellular ATP, an important local regulatory factor under physiological, inflammatory and neuropathic pain conditions (North et al., 2000; Burnstock, 2006; Sawynok, 2007). Briefly, P2X receptors are abundantly distributed, and functional responses have been reported in neurons, glia, epithelia, endothelia, bone, muscle and hemopoietic tissues (Khakh and North, 2006). The widespread expression of $P2X_1$ receptors suggests that ATP may contribute in various pathophysiological conditions (Burnstock and Knight, 2004). P2X₃ receptors have been found primarily localised to specific subsets of sensory nociceptor neurones, and there is now much evidence that P2X₃ homomeric and P2X_{2/3} heteromeric receptors in sensory pathways are involved in neuropathic and chronic pain (Kennedy, 2005; Jarvis, 2003). Pharmacological methods and manipulations, that can differentiate between P2X1 and P2X3 receptors, could be very useful in the development of P2X₁ or P2X₃ receptor-specific ligands (Abbracchio and Williams, 2001; King and Notrh, 2000). This is especially important because the rapidly desensitising kinetics and the agonist and antagonist pharmacology of these two P2X receptors are remarkably similar to each other (North, 2000; North, 2002; Burnstock, 2006). ATP, and the ATP analogues, BzATP, 2meSATP and $\alpha\beta$ meATP show equipotent agonist profiles at P2X₁ and P2X₃ receptors (Jacobson et al., 2002). Considerable changes in binding affinity of purinergic antagonists are also reported probably due to the little information available with respect to the regions of the receptor involved in antagonist binding (North, 2000, 2002). More recently, a submicromolar affinity, non-nucleotide antagonist, A 317491, has been described which is more than 100-fold selective for $P2X_3/P2X_{2/3}$ receptors over $P2X_1$ receptors in electrophysiological and calcium flux functional assays (Jarvis et al., 2004; Burgard et al., 2000). Radioligand binding techniques have had limited success in differentiating between endogenous or recombinant P2X receptors, probably due to the lack of highly

selective and potent ligands (Jacobson et al., 2002). The ATP bioisosteres, $[{}^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP, $[{}^{35}S]ADP\beta S$ and $[{}^{35}S]ATP\gamma S$ have been used in ligand-binding studies of purinergic receptors in various tissues and recombinant expression systems (Jarvis et al., 2004; Bo and Burnstock, 1990; Michel et al., 1995, 1996; Schafer and Reiser, 1997). In spite of the problems associated with the use of these radioligands, information obtained from specific binding assays has long proved invaluable for screening potential drug candidates, for basic pharmacological characterization of receptor subtypes and for identification of signal transduction pathways. It can be of interest to obtain determinations of drug-receptor binding association (K_A) and dissociation (1/K_A or K_D) constants over a range of temperatures, in contrast to the single-point temperature assays, which add significant information on the molecular mechanisms involved in the drug-receptor interaction (Borea et al., 2000). Determination of K_A or K_D values makes it possible to calculate the standard free energy ΔG° = -RtlnK_A = RTlnK_D (T=298.15 K), but not its two components, the equilibrium standard enthalpy $(\Delta H^\circ$) and entropy (ΔS°) as defined by the Gibbs equation $\Delta G^\circ = \Delta H^\circ$ -T $\Delta S^\circ.$ As a consequence, van't Hoff plot analysis was performed to obtain K_D values over a range of temperatures and to obtain the thermodynamic terms of this equation. From such analysis, it is generally proposed that standard enthalpy is a quantitative indicator of the changes in intermolecular bond energies, such as hydrogen bonding and van der Waals interactions, occurring during the binding. In addition standard entropy can be considered an indicator of the rearrangements undergone by the solvent, normally water molecules, during the same process (Borea et al., 2000). In the last few years it has been shown that the ΔH° and ΔS° values of drug interaction with a defined receptor can often give a simple in vitro way to discriminate agonists from antagonists suggesting the manner in which the drug interferes with the signal transduction pathways. Such "thermodynamic discrimination" reveals that the binding of agonists may be entropy-driven and that the antagonists are enthalpy-driven, or vice versa. At the present fourteen receptor systems have been extensively studied so far from thermodynamic point of view: eleven of these show the agonist-antagonist discrimination and three are not discriminated (Borea et al., 1996, 1998, 2000; Merighi et al., 2002; Gilli et al., 2005). In particular, all the ligand-gated ion channel receptors, i.e. glycine, GABA, 5HT₃ and neuronal nicotinic receptors have been reported to discriminate

in vitro the effect of their agonists and antagonists (Maksai, 2001; Gessi et al., 1999; Borea et al., 2004). Analysis of thermodynamic data of drug-receptor interactions appears to be an effective tool in the study of the role, at the molecular level, played during the binding of the ligands (Stoop et al., 1997; Froldi et al., 1997; Borea et al., 1995). From this background, the aim of this study was to determine the thermodynamic parameters of typical agonists and antagonists in HEK 293 cells transfected with human P2X₁ and P2X₃ receptors by using [³H] $\alpha\beta$ meATP radioligand binding assays and van't Hoff analysis in order to gain further insight into possible differences in pharmacological properties between these two therapeutically important P2X receptor subtypes. This research could provide information in the development of novel and potent P2X₁ and P2X₃ purinergic ligands

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Materials

 $[^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP ($[^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ methyleneATP specific activity 15.0 Ci mmol⁻¹) was obtained from NEN-Perkin Elmer Life and Analytical Sciences (USA). ATP, ADP. $\alpha\beta$ meATP, **BzATP** (benzoilATP), TNP-ATP (2'-3'-O-(2,4,6trinitrophenyl)adenosine 5'-triphosphate), suramin, NF023 (8,8'-[carbonylbis (imino-3,1-phenylene carbonylimino)]bis(1,3,5-naphthalene-trisulfonic acid). PPADS (pyridoxal 5-phosphate 6-azophenyl-2',4'-disulphonic acid), A317491 (5-({[3-phenoxybenzyl][(1S)-1,2,3,4-tetrahydro-1-naphthalenyl]amino}carbonyl)-1,2,4-benzenetri-carboxylic acid) and apyrase were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich Advanced Sciences (Milan, Italy). NF279 (8,8'-[carbonylbis(imino-4,1phenylenecarbonyl-imino-4,1-phenylene carbonyl- imino)] bis-1,3,5-naphthalenetrisulphonic acid)and 2meSATP (2methylSATP) were obtained from Tocris Cookson Ltd (Bristol, UK). All other reagents were of analytical grade and obtained from commercial sources.

Cell culture and membrane preparation

 $HEK293-hP2X_1$ and $HEK293-hP2X_3$ cells were kindly provided by Prof. A. Surprenant (Institute of Molecular Physiology, University of Sheffield, Sheffield, England, UK). Methods of maintenance of HEK293 cells and their stable transfection with hP2X₁ and hP2X₃ receptors cDNA have been described previously (Stoop et al., 1997). Briefly, the cells were grown adherently and maintained in DMEM/F12, containing 10% FBS, penicillin (100 U/ml), streptomycin (100 μ g/ml) and Geneticin (G418, 0.2 mg/ml) at 37°C in 5% CO₂/95% air. Cells were split 2 or 3 times weekly at a ratio of 1:5. For membrane preparation, the culture medium was removed and the cell suspension was washed with PBS and scraped in ice-cold hypotonic buffer. The cell suspension was homogenized with Polytron (Kinematica, Switzerland) at a setting of 6 for 40 sec and the homogenate was spun for 30 min at 100,000 g and frozen at -80°C until binding experiments.

Effect of various factors on purinergic receptor binding assays

The effect of pH at the different values (6.0, 7.0, 7.4, 8.0, 9.0) on the $[{}^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP binding at the 3 nM concentration was evaluated and obtained incubating in Tris HCl 50 mM the HEK-293 membranes containing hP2X₁ or hP2X₃ purinergic receptors. The effect of different concentrations of Ca²⁺ (from 0 to 10 mM) and Mg²⁺ (from 0 to 10 mM) was also investigated by using 3 nM of $[{}^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP as radioligand in Tris HCl 50 mM pH 7.4 and HEK-293 membranes containing hP2X₁ or hP2X₃ purinergic receptors. The effect of Apyrase (1 U/ml for 30 min at 37°C) was evaluated incubating the hP2X₁ or hP2X₃ membranes in Tris HCl 50 mM pH 7.4 CaCl₂, 4 mM and 3 nM of $[{}^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP as radioligand. Non specific binding was determined in the presence of 10 μ M $\alpha\beta$ meATP (Froldi et al., 1997). After the incubation time (40 min at 5°C) bound and free radioactivity were separated by rapid filtration through Whatman GF/B glass-fiber filters using a Brandel instrument. The filter bound radioactivity was counted on a Scintillation Counter Tri Carb Packard 2500 TR (efficiency 57%).

Kinetics of [³H]αβmeATP binding

Kinetic studies of 3 nM [3 H] $\alpha\beta$ meATP were performed by incubating membranes in Tris HCl 50 mM, CaCl₂ 4 mM pH 7.4 obtained as described above in a thermostatic bath at 5°C. For the measurement of the association rate of human P2X₁ receptors, the reaction was terminated at different times (from 1 to 80 min) by rapid filtration under vacuum, followed by washing four times with ice

cold buffer. Similarly, for human P2X₃ receptors the reaction was terminated from 10 sec to 30 min by rapid filtration. For the measurement of the dissociation rate, the samples were incubated at 5°C for 40 min and then 10 μ M $\alpha\beta$ meATP was added to the mixture. The reaction was terminated for P2X₁ receptors from 1 to 40 min and for P2X₃ receptors from 30 sec to 40 min.

Saturation and competition binding experiments

Saturation and competition binding assays were performed on HEK293-hP2X₁ and HEK293-hP2X₃ membranes at 5, 10, 15, 20, 25 and 30°C, in a thermostatic bath assuring a temperature of ± 0.1 °C. Analogous experiments in HEK293 wild type and in HEK293 transfected with the vector alone were executed. Saturation binding experiments of $[{}^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP (0.1 to 50 nM) to the membranes previously obtained were performed in Tris-HCl 50 mM, CaCl₂ 4 mM pH 7.4 for an incubation time ranged from 40 min at 5°C to 90 min at 30°C according to the results of previous time-course experiments. Competition experiments of 3 nM $[^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP were performed in the same buffer described above and at least 8-10 different concentrations of P2X₁ and P2X₃ agonists or antagonists studied. Non specific binding was determined in the presence of 10 μ M $\alpha\beta$ meATP (Froldi et al., 1997). Bound and free radioactivity were separated by rapid filtration through Whatman GF/B glass-fiber filters using a Brandel instrument. The filter bound radioactivity was counted on a Scintillation Counter Tri Carb Packard 2500 TR (efficiency 57%). The affinity values expressed as K_D or Ki were used in the thermodynamic parameter determination.

Thermodynamic data determination

For a generic binding equilibrium L+R = LR (L = ligand, R = receptor) the affinity association constant $K_A = 1/K_D$ is directly related to the standard free energy ΔG° ($\Delta G^{\circ} = -RT \ln K_A$) which can be separated in its enthalpic and entropic contributions according to the Gibbs equation: $\Delta G^{\circ} = \Delta H^{\circ} - T\Delta S^{\circ}$. The standard free energy was calculated as $\Delta G^{\circ} = -RT \ln K_A$ at 298.15 K, the standard enthalpy, ΔH° , from the van't Hoff plot $\ln K_A$ versus (1/T) (the slope of which is $-\Delta H^{\circ}/R$) and the standard entropy as $\Delta S^{\circ} = (\Delta H^{\circ} - \Delta G^{\circ})/T$ with T = 298.15 K and R = 8.314 J/K/mol (Borea et al., 1995, 2000, 2004).

Data analysis

Kinetic, saturation and competition binding experiments were analysed with the program Ligand (Bradford, 1976) which performs weighted non linear least-squares curve fitting program. The protein concentration was determined according to a Bio-Rad method with bovine albumin as reference standard (Munson and Rodbard, 1980). All experimental data are reported as mean \pm SEM of three or four independent experiments performed in duplicate.

RESULTS

Effect of various factors on purinergic receptor binding assays

Preliminary assays were performed to determine the experimental conditions for the evaluation of specific $[^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP binding. The incubation of the HEK293 $hP2X_1$ and $HEK293-hP2X_3$ membranes with apyrase (1U/ml) with the aim to eliminate extracellular ATP and minimize receptor desensitization during binding experiments produced no differences in the percentage of specific binding $(\text{HEK293-hP2X}_1 = 85 \pm 8\% \text{ and } 88 \pm 9\% \text{ or } \text{HEK293-hP2X}_3 = 89 \pm 9\% \text{ and } 92 \pm 10\%,$ respectively). The effect of pH values (from 6 to 9) on the $[^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP binding reveals that the optimal pH value for the binding experiments was around 7.4 in both cell lines examined (Figure 4.1A,C). The specific binding of $[^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP to HEK293-hP2X₁ (Figure 4.1B) and HEK293-hP2X₃ (Figure 4.1D) membranes increased of 8 and 6 fold, respectively with the raise of the Ca^{2+} concentration from 1 µM to 1 mM. On the contrary, further increasing in the calcium concentration from 1 to 10 mM led to a decline of specific $[^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP binding. The addition of Mg^{2+} (from 1 to 10 mM) in the same experimental conditions resulted in a strong reduction (80%, n=3) of the binding suggesting that the $[^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP binding was regulated in an opposite way by physiological concentrations of Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+} , respectively.

Kinetic binding assays to human P2X1 and P2X3 purinergic receptors

Kinetic behaviour of $[{}^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP binding was studied at 5°C in HEK293hP2X₁ (Figure 4.2) and HEK293-hP2X₃ (Figure 4.3) membranes. Figures 4.2A and 4.3A show that $[{}^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP binding reached equilibrium after approximately 20 and 5 min, respectively and was stable for at least 90 min. [³H] $\alpha\beta$ meATP binding was rapidly reversed by the addition of 10 μ M $\alpha\beta$ meATP as shown in figures 4.2B and 4.3B. Association and dissociation curves in HEK293-hP2X₁ and HEK293-hP2X₃ membranes were fitted to a one component model significantly better than to a two component model (p<0.05). The rate constants were: $k_{obs} = 0.106 \pm 0.012$ 1/min and $= 0.712 \pm 0.010$ 1/min, respectively. The k_{+1} values were $= 0.017 \pm 0.002$ 1/min nM and $= 0.133 \pm 0.014$ 1/min nM, respectively. The apparent equilibrium dissociation constant (K_D) was estimated to be 3.29 nM and 2.35 nM, respectively.

Saturation binding assays to human P2X₁ and P2X₃ purinergic receptors

Saturation binding experiments in HEK 293 cells were performed to better characterize human P2X₁ and P2X₃ purinergic receptors and evaluate affinity (K_D) and receptor density (Bmax) values (Table 4.1). These binding parameters were determined at various temperatures by using $[^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP as radioligand at different concentrations. In both purinergic receptors examined the K_D values change with temperature and Bmax values appear to be largerly independent of it. Figures 4.4 and 4.5 illustrate saturation binding curves and Scatchard plot relative to human P2X₁ and P2X₃ purinergic receptors, respectively. Scatchard plots were linear at all temperatures investigated and computer analysis of the data failed to show a significantly better fit to a two site than to a one site binding model, indicating that only one class of high affinity binding site was present under our experimental conditions. Saturation binding experiments performed employing HEK 293 wild type and HEK 293 transfected with the vector alone failed to show significant values of specific binding (n=4 experiments, % of specific binding = 2 \pm 1% and 3 \pm 1%, respectively) suggesting that the P2X₁ and P2X₃ transfection is essential to the presence of specific binding.

Competition binding assays to human P2X₁ and P2X₃ purinergic receptors

Figures 4.6 and 4.7 show the dose response curves of $[^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP binding in HEK293-hP2X₁ and HEK293-hP2X₃ membranes by using typical agonists and antagonists. The order of potency in $[^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP displacement assays for purinergic agonists in HEK293-hP2X₁ was as follows: $\alpha\beta$ meATP > BzATP> 2meSATP > ATP > ADP. A similar order of potency was also obtained in

HEK293-hP2X₃ even if the affinity values were much higher than in HEK293-hP2X₁ membranes. The order of potency of antagonists in HEK293-hP2X₁ was similar to those obtained in HEK293-hP2X₃ as follows: TNP-ATP > A 317491 > NF 279 > NF 023 > Suramin > PPADS and TNP-ATP > A 317491 > NF 023 > Suramin > NF 279 > PPADS, respectively.

Thermodynamic analysis to human P2X₁ and P2X₃ purinergic receptors

The van't Hoff plots show that the effect of temperature on the equilibrium binding association constants, K_A appears to be essentially linear in the range 4-30°C for purinergic ligands examined to human P2X₁ and P2X₃ purinergic receptors (Figures 4.8 and 4.9). Slopes of van't Hoff plots are positive for agonists and antagonists of P2X₁ purinergic receptors showing that the affinities decrease with the increase of the temperature (Table 4.2A). The slopes of van't Hoff plots regarding P2X₃ purinergic receptors are positive for agonists whose affinities decrease with the increase of the temperature and negative for antagonists whose affinities are improved by an increase in temperature (Table 4.2B). Final thermodynamic parameters calculated for the binding equilibria of the different compounds investigated are reported in Table 4.3. In P2X₁ purinergic receptors ΔG° values range from -46.0 to - 37.4 kJ/mol for agonists and from -30.1 to -25.5 kJ/mol for antagonists. In P2X₃ purinergic receptors ΔG° values range from -46.2 to -41.0 kJ/mol for agonists and from -39.8 to -29.3 kJ/mol for antagonists. Equilibrium standard enthalpy ΔH° and entropy ΔS° values show similar values for agonists and antagonists examined suggesting that P2X₁ purinergic receptors are not thermodynamically discriminated. The analysis of thermodynamic parameters of P2X₃ purinergic receptors shows that the binding for agonists is always enthalpy- and entropy-driven (ΔH° values ranging from -26 to -18 kJ/mol and ΔS° values from 59 to 68 J/K/mol) while for antagonists it is totally entropydriven (ΔH° values ranging from 14 to 36 kJ/mol and ΔS° values from 149 to 249 J/K/mol). Therefore, agonists and antagonists at P2X₃ purinergic receptors are thermodynamically discriminated. Interestingly, the compound TNP-ATP, reported to be from a functional point of view as a purinergic antagonist (Burgard et al., 2000), shows a typical agonist behaviour with an affinity value and thermodynamic parameters strictly similar to those obtained for the other purinergic agonists. Figure 4.10 summarizes the results in the form $-T\Delta S^{\circ}$ versus

 ΔH° scatter plot (T = 298.15 K) showing that for human P2X₁ receptors the points are present in the region that characterises the enthalpy and entropy-driven binding without a thermodynamically discrimination. In human P2X₃ purinergic receptors antagonists are clustered in the endothermic region ($14 \leq \Delta H^{\circ} \leq 36$ kJ/mol) with large positive entropy values (-74.20 \leq -T $\Delta S^{\circ} \leq$ -44.40 kJ/mol) revealing that their binding is totally entropy-driven. Agonist binding is enthalpy and entropy-driven (-26 $\leq \Delta H^{\circ} \leq$ -18 kJ/mol and -21.75 \leq -T $\Delta S^{\circ} \leq$ -17.58 kJ/mol).

Table 4.1: Binding parameters ofHEK293-hP2X1andHEK293-hP2X3
membranes (A) and thermodynamic parameters for the binding equilibrium
of [³ H]αβmeATP in the same substrates (B).

(A) [³ H]αβme ATP binding	5°C (278 K)	10°C (283 K)	15°C (288 K)	20°C (293 K)	25°C (298 K)	30°C (303 K)
All billung	5 C (270 K)	10 C (203 K)	15 C (200 K)	20 C (2)3 K)	25 C (270 K)	50 C (505 K)
HEK293-hP2X ₁	2.2.0.2	4.1.0.4	4.9.0.4	C 1 0 C	0.1.07	11 1 . 1 1
$\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{D}}$ (n \mathbf{M})	3.2 ± 0.3	4.1 ± 0.4	4.8 ± 0.4	6.4 ± 0.6	8.1±0.7	11.1±1.1
Bmax (fmol/mg protein)	3120±290	3200±310	3300±320	3400±330	3050±315	3500±325
HEK293-hP2X ₃ K _D (nM)	2.6±0.3	3.5±0.4	4.0±0.4	4.9±0.5	6.2±0.6	7.5±0.7
Bmax (fmol/mg protein)	18800±1600	18900±1650	19000±1700	19200±1750	18500±1520	19500±1800

(B) Cell lines	$\Delta \mathbf{G}^{\circ} \left(\mathbf{kJ/mol} \right)$	$\Delta \mathbf{H}^{\circ}$ (kJ/mol)	$\Delta S^{\circ} (J/mol/K)$
HEK293-hP2X ₁	-46.0±0.2	-32±3	46±3
HEK293-hP2X ₃	-46.7±0.2	-28±2	64±6

Table 4.2A: Affinities, ex	pressed as Ki values	(nM) of selected	purinergic compounds	to human P2X ₁	receptors expressed	l in
HEK293 cells						

Ligand	5 °C 278 K	10 °C 283 K	15 °C 288 K	20 °C 293 K	25 °C 298 K	30 °C 303 K
Purinergic						
Agonists	Ki (nM)	Ki (nM)	Ki (nM)	Ki (nM)	Ki (nM)	Ki (nM)
ATP	120±10	150±14	180±15	215±20	250±24	306±28
ADP	125±11	155±13	200±16	227±18	245±22	316±30
αβmeATP	3.5±0.3	4.2±0.4	4.8±0.5	6.4 ± 0.6	8.1±0.7	$11.4{\pm}1.1$
2meSATP	100±10	120±11	150±12	180±15	200±18	250±22
BzATP	60±6	90±9	113±10	137±12	168±18	200±16
Purinergic Antagonists						
Suramin	7500 ± 650	8300±730	9600±850	11200±950	13700±1100	16700±1200
NF023	6140±500	7500±600	10000±970	11200 ± 1050	12800 ± 1080	14000 ± 1270
TNP-ATP	50±4	60±5	75±7	92±8	113±10	137±15
PPADS	16700±1500	18500±1700	20400±2000	27500±2400	30400±2800	33600±3120
A317491	2500±220	3000±210	3500±250	4300±300	5000±420	5600±510
NF279	4000±300	4500±350	5000±380	5600±460	6800±610	8500±720

Ligand	5 °C 278 K	10 °C 283 K	15 °C 288 K	20 °C 293 K	25 °C 298 K	30 °C 303 K
Purinergic						
Agonists	Ki (nM)	Ki (nM)	Ki (nM)	Ki (nM)	Ki (nM)	Ki (nM)
ATP	15±2	18±2	20±2	25±2	30±3	37±4
ADP	30±3	37±3	45±4	50±5	60±5	75±6
αβmeATP	2.9±0.3	4.1±0.4	4.6±0.5	5.3±0.5	7.6±0.6	9.2±0.8
2meSATP	5.1±0.4	6.8±0.5	8.2±0.7	9.7±0.8	11.2±1.0	13.8±1.2
BZATP	5.4±0.4	7.2±0.5	9.4±0.7	10.7±0.9	12.5±1.1	14.9±1.3
Purinergic						
Antagonists						
Suramin	4000±380	3730±350	3100±280	2800±245	2500±240	2100±180
NF023	3500±320	3200±300	3000±260	2700±252	2300±210	2000±195
TNP-ATP	28±3	34±3	40±4	46±4	50±5	60±5
PPADS	20000±1850	15000±1200	12000±1100	9170±840	7500±720	6000±510
A317491	250±22	226±20	185±15	137±12	100±9	70±6
NF279	10000±920	9170±810	8290±780	7500±740	6790±630	5560±450

Table 4.2B: Affinities, expressed as Ki values (nM) of selected purinergic compounds to human P2X₃ receptors expressed in HEK293 cells

Table 4.3: Thermodynamic parameters for the binding equilibrium of $[{}^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP to human P2X₁ (A) and P2X₃ (B) purinergic receptors expressed in HEK293 cells.

(A)	$\Delta \mathbf{G}^{\circ}$	$\Delta \mathbf{H}^{\circ}$	$\Delta \mathbf{S}^{\circ}$
Ligand	(kJ/mol)	(kJ/mol)	(J/K/mol)
Purinergic Agonists			
ATP	-37.4±0.1	-25±3	43±3
ADP	-37.6±0.1	-24±2	47±3
αβmeATP	-46.0±0.2	-31±3	51±4
2meSATP	-37.8±0.1	-24±1	46±3
BZATP	-38.4±0.1	-23±2	50 <u>+</u> 4
Purinergic Antagonists			
Suramin	-27.8±0.1	-21±2	21±3
NF023	-27.6±0.1	-22±2	20±2
TNP-ATP	-39.3±0.2	-27±3	41±4
PPADS	-25.5±0.1	-20±2	17±1
A317491	-30.1±0.2	-22±3	27±2
NF279	-29.3±0.1	-19±1	34±2

(B)	$\Delta \mathbf{G}^{\circ}$	$\Delta \mathbf{H}^{\circ}$	$\Delta \mathbf{S}^{\circ}$
Ligand	(kJ/mol)	(kJ/mol)	(J/K/mol)
Purinergic Agonists			
ATP	-42.7±0.1	-24±1	62±5
ADP	-41.0±0.1	-24±2	59±4
αβmeATP	-46.2±0.2	-26±3	68±5
2meSATP	-45.1±0.2	-26±2	65±5
BZATP	-44.9±0.1	-18±2	64 <u>+</u> 4
Purinergic Antagonists			
Suramin	-31.9±0.1	18±2	168±8
NF023	-32.0±0.1	$14{\pm}1$	153±8
TNP-ATP	-41.4±0.2	-20±2	73±6
PPADS	-29.3±0.1	36±3	218±9
A317491	-39.8±0.2	35±3	249±9
NF279	-29.5±0.1	15±2	149±7

Figure 4.1: Effect of pH on $[^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP binding in HEK293-hP2X₁ and HEK293-hP2X₃ membranes (A,C). Effect of Ca²⁺ on $[^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP binding in HEK293-hP2X₁ and HEK293-hP2X₃ membranes (B,D).



Figure 4.2: Kinetics of $[^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP binding to HEK-293-hP2X₁ membranes with associaton (A) and dissociation (B) curves.



Time (min)

Figure 4.3: Kinetics of $[^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP binding to HEK-293-hP2X₃ membranes with associaton (A) and dissociation (B) curves.



Figure 4.4: Saturation curves of $[^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP to HEK-293-hP2X₁ membranes at 5 and 25 °C (A) and relative Scatchard plot (B).



Figure 4.5: Saturation curves of $[^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP to HEK-293-hP2X₃ membranes at 5 and 25 °C (A) and relative Scatchard plot (B).



Figure 4.6: Competition curves of specific $[^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP binding to HEK-293-hP2X₁ by purinergic agonists (A) and antagonists (B).



Figure 4.7: Competition curves of specific $[^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP binding to HEK-293-hP2X₃ by purinergic agonists (A) and antagonists (B).



Figure 4.8: van't Hoff plots showing the effect of temperature on the equilibrium binding association constant, K_A , for $P2X_1$ purinergic agonists (A) and antagonists (B).





Figure 4.9: van't Hoff plots showing the effect of temperature on the equilibrium binding association constant, K_A , for P2X₃ purinergic agonists (A) and antagonists (B).





Figure 4.10: Scatter plot showing $-T\Delta S^{\circ}$ versus ΔH° values for purinergic ligands studied in HEK-293-P2X₁ (A) and HEK-293-P2X₃ (B)





DISCUSSION

Thermodynamic parameters have been collected for a remarkable number of ligands at $P2X_1$ and $P2X_3$ receptors, including full, partial and inverse agonists or antagonists (Borea et al., 2000). The information provided by these data could be useful from a pharmacological point of view to discover new thermodynamic relationships related to drug-receptor interactions and their molecular mechanisms (Gilli et al., 1994; Grunwald and Steel, 1995; Raffa, 2001). In the last few years, it has been reported that equilibrium standard enthalpy (ΔH°) and entropy (ΔS°) values of drug interaction with a defined receptor can often give a simple "in vitro" way to discriminate the capability of the drug to interfere with the signal transduction pathways (Borea et al., 1996, 1998, 2000; Merighi et al., 2002; Gilli et al., 2005; Lorenzen et al., 2000). This phenomenon, called "thermodynamic discrimination" has been evaluated for various membrane and cytoplasmatic/nuclear receptors. Six G-protein coupled receptors such as β adrenergic, D₂ dopamine, 5HT_{1A} serotonin and A₁, A_{2A} and A₃ ARs subtypes were studied and four out of six of these were thermodynamically discriminated (Borea et al., 1998, 2000; Merighi et al., 2002). In addition four ligand-gated ion channel receptors such as glycine, GABAA, 5HT3 serotonin and nicotinic membrane receptors were analyzed and all resulted discriminated from a thermodynamic point of view (Maksai, 2001; Gessi et al., 1999, Borea et al., 2004). Finally, the cytoplasmatic receptor for glucocorticoid hormones and three cytoplasmatic steroid/nuclear estrogen, progesterone and androgen receptors were investigated and three of these were discriminated (Gilli et al., 2005). All these data suggest an intercorrelation between specific binding and the variation of water molecules present to receptor surfaces. In addition, based on the thermodynamic compensation a general model of drug-receptor interaction has been proposed. In this model the solvent molecules do not modify the intrinsic values of the affinity constant (K_A) of the drug-receptor interaction because the standard free energy for solvent reorganization can be near to zero and the values of binding parameters are due to specific features of the ligand and receptor in the binding process and not by the solvent (Grunwald and Steel, 1995). On the other hand, ΔH° and $-T\Delta S^{\circ}$ values are related to the rearrangements occurring during the binding, in the solvent-drug and solvent-receptor interfaces (Grunwald and Steel, 1995). It seems
reasonable to assume that solvent effects might be responsible for the in vitro thermodynamic discrimination between agonists and antagonists. From this background, one of the most significant results of this paper is the presence of the linearity of van't Hoff plots for P2X purinergic receptors similarly to what verified for other membrane receptors showing that ΔH° and ΔS° values are independent of temperature and obtained by linear van't Hoff plots. Van't Hoff plots turn out to be linear for all compounds considered implying that the value of ΔH° is not significantly affected by temperature variation in the range investigated. The second result concerns the interdependence of ΔH° and $-T\Delta S^{\circ}$ values for the $P2X_3$ purinergic receptors where all the experimental points appear to be arranged along a same diagonal line according to the equation: $-T\Delta S^{\circ}$ $(kJ/mol at 278 K) = -37.8 (\pm 2) -0.80 (\pm 0.05) \Delta H^{\circ} (kJ/mol)$ (n=11, r= 0.985, p<0.0001). This equation is of the form $\Delta H^{\circ} = \beta \Delta S^{\circ}$ which is expected for a case of enthalpy-entropy compensation with a compensation temperature of 278 K (Borea et al., 1996, 1998, 2000; Merighi et al., 2002; Gilli et al., 2005). The enthalpy-entropy compensation phenomenon has been attributed for drug-receptor interactions to the solvent reorganization (Grunwald and Steel, 1995). While ΔG° values are most probably determined by the features of the ligand-receptor binding process, ΔH° and $-T\Delta S^{\circ}$ values appear strongly affected by the rearrangements occurring in the solvent (Tomlinson and Steel, 1983). As it can be seen from the data plotted in Figure 4.10, all experimental points are arranged on the same diagonal band encompassed between the two dashed lines which represent the loci of points defined by the limiting K_D values of 100 µM and 10 pM. This band is the expression of the enthalpy-entropy compensation phenomenon probably due to drug-receptor interactions, to the solvent reorganization that accompanies the receptor binding process (Borea et al., 1996, 1998, 2000; Merighi et al., 2002; Gilli et al., 2005). The most remarkable differences between P2X₁ and P2X₃ receptors are elucidated by the comparison of thermodynamic data. Interestingly, P2X₁ and P2X₃ purinergic receptors have a different thermodynamic behaviour as demonstrated by the fact that agonists and antagonists for P2X₁ receptors show similar enthalpy and entropy values. On the contrary, P2X₃ receptors can be considered thermodynamically discriminated because agonist binding is enthalpy and entropy-driven and antagonist binding is totally entropy-driven. Another observation on purinergic ligands studied is

represented by a higher affinity versus P2X₃ than versus P2X₁ receptors. High affinity values, in the nanomolar range, were found for $\alpha\beta$ meATP in both purinergic receptors studied. The order of potency for P2X₃ receptors of the agonists was: $\alpha\beta$ meATP > 2meSATP > BzATP > ATP > ADP. Similar potencies were also observed to $P2X_1$ receptors even if all ligands, with the exception of $\alpha\beta$ meATP, showed a lower affinity in comparison with that obtained to P2X₃ receptors. It should be noted that other examples of binding experiments have been reported by using different agonist or antagonist radioligands (Jarvis et al., 2004; Michel et al., 1995, 1996; Schafer and Reiser, 1997). It was found that in synaptosomal membranes from rat brain cortex, ATP, 2MeSATP and suramin revealed lower Ki values by using $[^{35}S]$ -ATP α S as a radioligand to label P2X receptors, than those found in our conditions (Schafer and Reiser, 1997). The same authors reported a clear difference between the binding characteristics of different agonists and antagonists using $[^{35}S]$ -ATP α S or $[^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP (Schafer and Reiser, 1997). Furthermore, different affinity values were found using [³H]-A317491 to label P2X₃ receptors expressed in 132N1 human astrocytoma cells (Jarvis et al., 2004). In particular, the main difference in affinity values compared to our data concern the Ki values of the antagonists. In fact, A317491, TNP-ATP and PPADS revealed a higher affinity using [³H]-A317491 instead of $[^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP. On the contrary, the affinity values of the agonists were strictly similar using $[{}^{3}H]$ -A317491 or $[{}^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP as radioligands. Some reports revealed weak correlation between radioligand binding profiles and the functional activity of various P2 ligands (Yu et al., 1999). Binding and functional studies reported that P2X receptor agonists with high affinity values in the nanomolar range also showed a very low potency (Lambrecht, 2000). In addition, differences in P2X binding parameters could be attributed to various additional factors. In particular it was found that several divalent and trivalent cation salts markedly increase binding of $\alpha\beta$ meATP (Michel and Humphrey, 1994). Some discrepancies between our and previous data might be related either to a different radioligand used to reveal P2X purinergic receptors or to a various cells or tissues expressing purinergic receptors. Some differences are also present by using human or rat purinergic tissues suggesting a species diversity despite their high homology (Michel et al., 1996). In our experimental conditions suramin analogs such as NF 023 and NF 279 revealed affinity values in the micromolar range for

both purinergic subtypes even if they have been reported be selective for $P2X_1$ receptors (Burnstock, 2007). This is probably due to the various experimental conditions used and may also be complicated by the fact that functional P2X ligand-gated ion channels exist as oligometric combinations with specific subunit arrangements (North, 2002; North and Surprenant, 2000; Jacobson et al., 2002; Burnstock, 2007). Interestingly, TNP-ATP a typical nucleotide with a ribosesubstituted trinitrophenyl group, defined to be an antagonist in functional assays, behaves in our experimental thermodynamic conditions as an agonist. It is possible to hypothesize that TNP-ATP could interact with the site occupied by the agonists. Another possible explanation could be that the binding of TNP-ATP is present to an allosteric site on a large extracellular region of the receptor representing a common domain that interacts with the strongly electronegative trinitrophenyl mojety (Burgard et al., 2000; Virginio et al., 1998). More generally, the present study demonstrates that thermodynamic parameters reflect a common mechanism of ligand-receptor interaction and emphasizes the possibility to obtain information about the agonist-antagonist discrimination by simple *in vitro* binding experiments. Thus, analysis of thermodynamic data of drug-receptor interactions appears to be an effective tool for investigating, at a molecular level, the role played during the binding of the ligands. These novel research could be of interest in the identification of novel and potent $P2X_1$ and $P2X_3$ purinergic ligands.

REFERENCES

Abbracchio MP, Williams M, editors (2001) Handbook of experimental pharmacology purinergic and pirimidinergic signaling, vol. 151 (I and II). Berlin: Springer.

Bo X, Burnstock G (1990) High- and low- affinity binding sites for [³H]abmeATP in rat urinary bladder membranes. Br J Pharmacol 101:291–296.

Borea PA, Dalpiaz A, Varani K, Guerra L, Gilli G (1995) Binding thermodynamics at A_{2A} receptor ligands. Biochem Pharmacol 49:461–469.

Borea PA, Dalpiaz A, Varani K, Gessi S, Gilli G (1996) Binding thermodynamics at A_1 and A_{2A} adenosine receptors. Life Sci 59:1373–88.

Borea PA, Varani K, Gessi S, Gilli P, Gilli G (1998) Binding thermodynamics at the human neuronal nicotine receptor. Biochem Pharmacol 55:1189–1197.

Borea PA, Dalpiaz A, Varani K, Gilli P, Gilli G (2000) Can thermodynamic measurement of receptor binding yield information on drug affinity and efficacy? Biochem Pharmacol 60:1549–1556.

Borea PA, Varani K, Gessi S, Merighi S, Dalpiaz A, Gilli P, Gilli G (2004) Receptor binding thermodynamics at the neuronal nicotinic receptors. Curr Top in Med Chem 4:361–368.

Bradford MM (1976) A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein dye-binding. Anal Biochem 72:248.

Burgard EC, Niforatos W, Van Biesen T, Lynch KJ, Kage KL, Touma E (2000) Competitive antagonism of recombinant P2X2/3 receptors by 20,30-O-(2,4,6trinitrophenyl)adenosine 50-triphosphate (TNP-ATP). Mol Pharmacol 58:1502– 1510.

Burnstock G (2006) Purinergic signalling. Br J Pharmacol 147:172–181.

Burnstock G (2007) Physiology and pathophysiology of purinergic neurotransmission. Physiol Rev 87:659–797.

Burnstock G, Knight GE (2004) Cellular distribution and functions of P2 receptor subtypes in different systems. Int Rev Cytol 240:31–34.

Froldi G, Varani K, Chinellato A, Ragazzi E, Caparrota L, Borea PA (1997) P2xpurinoceptors in the heart: actions of ATP and UTP. Life Sci 60(17):1419–1430.

Gessi S, Dalpiaz A, Varani K, Borea PA (1999) Temperature dependence and GABA modulation of bcarboline binding to rat cerebellum benzodiazepine receptors. Life Sci 185–192.

Gilli P, Ferretti V, Gilli G, Borea PA (1994) Enthalpy–entropy compensation in drug–receptor Binding. J Phys Chem 98:1515–1518.

Gilli P, Gilli G, Borea PA, Varani K, Scatturin A, Dalpiaz A (2005) Binding thermodynamics as a tool to investigate the mechanisms of drug–receptor interactions: thermodynamics of cytoplasmic steroid/nuclear receptors in comparison with membrane receptors. J Med Chem 48:2026–2035.

Grunwald E, Steel C (1995) Solvent reorganization and thermodynamic enthalpy– entropy compensation. J Am Chem Soc 117:5687–5692.

Jacobson KA, Jarvis MF, Williams M (2002) Purine and pyrimidine (P2) receptors as drug targets. J Med Chem 45:4057–4093.

Jarvis MF (2003) Contribution of P2X₃ homomeric and heteromeric channels to acute and chronic pain. Expert Opin Ther Targets 7:513–522.

Jarvis MF, Bianchi B, Uchic JT, Cartmell J, Lee C-H, Williams M (2004) $[^{3}H]A$ -317491, a novel high affinity non-nucleotide antagonists that specifically labels human P2X_{2/3} and P2X₃ receptors. J PET 310:407–416.

Kennedy C (2005) P2X receptors: targets for novel analgesics? Neuroscientist 11:345–356.

Khakh BS, North RA (2006) P2X receptors as cell surface ATP sensors in health and disease. Nature 442:527–532.

King BF, North RA, editors (2000) Purine and the autonomic nervous system: from controversy to clinic. J Auton Nerv Syst 81:1–299.

Lambrecht G (2000) Agonists and antagonists acting at P2X receptors: selectivity profiles and functional implications. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 362:340–350.

Lorenzen A, Guerra L, Campi F, Lang H, Schwabe U, Borea PA (2000) Thermodynamically distinct high and low affinity states of the A(1) adenosine receptor induced by G protein coupling and guanine nucleotide ligation states of G proteins. Br J Pharmacol 130(3):595–604.

Maksai G (2001) Thermodynamics of ionotropic GABAA, Glycine and 5-HT3 type serotonin receptor interactions. In: Raffa RB, editor. Drug receptor thermodynamics: introduction and applications. New York: Wiley & Sons p. 359–376.

Merighi S, Varani K, Gessi S, Klotz KN, Leung E, Baraldi PG, Borea PA (2002) Binding thermodynamics at the human A_3 adenosine receptors. Biochem Pharmacol 63:157–161.

Michel AD, Humphrey PP (1994) Effects of metal cations on [³H]alpha,betamethylene ATP binding in rat vas deferens. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 350:113–22. Michel AD, Chau N-M, Fan T-PD, Frost EE, Humphrey PPA (1995) Evidence that [³H]abmeATP may label an endothelialderived cell line 50-nucleotidase with high affinity. Br J Pharmacol 115:767–774.

Michel AD, Lundstrom K, Buell G-N, Surprenatant A, Valera S, Humphrey PPA (1996) The binding characteristics of human bladder recombinant P2X purinoceptor, labelled with [³H]abmeATP, [³⁵S]ATPgS or [³³P]ATP. Br J Pharmacol 117:1254–1260.

Munson PJ, Rodbard D (1980) Ligand: a versatile computerized approach for the characterization of ligand binding systems. Anal Biochem 107:220–239.

North RA (2002) Molecular physiology of P2X receptors. Physiol Rev 82:1013–1067.

North RA, Surprenatant A (2000) Pharmacology of cloned P2X receptors. Ann Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 40:563–580.

Raffa RB (2001) In: Raffa RB, editor. Drug-receptor thermodynamics: introduction and applications. New York: Wiley & Sons. p. 221–416.

Sawynok J (2007) Adenosine and ATP receptors. Handb Exp Pharmacol 177:309–328.

Schafer R, Reiser G (1997) Characterization of [³⁵S]ATPaS and [³H]abmeATP binding sites in rat brain cortical synaptosomes: regulation of ligand binding by divalent cations. Br J Pharmacol 121:913–922.

Stoop R, Surprenant A, North RA (1997) Different sensitivities to pH of ATP induced currents at four cloned P2X receptors. J Neurophysiol 78:1837–1840.

Tomlinson E, Steel C (1983) Solvent reorganization and thermodynamic enthalpy–entropy compensation. J Am Chem Soc 13:115–144.

Virginio C, Robertson G, Surprenant A, North RA (1998) Trinitrophenylsubstituted nucleotides are potent antagonists selective for P2X1, P2X3 and heteromeric P2X2/3 receptors. Mol Pharmacol 53:969–73.

Yu HX, Bianchi B, Metzger R, Lynch KJ, Kowaluk EA, Jawis MF (1999) Lack of specificity of (35S)-ATPgS and (35S)-ADPbS as radioligand for ionotropic and metabotropic P2 receptor binding. Drug Dev Res 48:84–93.

CHAPTER 5:

Pharmacological characterization of P2X₁ and P2X₃ purinergic receptors in bovine chondrocytes.

INTRODUCTION

Chondrocytes within articular cartilage are responsible for the synthesis and degradation of the extracellular matrix, which in healthy tissue provide mechanical functionality. In degenerative diseases such as OA and RA there is a net loss of cartilage because the rate of catabolism exceeds the rate of synthesis and deposition of the macromolecular components of the extracellular matrix (Leong et al., 1994). Several chondrocyte activities are associated to cartilage damage, and include the up-regulation of nitric oxide (NO) and lipid inflammatory mediators such as prostaglandins (PGE), as well as the increased production of matrix-degrading enzymes (De Mattei et al., 2002). Growing evidence suggests that extracellular nucleotides, might play important roles in the regulation of cartilage metabolism (Hoebertz et al., 2003; Picher et al., 2003). Extracellular nucleotides have been shown to enhance growth factor-induced proliferation of chondrocytes (Kaplan et al., 1996). Further it has been reported that ATP and ADP can stimulate the production of cartilage inflammatory mediators such as PGE by cultured human chondrocytes, which is enhanced by the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , IL-1 α and TNF- α (Caswell et al., 1991, 1992; Koolpe et al., 1999). ATP can promote cartilage resorption through the breakdown of proteoglycans and the release of glycosaminoglycans (Leong et al., 1994; Brown et al., 1997). On the other hand, it has been also reported that the release of ATP and the activation of purinergic pathways induced by physiological mechanical stimulation can be involved in beneficial effects on cartilage, including the up-regulation of proteoglycan synthesis and the downregulation of inflammatory mediators such as NO (Graff et al., 2000; Kono et al., 2006; Millward et al., 2000, 2004; Chowdhury and Knight, 2006). These previous studies indicate the involvement of purinergic pathways in the modulation of cartilage metabolism, however, to date, the pharmacological characterization of purinergic receptors and the effects of nucleotides in chondrocytes have not been investigated in detail. Several pharmacological studies on transduction mechanisms and molecular biology indicate the basis for subdivision of P2 receptors into P2X and P2Y families (North, 2002; Burnstock, 2004). In particular, seven subtypes of P2X receptors and eight subtypes of P2Y receptors are currently recognized (Abbracchio et al., 2006). P2X purinergic

receptors are membrane ligand-gated ion channels that open in response to the binding of extracellular ATP which represents an important local regulatory factor of the inflammatory response. P2X receptors are abundantly distributed and functional responses have been described in neurons, glia, epithelia, endotelia, bone, muscle and hemopoietic tissues (North, 2002). Over the last few years attempts to characterize endogenous and recombinant P2X purinergic receptors using radioligand binding techniques have had limited success, primarily due to a lack of selective radioligands (North, 2002; Jacobson et al., 2002). The availability of $[{}^{3}H]-\alpha$, β meATP as a selective radioligand to study P2X purinoceptors presents a very good tool for determining the distribution of these receptors and their binding parameters (Michel et al., 1995). In addition, to better characterize the ligand-receptor interaction a thermodynamic analysis of human P2X₁ and P2X₃ purinergic receptors expressed in HEK293 cells has been performed (Varani et al., 2008a). Numerous thermodynamic studies have reported that the discrimination of the agonists and antagonists occur in different classes of membrane or intracellular receptors confirming the important role of the thermodynamic parameters to clarify the mechanisms of ligandereceptor binding (Borea et al., 1996, 1998, 2000, 2004; Merighi et al., 2002a). From the current background, the aim of this study was to investigate the presence of P2X receptors chondrocyte membranes in bovine by using western blotting, immunohistochemistry and saturation binding assays. Competition binding experiments and thermodynamic analysis with typical purinergic ligands were also performed to characterize, from a pharmacological point of view, P2X purinergic receptors expressed in bovine chondrocytes. The capabilities of the same purinergic ligands to modulate chondrocyte catabolic activities were evaluated by analyzing the effects on NO release and PGE₂ production, both in the absence and in the presence of IL-1.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Human P2X₁ and P2X₃ purinergic receptors expressed in HEH-293 cell culture and membrane preparation

 $HEK293-hP2X_1$ and $HEK293-hP2X_3$ cells were kindly provided by Prof A. Surprenant (Institute of Molecular Physiology, University of Sheffield, Sheffield,

England, UK). In particular, HEK293-hP2X₁ and HEK293-hP2X₃ cells were generated by transformation of human embryonic kidney cell cultures and stably expressed purinergic receptors (Virginio et al., 1998). These cells were grown adherently and maintained in DMEM/F12, containing 10% FBS, penicillin (100 U/ml), streptomycin (100 mg/ml) and Geneticin (G418, 0.2 mg/ml) at 37°C in 5% CO_2 /95% air. For membrane preparation, the culture medium was removed, the cells were washed with PBS and scraped in ice-cold hypotonic buffer. The cell suspension was homogenized and centrifuged for 30 min at 100,000 g. The membrane pellet was resuspended in Tris HCl 50 mM, CaCl₂ 4-mM, pH 7.4 and frozen at -80°C.

Chondrocytes culture and membrane preparation

Bovine articular cartilage derived from the metacarpophalangeal joints of 14-18 month-old animals (Limousin breed). Chondrocytes were isolated from cartilage fragments obtained from the weight-bearing region of the articular surface (Pezzetti et al., 1999; De Mattei et al., 2004). Briefly, the cartilage was dissected out and cut into small pieces that were subjected to a sequential digestion in DMEM/F12 (1:1) medium (Gibco-Invitrogen, Paisley, UK) with pronase from Streptomyces griseus (Calbiochem, Darmstadt, Germany) for 90 min and collagenase P from Clostridium histolyticum (Roche, Indianapolis, USA) for 12 h. The resulting suspension was filtered to remove undigested cartilage and chondrocytes were recovered by centrifugation, counted and plated at high density (150,000/cm²) in 75-cm² flasks and in multiwells (1.6 cm the diameter of each well). Chondrocytes were cultured in DMEM/F12 supplemented with 10% FBS and antibiotics (penicillin 100 U/ml, streptomycin 0.1 mg/ml) (GibcoeInvitrogen, Paisley, UK). Only chondrocytes without subculturing and maintained in culture for 1 week were used in the binding and functional experiments. In chondrocyte cultures the presence of aggrecan and type II collagen and the absence of type I collagen were shown by immunohistochemistry indicating the maintenance of the chondrocyte phenotype (Varani et al., 2008b). For membrane preparation, the culture medium was removed and the cells were washed with PBS and scraped off T75 flasks in ice-cold hypotonic. The cell suspension was homogenized, centrifuged for 30 min at 100,000 g and used in saturation and competition binding experiments.

Western blotting analysis for P2X₁ and P2X₃ receptors

Bovine chondrocytes in comparison with HEK293-hP2X₁ and HEK293-hP2X₃ cells were harvested and washed with ice-cold PBS containing sodium orthovanadate 1 mM, 4-(2-aminoethyl)-benzenesulfonyl fluoride 104 mM, mM aprotinin 0.08, leupeptin 2 mM, bestatin 4 mM, pepstatin A 1.5 mM, E-64 1.4 mM. Then cells were lysed in Triton lysis buffer and the protein concentration was determined using bicinchoninic acid (BCA) protein assay kit (Pierce). Aliquots of total protein sample (50 mg) were analyzed using polyclonal antibodies for human P2X₁ and P2X₃ purinergic receptors (Neuromics Antibodies, 1 mg/ml dilution) and for GAPDH (Novus Biologicals) (Merighi et al., 2002b). Filters were washed and incubated for 1 h at room temperature with peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies (1:2000 dilution). Specific reactions were revealed with Enhanced Chemiluminescence Western blotting detection reagent (Amersham Biosciences).

Immunohistochemistry for P2X₁ and P2X₃ receptors

The expression of $P2X_1$ and $P2X_3$ receptors was also evaluated by immunohistochemistry in cartilage fragments immediately after dissection from the articular surface (Brady et al., 2004). Briefly, cartilage fragments were fixed in freshly prepared 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) w/v in PBS, pH 7.2 for 3 h and then transferred to 10% sucrose in PBS and refrigerated overnight. The samples were embedded in optimum cutting temperatures medium and 4-5-mm thickness sections were cut using a cryostat and collected onto clean glass superfrost slides. After washing in PBS, endogenous peroxidase was blocked by incubation with 0.3% w/v hydrogen peroxide in methanol. After a further wash in PBS, the tissue sections were incubated with polyclonal rabbit antibodies to $P2X_1$ and $P2X_3$ receptors (Neuromics Antibodies, 1:500) overnight. Stain was obtained by developing with ultraystain polyvalent horseradish peroxidase (HRP) immunostaining kit (Ylem, Rome, Italy), using the procedure recommended by the manufacturer. Negative controls were prepared without primary antibody and nuclei were counterstained by hematoxylin.

Saturation and competition binding assays

Saturation binding experiments of $[{}^{3}H]-\alpha,\beta$ -meATP (from 0.1 to 50 nM) to the membranes previously obtained (100 mg of protein/assay) were performed by incubating from 40 min at 5°C to 90 min at 30°C according to the results of previous time-course experiments. Competition experiments of 3 nM $[^{3}H]-\alpha,\beta$ meATP were performed in duplicate in test tubes containing Tris HCl 50 mM, CaCl₂ 4 mM buffer, 100 ml of membranes and at least 8-10 different concentrations of P2X₁ and P2X₃ agonists or antagonists studied. ATP, ADP, α , β meATP, BzATP, TNP-ATP, suramin, NF023, PPADS, A317491 were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich Advanced Sciences (Milan, Italy). NF279 and 2-meSATP were obtained from Tocris Cookson Ltd (Bristol, UK). Non specific binding was determined in the presence of 10 mM α , β -meATP (Froldi et al., 1997). Bound and free radioactivity were separated by rapid filtration through Whatman GF/B glassfiber filters using a Brandel instrument. The filter bound radioactivity was counted on a Scintillation Counter Tri Carb Packard 2500 TR (efficiency 57%). The protein concentration was determined according to a Bio-Rad method with bovine albumin as reference standard (Bradford, 1976).

Thermodynamic data determination

For a generic binding equilibrium L+R = LR (L = ligand, R = receptor) the affinity association constant $K_A = 1/K_D$ is directly related to the standard free energy ΔG° ($\Delta G^{\circ} = -RTlnK_A$) which can be separated in its enthalpic and entropic contributions according to the Gibbs equation: $\Delta G^{\circ} = \Delta H^{\circ} - T\Delta S^{\circ}$. The standard free energy was calculated as $\Delta G^{\circ} = -RTlnK_A$ at 298.15 K, the standard enthalpy, ΔH° , from the van't Hoff plot lnK_A versus (1/T) (the slope of which is - $\Delta H^{\circ}/R$) and the standard entropy as $\Delta S^{\circ} = (\Delta H^{\circ} - \Delta G^{\circ})/T$ with T = 298.15 K and R = 8.314 J/K/mol (Jacobson et al., 2002; Merighi et al., 2002; De Mattei et al., 2004). K_A values were obtained from [³H]- α , β -methyleneATP saturation experiments in bovine chondrocyte membranes carried out at 0, 10, 15, 20, 25 and 30°C in a thermostatic bath assuring a temperature of $\pm 0.1^{\circ}C$.

Pharmacological treatments of bovine chondrocytes

In functional assays including the analysis of PGE_2 and NO release, chondrocytes isolated from cartilage, plated at high density (150,000/cm²) in multiwells and

maintained in culture for 1 week were used. At the beginning of the experiments (time 0), medium was changed in all cultures. To test the effects of purinergic agonists cells were incubated in complete medium containing increasing doses of ATP (10, 100, 500 μ M) and α , β -meATP (1, 10, 100 μ M). In a second series of experiments ATP (10, 100, 500 μ M) and α , β -meATP (1, 10, 100 μ M) were added to medium containing 50 ng/ml Recombinant Human IL-1 β (Preprotech INC, Rocky Hill, NJ, USA), used to activate inflammatory activities in chondrocytes. To evaluate the capability of A317491 to antagonize the effects of the purinergic agonists, 1 mM of this antagonist was added to the treated cultures. All treatments were made up in triplicate wells for 24 h. At the end of treatment, the culture medium was removed from the wells and stored at -80°C for subsequent determination of PGE₂ and NO release. The monolayers were solubilized in sodium hydroxide and protein concentration was evaluated (Bradford, 1976).

NO assay

The release of nitrite, a stable breakdown product of NO was measured as an indicator of NO synthesis. At the end of the 24 h of treatment period, nitrite concentration was determined in the conditioned media according to Greiss method (Green et al., 1982.) Briefly, culture medium was mixed with an equal volume of the Greiss reagent and absorbance was measured at 550 nm. Nitrite concentration was calculated from a standard curve of sodium nitrite.

PGE₂ assay

The concentration of PGE_2 was measured using a commercially available competitive enzyme immunoassay (PGE₂ ASSAY, R&D Systems, Inc., MN, USA). Briefly, medium was diluted threefold in Calibrator Diluent (RD5-39) included in the kit and 100 µl of diluted sample or standard were added to each well of a microplate coated with goat antimouse antibody. Subsequently, horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-labeled PGE₂ and a mouse monoclonal antibody to PGE₂ were added to each well and the plate was incubated for 2 h and washed. The substrate solution was added to each well and following 30-min incubation a stop solution containing phosphoric acid was added to each well and the absorbance was measured at 450 nm with a reference of 570 nm. All samples and standards were assayed in duplicate. PGE₂ production was normalized to the total protein content and expressed as picogram (pg) PGE₂/mg protein.

Statistical analysis

A weighted non linear least-squares curve fitting program Ligand (Munson and Rodbard, 1980) was used for computer analysis of saturation and competition binding experiments. Functional experiments were calculated by non linear regression analysis using the equation for a sigmoid concentration response curve (GraphPAD Prism, San Diego, CA, USA). Analysis of data was done with Student's t test (unpaired analysis). Differences were considered significant at a value of p<0.01. All data are reported as mean \pm SEM of independent experiments (n = 3-4).

RESULTS

Western blotting

Figure 5.1 shows the immunoblot signals of $P2X_1$ and $P2X_3$ purinergic receptors in bovine chondrocytes in comparison with HEK293-hP2X₁ and HEK293-hP2X₃ cells. $P2X_1$ and $P2X_3$ purinergic receptors are present in bovine chondrocytes showing a minor expression than in HEK293-hP2X₁ and HEK293-hP2X₃ cells. In addition, in bovine chondrocytes $P2X_1$ receptor expression resulted lower than $P2X_3$ receptor. Figure 5.1 also reports the immunoblot signals of GAPDH used as loading control.

Immunohistochemistry

The immunohistochemistry of purinergic receptors in cartilage slices showed that chondrocytes in all zones of the articular cartilage stained positive for P2X₃ receptors con-firming the expression of the receptor in intact cartilage (Figure 5.2A). No signal for P2X₁ receptors was observed in cartilage slices (Figure 5.2B). Negative controls, obtained without primary antibodies, did not show any staining.

Saturation and competition binding experiments

Saturation binding experiments in bovine chondrocytes were performed to evaluate affinity (K_D) and receptor density (Bmax) values of P2X purinergic

receptors (Table 5.1, figure 5.3). The binding parameters were determined at various temperatures (0, 10, 15, 20, 25 and 30°C) by using [³H]- α , β -meATP as radioligand at different concentrations. These results demonstrate that K_D values change with temperature and Bmax values appear to be largely independent of it. Computer analysis of the data failed to show a significantly better fit to a two site than to a one site binding model, indicating that only one class of high affinity binding site is present under our experimental conditions. Figure 5.4 shows the dose response curves of [³H]- α , β -meATP binding in bovine chondrocyte membranes by using typical agonists and antagonists (Table 5.2). The order of potency in [³H]- α , β -meATP displacement assays for purinergic agonists was as follow: α , β -meATP > BzATP > 2-meSATP > ATP > ADP. Similarly, the order of potency of antagonists in bovine chondrocyte membranes was as follow: TNP-ATP > A317491 > Suramin > NF023 > NF279 > PPADS.

Thermodynamic analysis

The van't Hoff plots show that the effect of temperature on the equilibrium binding association constants, K_A appears to be essentially linear in the range 4-30°C for the purinergic ligands examined (Figure 5.5). Final thermodynamic parameters calculated for the binding equilibria of the different compounds investigated are reported in table 5.3 Thermodynamic parameters of bovine chondrocytes for agonists show an enthalpy- and entropy-driven binding and the antagonist binding was totally entropy-driven. Interestingly, the compound TNP-ATP that functional experiments reported to be a purinergic antagonist (Burgard et al., 2000) shows a typical agonist behavior with an affinity value and thermodynamic parameters strictly similar to those obtained from other purinergic agonists. Figure 5.6A reports the van't Hoff plot and thermodynamic parameters of the $[{}^{3}H]-\alpha,\beta$ -meATP radioligand showing that this binding was enthalpy- and entropy-driven. Figure 5.6B summarizes the results obtained in bovine chondrocytes in the form of $-T\Delta S^{\circ}$ vs ΔH° scatter plot (T = 298.15 K) and shows that purinergic antagonists are clustered in the endothermic region ($15 \le \Delta H^{\circ} \le 30$ kJ/mol) with large positive entropy values (-58.11 \leq T Δ S° \leq -44.40 k/J/mol) revealing that their binding is totally entropy-driven. Agonistic binding was enthalpy- and entropy-driven (-26 $\leq \Delta H^{\circ} \leq$ -24 kJ/mol and -20.26 $\leq T\Delta S^{\circ} \leq$ -

11.62 k/J/mol) suggesting that agonists and antagonists in bovine chondrocytes are discriminated from a thermodynamic point of view.

Effects of purinergic ligands on NO production in chondrocyte monolayers

Figure 5.7 illustrates the effects of ATP and α,β -meATP on NO production in bovine chondrocytes in basal condition (Figure 5.7A) and after IL-1 β treatment (Figure 5.7B). In the absence of IL-1 β , treatment of cells with 500 μ M ATP and 100 μ M α,β -meATP induced a low but significant increase on basal NO production (Figure 5.7A). In the same experimental conditions described above, ATP until 100 μ M concentration and α,β -meATP until 10 μ M concentration were not able to modulate NO release. In the presence of IL-1 β (Figure 5.7B), both ATP and α,β -meATP induced a dose-dependent increase on NO production, ranging from 11 to 84% with respect to IL-1 β -treated cells. The purinergic antagonist A317491 efficiently counteracted the activity of both ATP and α,β meATP inhibiting NO production to the levels of cells treated with IL-1 β alone.

Effects of purinergic ligands on PGE₂ production in chondrocyte monolayers

Figure 5.8 shows the effects of ATP and α,β -meATP on PGE₂ production in bovine chondrocytes in basal condition (Figure 5.8A) and after IL-1 β treatment (Figure 5.8B). In the absence of IL-1 β , treatment of cells with ATP in the range of concentrations from 10 to 500 μ M and α,β -meATP (10 and 100 μ M) induced a significant increase on basal PGE₂ production (Figure 5.8A). In the same experimental conditions described above, 1 μ M of α,β -meATP was not able to modulate PGE₂ release. In the presence of IL-1 β , both ATP (500 μ M) and α,β meATP (100 μ M) induced a maximum increase on PGE₂ production, of 137-79%, respectively. ATP at the 100 μ M concentration was able to induce slightly but significant PGE₂ release (p<0.05; figure 5.8B). The purinergic antagonist A317491 counteracted in a different way the activity of both ATP and α,β -meATP (Figure 5.8B). In particular, A317491 partially reduced ATP-mediated PGE₂ release whilst it completely inhibited α,β -meATP-mediated PGE₂ release.

Table 5 1. Rinding parameters	avarage and Rmay	of $[^{3}H]_{\alpha}$ B-moATP in	having chandracyta mambranes
Table 5.1:Binding parameters,	expressed as $\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{D}}$ and $\mathbf{B}\max_{\mathbf{A}}$, of [H]-α,p-meATP in	bovine chondrocyte membranes.

[³ H]αβmeATP binding	5°C (278 K)	10°C (283 K)	15°C (288 K)	20°C (293 K)	25°C (298 K)	30°C (303 K)
K _D (nM)	3.3±0.3	4.3±0.4	5.5±0.5	6.6±0.6	7.5±0.7	8.4±0.7
Bmax (fmol/mg protein)	4900±420	4950±440	5050±480	5000±470	4800±450	4750±490

Ligand	5 °C (278 K)	10 °C (283 K)	15 °C (288 K)	20 °C (293 K)	25 °C (298 K)	30 °C (303 K)
Purinergic						
Agonists	Ki (nM)					
ATP	90±8	120±11	137±15	168±17	200±19	250±22
ADP	120±11	150±12	186±17	205±18	250±20	306±28
αβmeATP	3.0±0.3	4.1±0.3	5.0 ± 0.4	6.1±0.5	6.9 ± 0.6	8.1±0.7
2meSATP	85 ± 8	110±10	130±12	150±15	185 ± 20	220±22
BZATP	80±7	100±9	124±13	145±14	170±16	205±21
Purinergic						
Antagonists						
Suramin	9000±850	8000±750	7000±650	6500±550	5500±450	5000±400
NF023	11000 ± 850	10000 ± 850	9000±850	8500±850	7500±850	6000±850
TNP-ATP	100±10	135±15	150±16	180 ± 18	230±25	280 ± 20
PPADS	25000±2200	21000±2000	18000 ± 1700	12000±1000	10000±900	9000±800
A317491	950±85	800±70	750±60	600 ± 60	550±50	450±40
NF279	15000 ± 1400	13000±1300	12500 ± 1200	11000 ± 1100	9500±900	8000 ± 700

Table 5.2: Affinity, expressed as Ki values, of selected purinergic agonists and antagonists in bovine chondrocyte membranes at different temperatures.

Ligand	$\Delta \mathbf{G}^{\circ}$	$\Delta \mathbf{H}^{\circ}$	$\Delta \mathbf{S}^{\circ}$
	(kJ/mol)	(kJ/mol)	(J/mol/K)
Purinergic Agonists			
ĂTP	-38.0 ± 3.8	-26±2	39±2
ADP	-37.5 ± 3.7	-24±1	44±3
αβmeATP	-46.4±4.1	-26±2	68±3
2meSATP	-38.2 ± 3.4	-25±1	45±4
BZATP	-38.4±3.6	-25±2	46±2
Purinergic Antagonists			
Suramin	-30.0 ± 3.0	16±1	155±5
NF023	-29.2 ± 2.9	15±1	149±5
TNP-ATP	-37.7 ± 3.5	-27±2	38±3
PPADS	-21 ± 2.0	30±2	195±8
A317491	-35.6±3.4	19±1	184±7

16±0

 150 ± 5

 -28.6 ± 2.8

NF279

Table 5.3: Thermodynamic parameters for the binding equilibrium of $[^{3}H]$ - α , β -meATP to bovine chondrocyte membranes of selected purinergic agonists and antagonists. Figure 5.1: Western blotting analysis of bovine chondrocytes for purinergic receptors in comparision with HEK293-hP2X₁ and HEK293-hP2X₃ cells.



Figure 5.2: Immunohistochemistry of P2X₃ receptors (A) and P2X₁ receptors (B) in cartilage section. In (B) nuclei are counterstained by hematoxylin.



Figure 5.3: Saturation curves of $[{}^{3}H]-\alpha,\beta$ -meATP binding to P2X purinergic receptors in bovine chondrocytes at 5°C and 25°C (A) and relative Scatchard plot (B).





Figure 5.4: Competition curves of typical purinergic agonists (A) and antagonists (B) in bovine chondrocytes.





Figure 5.5: Van't Hoff plot in bovine chondrocytes showing the effect of temperature on the equilibrium binding association constant, K_A , for P2X purinergic agonists (A) and antagonists (B).





Figure 5.6: Van't Hoff plot in bovine chondrocytes showing the effect of temperature on the equilibrium binding association constant, K_A , of $[^{3}H]$ - α , β -meATP to P2X purinergic receptors (A). Scatter plot showing $-T\Delta S^{\circ}$ vs ΔH° values for the purinergic ligands studied (B).





Figure 5.7: Effect of purinergic ligands in the absence (A) and in the presence (B) of IL-1β on NO release in bovine chondrocytes.



** p<0.01 vs Control; # p< 0.01 vs IL-1β 50 ng/ml

Figure 5.8: Effect of purinergic ligands in the absence (A) and in the presence (B) of IL-1β on PGE₂ release in bovine chondrocytes.



** p<0.01 vs Control; * p< 0.05 vs Control; # p< 0.01 vs IL-1 β 50 ng/ml; § p< 0.05 vs IL-1 β 50 ng/ml

DISCUSSION

The purpose of the current investigation was to document the expression, the binding parameters and the functionality of P2X purinergic receptor subtypes in bovine chondrocytes. The presence of purinergic receptors was investigated through western blotting analysis, immunohistochemistry and saturation binding experiments. Western blotting assays reveal the presence of $P2X_1$ and $P2X_3$ purinergic receptors as reported in figure 5.1 where bovine chondrocytes were analyzed in comparison with HEK293-hP2X₁ and HEK293-hP2X₃ cells. In both cell types, P2X₃ purinergic receptors were present at higher level than P2X₁ purinergic receptors. Immunohistochemistry in cartilage slices confirmed the presence of P2X₃ purinergic receptors while P2X₁ purinergic receptors were not detectable probably due to the low presence of these receptors in this substrate. Another possible hypothesis could be that $P2X_1$ purinergic expression was induced by the in vitro culture conditions. Purinergic receptors were also characterized in saturation binding experiments showing the presence of an high affinity binding site with a K_D of 3.3 \pm 0.3 nM and a receptor density (Bmax) of 4900 ± 420 fmol/mg protein. In addition, thermodynamic parameters obtained from the van't Hoff plot indicate that $[{}^{3}H]-\alpha,\beta$ -meATP binding to purinergic receptors is enthalpy- and entropy-driven, with a major contribution of the enthalpic component. The information provided by these data could be useful from a pharmacological point of view to discover new thermodynamic relationships linked to ligand-receptor interactions useful to the development of new potential classes of drugs (Gilli et al., 1994, 2005; Raffa, 2001; Lorenzen et al., 2000; Gessi et al., 1999; Maksai, 2001). From the competition binding experiments, performed with the aim to calculate the affinity of the agonists for purinergic receptors, the order of potency was α,β -meATP > BzATP > 2-meSATP > ATP > ADP. The same order of potency was reported at all the temperatures investigated even if the affinity values of the purinergic compounds decreased with the increase of the temperature. The order of potency of the studied purinergic antagonists was TNP-ATP > A31749 > Suramin > NF023 > NF279 > PPADS. Similarly, the order of potency was the same from 5°C to 30°C even if the affinities of the antagonists increased (Ki decreased) with the increase of the temperature. Moreover, in our experimental conditions, purinergic agonists

revealed a higher affinity, in the nanomolar range, when compared to purinergic antagonists that showed an affinity in the low nanomolar-micromolar range. In addition α,β -meATP was the most affine and potent agonist showing an high affinity in the nanomolar range. On the contrary ATP, a typical purinergic endogenous ligand, revealed a lower affinity than α,β -meATP vs P2X purinergic receptors. Collectively, these binding data of affinity are important to identify the specific concentrations of agonists and antagonists to use in functional and molecular in vitro and in vivo experiments. Another purpose of the present study was to investigate from a functional point of view the purinergic P2X receptors in bovine chondrocytes. To this aim, the effects of ATP and α,β -metATP on NO production and PGE₂ release were analyzed. Both NO and PGE₂ are synthesized by chondrocytes (Stadler et al., 1991), and have been implicated as critical inflammatory mediators of cartilage matrix degradation (Stefanovic-Racic et al., 1997; Bankers-Fulbright et al., 1996; Stabellini et al., 2003; Knott et al., 1994). ATP and α,β -meATP were able to increase NO production at micromolar concentration similarly to that reported in literature (Leong et al., 1994; Caswell et al., 1991) and the P2X antagonist A317491 was able to decrease the stimulatory effect mediated by the purinergic agonists investigated. It is well known that IL- 1β , a proinflammatory agent which is present in elevated amount in osteoarthritic cartilage and plays a decisive role in osteoarthritis, also increases the production of NO (Stefanovic-Racic et al., 1997). In agreement the treatment of bovine chondrocytes with 50 ng/ml of IL-1ß significantly increased NO synthesis. Interestingly, ATP and α , β -meATP were able to further stimulate the production of NO in a dose-dependent manner and A317491 completely inhibited the stimulatory effect mediated by the purinergic agonists. The similar behavior of ATP and α , β -meATP and the complete inhibition of their effects by A317491 indicate the involvement of P2X receptors in the stimulation of NO release. In addition, ATP and α,β -meATP stimulated the production of PGE₂ in a dosedependent manner, both in the absence and in the presence of IL-1 β , indicating a role for P2X in PGE₂ release. Interestingly, ATP had an higher effect than α , β meATP and A317491 was able only to partially inhibit the effect of ATP and to completely decrease the effect of α,β -meATP. These differences are probably due to the presence of P2Y receptors, involved in PGE₂ release (Burnstock, 2004), which can be activated by ATP but not by α,β -meATP. The results of this paper

confirm ATP as an important extracellular signal involved in cartilage metabolism and indicate that the stimulation of purinergic pathways, mediated by P2X receptors, can increase the inflammation process associated to cartilage pathological conditions. On the other hand, studies concerning physiological mechanical stimulation on cartilage suggest that ATP, acting via purinergic pathways, may have beneficial effects on cartilage by stimulating proteoglycan synthesis and inhibiting NO production (Graff et al., 2000; Kono et al., 2006; Milward-Sadler et al., 2000, 2004; Chowdhury and Knight, 2006). In addition, it is reported that a chronic treatment of human chondrocytes with 100-500 µM ATP induced the loss of glycosaminoglycans but a single dose of 500 μ M ATP increase proteoglycan and collagen synthesis (Picher et al., 2003). The reasons for this apparent discrepancy concerning the role of ATP and purinergic pathways are difficult to establish due to the limited knowledge concerning the expression, affinities and functional roles of purinergic receptors in cartilage. It is possible to hypothesize that various ATP levels associated to the cartilage physiological and/or pathological conditions can lead to the activation of different purinergic receptors subtypes. In conclusion, for the first time, the present study states in a quantitative way the presence and the binding parameters of $P2X_1$ and $P2X_3$ purinergic receptors in bovine chondrocytes. Binding and functional data on NO production and PGE₂ release confirm a pivotal role of these purinergic receptor subtypes in the inflammatory pathologies linked to the articular cartilage. Novel purinergic ligands could be potential targets for drug development in the future in several cartilage pathological conditions.

REFERENCES

Abbracchio MP, Burnstock G, Boeynaems JM, Barnard EA, Boyer JL, Kennedy C (2006) International Union of Pharmacology LVIII: update on the P2Y G protein-coupled nucleotide receptors: from molecular mechanisms and pathophysiology to therapy. Pharmacol Rev 58:281-341.

Bankers-Fulbright JL, Kalli KR, McKean DJ (1996) Interleukin-1 signal transduction. Life Sci 59:61-83.

Borea PA, Dalpiaz A, Varani K, Gessi S, Gilli G (1996) Binding thermodynamics at A_1 and A_{2A} adenosine receptors. Life Sciences 59:1373-1388.

Borea PA, Varani K, Gessi S, Gilli P, Gilli G (1998) Binding thermodynamics at the human neuronal nicotine receptor. Biochem Pharmacol 55:1189-1197.

Borea PA, Dalpiaz A, Varani K, Gilli P, Gilli G (2000) Can thermodynamic measurement of receptor binding yield information on drug affinity and efficacy? Biochem Pharmacol 60:1549-1556.

Borea PA, Varani K, Gessi S, Merighi S, Dalpiaz A, Gilli P, Gilli G (2004) Receptor binding thermodynamics at the neuronal nicotinic receptors. Curr Top Med Chem 4:361-368.

Bradford M (1976) A rapid and sensitive method for the quantification of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein dye-binding. Anal Biochem 72:248-254.

Brady CM, Apostolidis A, Yiangou Y, Baecker PA, Ford AP, Freeman A (2004) P2X3-immunoreactive nerve fibres in neurogenic detrusor overactivity and the effect of intravesical resiniferatoxin. Eur Urol 46(2):247-253.

Brown CJ, Caswell AM, Rahman S, Russell RG, Buttle DJ (1997) Proteoglycan breakdown from bovine nasal cartilage is increased, and from articular cartilage is decreased, by extracellular ATP. Biochim Biophys Acta 1362:208-220.

Burgard EC, Niforatos W, Van Biesen T, Lynch KJ, Kage KL, Touma E (2000) Competitive antagonism of recombinant P2X2/3 receptors by 2,3-O-(2,4,6trinitrophenyl)adenosine 50-triphosphate (TNP-ATP). Mol Pharmacol 58:1502-1510.

Burnstock G (2004) Introduction: P2 receptors. Curr Top Med Chem 793-803.

Caswell AM, Leong WS, Russell RG (1991) Evidence for the presence of P2purinoceptors at the surface of human articular chondrocytes in monolayer culture. Biochim Biophys Acta 1074:151-158.

Caswell AM, Leong WS, Russell RG (1992) Interleukin-1 beta enhances the response of human articular chondrocytes to extracellular ATP. Biochim Biophys Acta 1137:52-58.

Chowdhury TT, Knight MM (2006) Purinergic pathway suppresses the release of NO and stimulates proteoglycan synthesis in chondrocyte/agarose constructs subjected to dynamic compression. J Cell Physiol 209:845-853.

De Mattei M, Pellati A, Pasello M, de Terlizzi F, Massari L, Gemmati D (2002) High doses of glucosamine-HCl have detrimental effects on bovine articular cartilage explants cultured in vitro. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 10:816-825.

De Mattei M, Pellati A, Pasello M, Ongaro A, Setti S, Massari L (2004) Effects of physical stimulation with electromagnetic field and insulin growth factor-I treatment on proteoglycan synthesis of bovine articular cartilage. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 12:793-800.

Froldi G, Varani K, Chinellato A, Ragazzi E, Caparrotta L, Borea PA (1997) P2X-purinoceptors in the heart: actions of ATP and UTP. Life Sci 60:1419-1430.

Gessi S, Dalpiaz A, Varani K, Borea PA (1999) Temperature dependance and GABA modulation of bcarboline binding to rat cerebellum benzodiazepine receptors. Life Sci 64:185-192.

Gilli P, Ferretti V, Gilli G, Borea PA (1994) Enthalpyeentropy compensation in drug-receptor binding. J Phys Chem US 98:1515-1518.

Gilli P, Gilli G, Borea PA, Varani K, Scatturin A, Dalpiaz A (2005) Binding thermodynamics as a tool to investigate the mechanisms of drug-receptor interactions: thermodynamics of cytoplasmic steroid/nuclear receptors in comparison with membrane receptors. J Med Chem 48:2026-2035.

Graff RD, Lazarowski R, Banes AJ, Lee GM (2000) ATP release by mechanically loaded porcine chondrons in pellet culture. Arthritis Rheum 43:1571-1579.

Green LC, Wagner DA, Glogowski J, Skipper PL, Wishnok JS, Tannenbaum SR (1982) Analysis of nitrate, nitrite, and [15N]nitrate in biological fluids. Anal Biochem 126:131-138.

Hoebertz A, Arnett TR, Burnstock G (2003) Regulation of bone resorption and formation by purines and pyrimidines. Trends Pharmacol Sci 24:290-297.

Jacobson KA, Jarvis MF, Williams M (2002) Purine and pyrimidine (P2) receptors as drug targets. J Med Chem 45:4057-4093.

Kaplan AD, Kilkenny DM, Hill DJ, Dixon SJ (1996) Extracellular nucleotides act through P2U purinoceptors to elevate [Ca2b]i and enhance basic fibroblast growth factor-induced proliferation in sheep chondrocytes. Endocrinology 137:4757-4766.

Kono T, Nishikori T, Kataoka H, Uchio Y, Ochi M, Enomoto K (2006) Spontaneous oscillation and mechanically induced calcium waves in chondrocytes. Cell Biochem Funct 24:103-111. Knott I, Dieu M, Burton M, Houbion A, Remacle J, Raes M (1994) Induction of cyclooxygenase by interleukin 1: comparative study between human synovial cells and chondrocytes. J Rheumatol 21:462-466.

Koolpe M, Pearson D, Benton HP (1999) Expression of both P1 and P2 purine receptor genes by human articular chondrocytes and profile of ligand mediated prostaglandin E2 release. Arthritis Rheum 42:258-267.

Leong WS, Russell RG, Caswell AM (1994) Stimulation of cartilage resorption by extracellular ATP acting at P2-purinoceptors. Biochim Biophys Acta 1201:298-304.

Lorenzen A, Guerra L, Campi F, Lang H, Schwabe U, Borea PA (2000) Thermodynamically distinct high and low affinity states of the A(1) adenosine receptor induced by G protein coupling and guanine nucleotide ligation states of G proteins. Br J Pharmacol 130:595-604.

Maksai G (2001) Thermodynamics of ionotropic GABAA, Glycine and 5-HT3 type serotonin receptor interactions. In: Raffa RB, Ed. Drug Receptor Thermodynamics: Introduction and Applications. New York: Wiley & Sons; 359-376.

Merighi S, Varani K, Gessi S, Klotz KN, Leung E, Baraldi PG, Borea PA (2002a) Binding thermodynamics at the human A_3 adenosine receptors. Biochem Pharmacol 63:157-1561.

Merighi S, Mirandola P, Dilani D, Varani K, Gessi S, Klotz K-N, Leung E, Baraldi PG, Borea PA (2002b) Adenosine receptors as mediators of both cell proliferation and cell death of cultured human melanoma cells. J Invest Dermatol 119:923-933.

Michel AD, Chau N-M, Fan T-PD, Frost EE, Humphrey PPA (1995) Evidence that [³H]abmeATP may label an endothelial-derived cell line 50-nucleotidase with high affinity. Br J Pharmacol 115:767-774.

Millward-Sadler SJ, Wright MO, Davies LW, Nuki G, Salter DM (2000) Mechanotransduction via integrins and interleukin-4 results in altered aggrecan and matrix metalloproteinase 3 gene expression in normal, but not osteoarthritic, human articular chondrocytes. Arthritis Rheum 43:2091-2099.

Millward-Sadler SJ, Wright MO, Flatman PW, Salter DM (2004) ATP in the mechanotransduction pathway of normal human chondrocytes. Biorheology 41:567-575.

Munson PJ, Rodbard D (1980) Ligand: a versatile computerized approach for the characterization of ligand binding systems. Anal Biochem 107:220-239.

North RA (2002) Molecular physiology of P2X receptors. Physiol Rev 82:1013-1067.

Pezzetti F, De Mattei M, Caruso A, Cadossi R, Zucchini P, Carinci F (1999) Effects of pulsed electromagnetic fields on human chondrocytes: an in vitro study. Calcif Tissue Int 65:396-401.

Picher M, Graff RD, Lee GM (2003) Extracellular nucleotide metabolism and signaling in the pathophysiology of articular cartilage. Arthritis Rheum 2722-2736.

Raffa RB (2001) In: Raffa RB, Ed. Drug-Receptor Thermodynamics: Introduction and Applications. New York: Wiley & Sons 3-12, 221-416.

Stabellini G, De Mattei M, Calastrini C, Gagliano N, Moscheni C, Pasello M (2003) Effects of interleukin-1beta on chondroblast viability and extracellular matrix changes in bovine articular cartilage explants. Biomed Pharmacother 57:314-319.

Stadler J, Stefanovic-Racic M, Billiar TR, Curran RD, McIntyre LA, Georgescu HI (1991) Articular chondrocytes synthesize nitric oxide in response to cytokines and lipopolysaccharide. J Immunol 147:3915e-3920.

Stefanovic-Racic M, Mollers MO, Miller LA, Evans CH (1997) Nitric oxide and proteoglycan turnover in rabbit articular cartilage. J Orthop Res 15:442-449.

Varani K, Surprenant A, Vincenzi F, Tosi A, Gessi S, Merighi S, Borea PA (2008a) Binding thermodynamic characterization of human $P2X_1$ and $P2X_3$ purinergic receptors. Biochem Pharmacol 75(5):1198-1208.

Varani K, De Mattei M, Vincenzi F, Gessi S, Merighi S, Pellati A, Ongaro A, Caruso A, Cadossi R, Borea PA (2008b) Characterization of adenosine receptors in bovine chondrocytes and fibroblast-like synoviocytes exposed to low frequency low energy pulsed electromagnetic fields. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 16(3):292-304.

Virginio C, Robertson G, Surprenant A, North RA (1998) Trinitrophenylsubstituted nucleotides are potent antagonists selective for P2X1, P2X3 and heteromeric P2X2/3 receptors. Mol Pharmacol 53:969-973.

CHAPTER 6:

P2X₁ and P2X₃ purinergic receptors differentially modulate the inflammatory response in human osteoarthritic fibroblasts-like synoviocytes.
INTRODUCTION

Fibroblast-like synoviocytes play a central role in the pathogenesis of joint destruction primarily by the secretion of a wide range of pro-inflammatory mediators including cytokines, growth factors and lipid mediators of inflammation. Pro-inflammatory agents produced by fibroblast-like synoviocytes are detrimental to articular cartilage in different joint diseases such as OA and RA (Abramson et al., 2006; Varani et al., 2008a). Purine receptors have historically been classified in two categories named as P1 and P2 purinergic receptors which were subdivided into G protein coupled P2Y receptors and P2X ligand-gated ion channels (Burnstock, 2006; Sawynok, 2007). Different functional responses due to these purinergic receptors have been described in a wide range of tissues and biological systems suggesting that ATP may contribute to various physiological processes (Koles et al., 2007; Burnstock, 2008). The effect of extracellular nucleotides, through P2 receptors, was previously reported in the regulation of bone metabolism, in the breakdown of proteoglycans and in the production of cartilage inflammatory mediators (Hoebertz et al., 2003; Picher et al., 2003). The pharmacological characterization of P2 receptors and the effects of nucleotides on fibroblast-like synoviocytes have not been investigated in detail although it has been shown that these cells respond to extracellular ATP (Hoebertz et al., 2003). Synergistic interaction between IL-6, PGE₂ and the presence of purinergic receptors in fibroblast-like synoviocytes may be important in the modulation of the joint tissue destruction including the damage related to inflammatory pathologies (Loredo and Benton, 1998; Caporali et al., 2008). It is well reported that ATP was able to mediate an increase of IL-6 and TNF- α in different cell lines (Inoue et al., 2007; Bulanova et al., 2009). The study of the pharmacologic modulation of the NF-kB pathways linked to p50 and p65 polypeptides suggest its involvement in the pathogenesis of several inflammatory diseases (Roman-Blas and Jimenez, 2006). The characterization of endogenous and recombinant P2X purinergic receptors by using radioligand binding techniques have had limited success. Purinergic receptor pharmacological studies have been also hampered by the lack of highly potent and selective agonists and/or antagonists (Burnstock, 2006). The availability of $[{}^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP as radioligand to study P2X purinoceptors represent a useful tool in determining the distribution of these

receptors (Michel et al., 1995). Recently, $[{}^{3}H]-\alpha\beta$ meATP binding and thermodynamic characterization of human P2X₁ and P2X₃ purinergic receptors in HEK 293 cells and in bovine chondrocytes revealed the possibility to obtain informations by agonist-antagonist discrimination (Varani et al., 2008b,c). The aim of this study was to investigate the presence of P2X receptors in primary cultures of fibroblast-like synoviocytes from patients with OA and in SW 982 cells derived from human synovial sarcoma by using mRNA and western blotting assays. Affinity values expressed as Ki or K_H and K_L of selected purinergic agonists and antagonists were determined by using competition binding experiments. A thermodynamic analysis was performed to investigate new insights into the forces driving drug-purinergic receptor coupling. In order to complete the pharmacological characterization, P2X receptors were studied from a functional point of view. The effect of selected $P2X_1$ and $P2X_3$ agonists was investigated on NF-kB and NF-IL-6 activation and on TNF-α, IL-6 and PGE₂ release. The capability of well-known purinergic antagonists to block the effect of the purinergic agonists was also carried out to better verify the involvement of the P2X₁ and P2X₃ purinergic receptors.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Materials

[³H]αβmeATP, was obtained from NEN-Perkin Elmer Life and Analytical Sciences (USA). ATP, ADP, αβmeATP, BzATP, TNP-ATP, PPADS, A317491, suramin, vimentin, CD14 and von-Willebrand antibodies were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Advanced Sciences (St. Louis, MO, USA). NF023, NF279, 2meSATP and KN-62 (4-[(2S)-2-[(5-isoquinolinylsulfonyl) methylamino]-3-oxo-3-(4-phenyl-1-piperazinyl) propyl] phenyl iso-quinolinesulfonic acid ester) were obtained from Tocris Cookson Ltd (Bristol, UK). NF-kB kit was purchased from Active Motif, Carlsbad, USA. TNF-α, IL-6 and PGE₂ ELISA kits were purchased from R&D Systems, Inc. Minneapolis, USA. HEK-293 cells transfected with the human recombinant P2X₁ and P2X₃ receptors were kindly provided by Prof. Annmarie Surprenant (Institute of Molecular Physiology, University of Sheffield, Sheffield, England, UK). All other reagents were of analytical grade and obtained from commercial sources.

Cell culture and membrane preparation

HEK293-hP2X₁ and HEK293-hP2X₃ cells were generated by stable transfection of human embryonic kidney cell cultures with P2X₁ and P2X₃ purinergic receptors (North, 2002). Fibroblast-like synoviocytes were obtained by enzymatic digestion of synovial tissues derived from 27 patients with end-stage OA undergoing total joint replacement surgery (Miyashita et al., 2004; Bilgen et al., 2007). The diagnosis was based on clinical and radiological criteria. Human samples were collected with approved informed consent in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. The study protocol was approved by the local Ethics Committee of the University of Ferrara and the subjects provided written consent after receiving detailed verbal and written explanations of the study. SW 982 cells derived from a human synovial sarcoma are fibroblast-like synoviocytes obtained from American Type Culture Collection (Bethesda, MD) (Christensen et al., 2005). To avoid the degradation of nucleotides, cells were incubated in serum-free medium during the pharmacological treatment with purinergic agonists and/or antagonists investigated.

Fibroblast-like synoviocytes characterization

Immunofluorescence with the primary monoclonal antibody specific for the human vimentin was used to evaluate the expression of vimentin, a fibroblast marker, in SW 982 and in primary cultures of human fibroblast-like synoviocytes, as previously described (Varani et al., 2008b; Miyashita et al., 2004). Human fibroblast-like synoviocytes and SW 982 were maintained in culture in DMEM, 10% FBS, penicillin (100 U/ml), streptomycin (100 μ g/ml), L-glutamine (2 mM). Human fibroblast-like synoviocytes when reaching confluence were passaged and used at the 3rd-4th passages for binding and functional experiments. Nuclei were stained with the selective DNA dye, DAPI (0.1 mg/ml in PBS-EGTA) for 10 minutes. Fluorescence was visualized using the Nikon Eclipse TE 2000-E microscope equipped with a digital camera (DXM 1200F, Nikon Instruments Spa, Sesto Fiorentino, Firenze, Italy). Monoclonal antibodies to CD14 and von-Willebrand factor were also used to exclude the presence of contaminating macrophages or endothelial cells.

RT-PCR experiments

Total cytoplasmic RNA was extracted by the acid guanidinium thiocyanate phenol method (Gessi et al., 2004). Quantitative real-time RT-PCR assay of P2X₁, P2X₂, P2X₃, P2X₄, P2X₅, P2X₆, P2X₇ mRNAs was carried out using gene-specific fluorescently labelled TaqMan MGB probe (minor groove binder) in a ABI Prism 7700 Sequence Detection System (Applied Biosystems). Human GAPDH was used as a reference gene.

Western blotting analysis

Primary cultures of human fibroblast-like synoviocytes and SW 982 cells in comparison with HEK293-hP2X₁ and HEK293-hP2X₃ cells were harvested and washed with ice-cold PBS containing sodium orthovanadate 1 mM, 4-(2aminoethyl)-benzenesulfonyl fluoride 104 mM, aprotinin 0.08 mM, leupeptin 2 mM, bestatin 4 mM, pepstatin A 1.5 mM, E-64 1.4 mM [23]. Aliquots of total protein sample (50 µg) were analyzed using antibodies specific for human P2X₁ and P2X₃ purinergic receptors (1 µg/ml dilution). Filters were washed and incubated for 1 hour at room temperature with peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies (1:2000 dilution). Specific reactions were revealed with Enhanced Chemiluminescence Western blotting detection reagent (Amersham Biosciences). β -actin was used as a loading control. Additional western blotting analysis was also performed for the NF-IL-6 protein expression as previously described (Kiehntopf et al., 1995).

Saturation and competition binding assays

Saturation and competition binding assays were carried out in primary cultures of fibroblast-like synoviocytes and in SW 982 membranes at 5, 10, 15, 20, 25 and 30°C. Saturation binding experiments of $[^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP (from 0.1 to 50 nM) were performed by using the membranes previously obtained (100 µg protein/assay). Previous time course experiments showed that $[^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP binding reached equilibrium after approximately 15 min and was stable for at least 3 hours. The incubation times used in binding experiments were: 40 min at 5°C, 50 min at 10°C, 60 min at 15°C, 70 min at 20°C, 80 min at 25°C and 90 min at 30°C. Competition experiments of 3 nM $[^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP were conducted incubating membranes (100 µg protein/assay) and 13 different concentrations of purinergic

agonists or antagonists examined for thermodynamic studies. Non specific binding was determined in the presence of 1 μ M $\alpha\beta$ meATP (Varani et al., 2008b,c). Bound and free radioactivity were separated by rapid filtration through Whatman GF/B glass-fiber filters using a Brandel instrument and the radioactivity was counted on a Scintillation Counter Tri Carb Packard 2500 TR.

Thermodynamic data determination

For a generic binding equilibrium L+R = LR (L = ligand, R = receptor) the affinity association constant $K_A = 1/K_D$ is directly related to the standard free energy ΔG° ($\Delta G^{\circ} = -RTlnK_A$) which can be separated in its enthalpic and entropic contributions according to the Gibbs equation: $\Delta G^{\circ} = \Delta H^{\circ}-T\Delta S^{\circ}$ (Borea et al., 2000).

NF-kB activation in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes

The NF-kB activation in nuclear extracts from human fibroblast-like synoviocytes and SW 982 cells was evaluated by detecting phosphorylated p65 and p50 proteins in nuclear extracts using the TransAM NF-kB kit (Active Motif, Carlsbad, USA) (Gomez et al., 2006). Phosphorylated NF-kB subunits specifically bind to the immobilized oligonucleotides containing the NF-kB consensus site (5'-GGGACTTTCC-3'). The primary antibody used to detect NFkB recognized an epitope on each subunit that is accessible only when activated and bound to its DNA target. A horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated secondary antibody provided a sensitive colorimetric readout that was quantified by spectrophotometry at 450 nm.

Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

The concentration of TNF- α , IL-6 and PGE₂ was measured using commercially available competitive enzyme immunoassays (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, USA) in duplicate samples or standards (Forrest et al., 2005; De Mattei et al., 2007).

Data and statistical analysis

The protein concentration was determined according to a Bio-Rad method with bovine albumin as reference standard (Bradford, 1976). A weighted non linear

least-squares curve fitting program Ligand was used for computer analysis of saturation and competition binding experiments (Munson and Rodbard, 1980). Functional experiments were calculated by non linear regression analysis using the equation for a sigmoid concentration-response curve (GraphPAD Prism, San Diego, CA, USA). Analysis of data, expressed as mean \pm SEM, was performed by one-way analysis of variance. Differences were analyzed with Dunnett's test and were considered significant at a value of p<0.01.

RESULTS

Phenotype characterization of fibroblast-like synoviocytes

Fibroblast-like synoviocytes isolated from synovial of OA patients showed to be a homogenous population as demonstrated by their fibroblast-like morphology. Primary cultures of fibroblast-like synoviocytes (Figure 6.1A) and SW 982 cells (Figure 6.1B) also showed the expression of vimentin, a specific cellular marker for mesenchymal cells and fibroblast-like synoviocytes. No stain was observed with MoAbs, to CD14 and von-Willebrand factor indicating the absence of contaminating cells (data not shown).

Evaluation of P2X purinergic receptor mRNA expression and protein level

The expression of $P2X_{1-7}$ mRNA was shown and high levels of $P2X_1$, $P2X_3$ and $P2X_7$ mRNA were found in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes and SW 982 cells (Figure 6.2A). The presence of $P2X_1$ and $P2X_3$ was confirmed by western blotting in comparison with HEK293-hP2X₁ and HEK293-hP2X₃ cells (Figure 6.2B). Densitometric analysis of the bands obtained was also performed as shown in figure 6.2C,D.

Saturation and competition binding experiments

Saturation binding experiments in primary cultures of human fibroblast-like synoviocytes (Figure 6.3A,B) and in SW 982 (Figure 6.3C,D) membranes were carried out to evaluate affinity (K_D) and receptor density (Bmax) values of P2X receptors. Binding parameters were determined at various temperatures (5, 10, 15, 20, 25 and 30°C) by using [³H] $\alpha\beta$ meATP as radioligand and showed that K_D values changed with temperature (from 3 to 9 nM, respectively) and Bmax values

in the picomolar range appeared to be largerly independent of it. Saturation binding experiments, performed at 5°C, in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes demonstrated the presence of an high affinity binding site ($K_D = 3.1 \pm 0.3$ nM) and a receptor density (Bmax= 1500 ± 140 fmol/mg protein). Similarly, SW 982 cells showed K_D value of 4.1 \pm 0.4 nM and Bmax values of 2400 \pm 230 fmol/mg protein. With the increase of the temperature, affinity values decreased ($K_D = 6.5 \pm$ 0.6 nM, $K_D = 8.4 \pm 0.7$ nM, at 25°C, respectively) (Figure 6.3B,D). Affinity values obtained in $[{}^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP competition binding experiments by using selected purinergic agonists and antagonists in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes membranes are shown in table 6.1A. In human fibroblast-like synoviocytes membranes affinity values of the purinergic ligands used in functional experiments were obtained incubating 13 different concentration of purinergic agonists (Figure 6.4A) or antagonists (Figure 6.4B). Interestingly, $\beta\gamma$ meATP, BzATP, A317491 and NF 023 showed a better fit for a two binding site model, suggesting a different affinity for $P2X_1$ and $P2X_3$ purinergic receptors. On the contrary, $\alpha\beta$ meATP showed a better fit for a one site binding model, confirming a similar affinity for P2X₁ and P2X₃ purinergic receptors. KN62 was not able to displace $[{}^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP (Ki > 20 μ M). Similar affinity values were also obtained in SW 982 cells for purinergic agonists (Figure 6.4C) and antagonists (Figure 6.4D). In human fibroblast-like synoviocytes and in SW982 cells, the affinities of $\alpha\beta$ meATP, $\beta\gamma$ meATP and BzATP were decreased with the increase of the temperature (from 5 to 30°C) as reported in table 6.1B. Interestingly, the increase of the temperature differentially modulated the affinity of the antagonists and mediated: i) the reduction in K_H of A317491 and in K_L of NF023; ii) the increase in K_L of A317491 and in K_H of NF023 (Table 6.1B).

Thermodynamic analysis

The van't Hoff plots for purinergic ligands examined were essentially linear in the range 5-30°C in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes (Figure 6.5A,B) and in SW 982 cells (Figure 6.5C,D). Thermodynamic parameters (ΔG° , ΔH° , ΔS°) were reported in Table 6.2. The standard free energy was calculated as $\Delta G^{\circ} = -RTlnK_A$ at 298.15 K, the standard enthalpy, ΔH° , from the van't Hoff plot lnK_A versus (1/T) (the slope of which is $-\Delta H^{\circ}/R$) and the standard entropy as $\Delta S^{\circ} = (\Delta H^{\circ}-R)^{\circ}$

 ΔG°)/T with T = 298.15 K and R = 8.314 J/K/mol). K_A values were obtained from saturation experiments of [³H] $\alpha\beta$ meATP binding to fibroblast-like synoviocytes membranes carried out at 0, 10, 15, 20, 25 and 30°C in a thermostatic bath assuring a temperature of ± 0.1°C. The slopes of van't Hoff plots were positive for the purinergic agonists examined whose affinities decreased with increase of the temperature. Different behavior was reported for the purinergic antagonists. In fact, the slopes of van't Hoff plots for the K_H of A317491 and the K_L of NF023 were negative whose affinities are improved by an increase of the temperature. In contrast, the slopes of van't Hoff plots for K_L of A317491 and K_H of NF023 were positive. Final thermodynamic parameters of the selected purinergic compounds revealed that the binding of agonists was enthalpy and entropy driven (Table 6.2). In addition, high affinity of A317491 and low affinity of A317491 and high affinity of NF023 showed an enthalpy and entropy driven binding (Table 6.2).

Transcription factors in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes

NF-kB levels were evaluated studying P50 and P65 subunits activation. In human fibroblast-like synoviocytes, $\alpha\beta$ meATP (P2X₁ and P2X₃ agonist) and BzATP (P2X₇ agonist) were able to increase of 85% and 152% the basal level of P65 subunit, respectively. βγmeATP (P2X₁ agonist) reduced of 58% the basal level of P65 subunit (Figure 6.6A). The capability of typical purinergic antagonists were investigated using A317491 and NF 023 which are able to block the effect of $\beta\gamma$ meATP or $\alpha\beta$ meATP respectively . In addition, a P2X₇ antagonist, KN 62 partially reduced the effect of BzATP and was not able to counteract the effect of $\beta\gamma$ meATP or $\alpha\beta$ meATP. Similar results were also obtained in SW 982 cells confirming that P2X₁ and P2X₃ purinergic receptors present in human fibroblastlike synoviocytes were closely similar to those observed in this cell line. No modulation by purinergic agonists and antagonists was found on P50 subunit activation and NF-IL6 transcription factor with the exception of BzATP that was able to increase the basal level of P50 subunit and NF-IL-6 transcription factor. This effect was blocked only by KN-62 and not by A317491 or NF 023, suggesting the involvement of $P2X_7$ receptors (Figure 6.7).

TNF-α, IL-6 and PGE₂ production

In both OA fibroblast-like synoviocytes and SW cells the effect of selected purinergic agonists and antagonists was evaluated in the presence of LPS (10 μ g/ml) specific stimulation in TNF- α release (Figure 6.6B), in IL-6 (Figure 6.8A) and PGE₂ production (Figure 6.8B). The stimulation of P2X₁ and P2X₃ receptors mediated a decrease and an increase of TNF- α release, respectively. No effect was present on the modulation of IL-6 and PGE₂ production by the stimulation of these purinergic receptors (Figure 6.8A,B). In human fibroblast-like synoviocytes, $\alpha\beta$ meATP was able to significantly increase TNF- α production by 47%. P2X₁ stimulation by using $\beta\gamma$ meATP revealed a significant decrease by 51%. In the same experimental conditions, the effect of BzATP was to increase of 88% the TNF- α release. A317491 (100 μ M) blocked the effect of $\beta\gamma$ meATP but not of $\alpha\beta$ meATP. In addition, evaluating the effect of the three purinergic antagonists, only KN 62 was able to decrease partially the BzATP-mediated increase of TNF- α production.

	5 °C	10 °C	15 °C	20 °C	25 °C	30 °C
Ligand	278 K	283 K	288 K	293 K	298 K	303 K
Agonists						
αβmeATP						
Ki (nM)	2.7±0.3	3.5±0.3	4.6 ± 0.5	5.8 ± 0.6	6.5 ± 0.6	7.4 ± 0.7
βγmeATP						
$\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{H}}$ (nM)	14 ± 1	17±2	19±2	24±2	31±3	38±3
K_L (nM)	339±34	395±37	452±41	526±48	597±53	671±64
BZATP						
K _H (nM)	11±1	13±1	16±1	20 ± 2	24±2	28 ± 3
$K_L(nM)$	132±11	163±15	195±20	239±22	286±27	358±32
Antagonists						
A317491						
K _H (nM)	114 ± 10	102±9	89±8	74±7	56±6	43±5
$\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{L}}$ (nM)	2021±190	2817±265	3381±323	3852±374	4268±413	4815±468
NF023						
K _H (nM)	642±63	823±77	992±91	1076±105	1184±113	1328±129
K_L (nM)	10623±1054	9223±892	8412±826	7636±697	6844±672	5729±536
KN62						
Ki (nM)	>20000	>20000	>20000	>20000	>20000	>20000

Table 6.1A: Affinities, expressed as Ki or K_H and K_L values (nM) of selected purinergic agonists and antagonists in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes at different temperatures.

Ligand	5 °C 278 K	10 °C 283 K	15 °C 288 K	20 °C 293 K	25 °C 298 K	30 °C 303 K
Agonists						
αβmeATP						
Ki (nM)	3.2±0.3	3.8 ± 0.4	5.2 ± 0.5	6.3 ± 0.5	7.0 ± 0.6	7.9 ± 0.6
βγmeATP						
K _H (nM)	17±1	19±2	20±2	25±2	32±3	40±3
K_{L} (nM)	353±31	403±39	464±42	538±51	611±57	693±63
BZATP						
K _н (nM)	13±1	15±1	18 ± 2	21±2	26±2	30±3
$\frac{1}{K_L}$ (nM)	136±12	171±16	198±18	245±21	293±28	365±35
,						
Antagonists						
A317491						
K _H (nM)	121±11	105 ± 10	93±9	$78\pm\!8$	59±6	48±5
$\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{L}}$ (nM)	1865+172	2724+213	3243+311	3726+353	4115+391	4737+42
NF023	100021/2	_/10	02.02011	01202000		
$\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{H}}$ (n M)	622+59	815+73	983+88	1052+97	1148 ± 102	1296+11
$\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{H}}$ (mM)	10456 ± 1023	019 ± 73 0185 ± 871	0356±704	7518 ± 702	6738 ± 623	5612 ± 51
INL (IIIVI) VNCO	10430±1023	7105±071	7550±794	1310±102	0750±025	J012±J1
KINOZ V: (M)	. 20000	. 20000	. 20000	. 20000	. 20000	
KI (NM)	>20000	>20000	>20000	>20000	>20000	>20000

Table 6.1B: Affinities, expressed as Ki or K_H and K_L values (nM) of selected purinergic agonists and antagonists in SW 982 cells at different temperatures.

(A)			
Ligand	$\Delta \mathbf{G}^{\circ}$	$\Delta \mathbf{H}^{\circ}$	$\Delta \mathbf{S}^{\circ}$
	(kJ/mol)	(kJ/mol)	(J/mol/K)
Agonists			
αβmeATP			
Ki	-46.7±0.2	-28.8±2.3	60.0 ± 5.8
βγmeATP			
K _H	-42.9±0.2	-27.9±2.2	50.4±5.3
$\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{L}}$	-35.5±0.1	-19.4±1.9	54.1±4.9
BZATP			
K _H	-43.5±0.2	-26.9 ± 2.1	55.6±5.7
K _L	-37.3±0.1	-27.6±2.4	32.6±3.6
Antagonists			
A317491			
K _H	-41.4±0.2	27.2±2.5	230.1±22.4
$\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{L}}$	-30.6±0.1	-23.2±2.1	24.7±2.2
NF023			
K _H	-33.8±0.1	-19.5±1.9	48.1±4.7
$\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{L}}$	-29.5±0.1	16.4 ± 1.7	153.9±13.5
KN62			
Ki	> -26.8	NC	NC
(B)			
Ligand	$\Delta \mathbf{G}^{\circ}$	$\Delta \mathbf{H}^{\circ}$	$\Delta \mathbf{S}^{\circ}$
8	(kJ/mol)	(kJ/mol)	(J/mol/K)
Agonists			
αβmeATP			
Ki	-46.5 ± 0.2	-26.3 ± 2.4	67.8±6.1
βγmeATP			
K _H	-42.8 ± 0.2	-24.2 ± 2.1	62.4±5.9
$\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{L}}$	-35.4 ± 0.1	-19.1 ± 2.0	54.9±5.2
BzATP			
K _H	-43.3±0.2	-24.0 ± 2.2	64.7±6.3
K _L	-37.2±0.1	-27.2±2.3	33.8±3.4
Antagonists			
A317491	44.5.5.5		
K _H	-41.3±0.2	26.0±2.4	225.6±23.5
K _L	-30.7±0.1	-24.4 ± 1.9	21.1±2.1
NF023			
K _H	-33.9±0.1	-19.2±1.8	49.3±4.6
KL	-29.6±0.1	16.6±1.7	154.5±14.2
KN62			
Ki	> -26.8	NC	NC

Table 6.2: Thermodynamic parameters for the binding equilibrium of $[^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes (A) and SW982 cells (B) of selected purinergic agonists and antagonists.

Figure 6.1: Culture of human fibroblast-like synoviocytes (A) and SW 982 cells (B). Left panels: phase contrast. Right panels: vimentin expression by immunofluorescence. Nuclei were counterstained in blue with DAPI.







B





Figure 6.2: mRNA expression of P2X purinergic receptors (A) and western blotting analysis (B) in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes (SFs) and SW 982 cells in comparison with HEK293-hP2X₁ and HEK293-hP2X₃ cells. Densitometric analysis for hP2X₁ and hP2X₃ purinergic receptors are shown (C,D).







Figure 6.3. Saturation curves and Scatchard plot of $[^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP binding to P2X purinergic receptors in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes (A,B) and SW 982 (C,D) membranes at 5°C and 25°C.



Figure 6.4: Competition curves of typical purinergic agonists and antagonists in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes (A,B) and in SW 982 (C,D) membranes.



Figure 6.5. Van't Hoff plots in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes (A,B) and in SW 982 (C,D) membranes showing the effect of temperature on the equilibrium binding association constant, K_A , for P2X purinergic agonists (A,C) and antagonists (B,D).



Figure 6.6: Effect of $\alpha\beta$ meATP, $\beta\gamma$ meATP and BzATP (100 μ M) in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes (SFs) and in SW 982 cells on NF-kB activation by detecting phosphorylated p65 (A) in nuclear extracts and on TNF- α (B) levels in control conditions and stimulated by LPS (10 μ g/ml).



(A): *, p<0.01 vs control; #, p<0.01 vs $\alpha\beta$ meATP; §, p<0.01 vs $\beta\gamma$ meATP; ‡, p<0.02 vs BzATP; (B): †, p<0.01 vs control; *, p<0.01 vs LPS; #, p<0.01 vs $\alpha\beta$ meATP; §, p<0.01 vs $\beta\gamma$ meATP; ‡, p<0.02 vs BzATP.

Figure 6.7: Effect of $\alpha\beta$ meATP, $\beta\gamma$ meATP and BzATP (100 μ M) in human fibroblast-like synoviocyes and in SW 982 cells on NFkB activation which was evaluated by detecting phosphorylated p50 (A) in nuclear extracts. No effect was present in western blotting analysis by $\alpha\beta$ meATP and $\beta\gamma$ meATP (100 μ M) in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes on NF-IL-6 activation. BzATP (100 μ M) was able to statistically increase NF-IL-6 activation (B). Densitometric analysis for NF-IL-6 was shown (C)



(A): *, p<0.01 vs control; ‡, p<0.01 vs BzATP; (C): *, p<0.01 vs control

Figure 6.8: Effect of $\alpha\beta$ meATP, $\beta\gamma$ meATP and BzATP (100 μ M) in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes (SFs) and in SW 982 cells on IL-6 (A) and PGE₂ (B) production. The effect of typical purinergic antagonists were also evaluated



[†], p<0.01 vs control; *, p<0.01 vs LPS; [‡], p<0.01 vs BzATP

DISCUSSION

Nowadays no specific therapy, based on intracellular pathways of chondrocytes and/or fibroblast-like synoviocytes, exists for the medical management of OA. Although different cytokines provide a potential therapy for OA it will be necessary to elucidate novel targets to be employed in this disease (Blom et al., 2007). The purpose of the present paper was to document the presence, the binding parameters and the functionality of P2X1 and P2X3 receptors in fibroblast-like synoviocytes derived from OA patients and in SW 982 cells used as a representative model of human synovial cell line. These data could be very important considering that synovial tissue is known to have a key role as target tissue in the joint during inflammation and in the pathophysiology of OA (Korkusuz et al., 2005; Goldring and Goldring, 2007). In this paper we report for the first time a binding and functional characterization of P2X purinergic receptors in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes. No works are present in the literature showing the presence and the role of $P2X_1$ and $P2X_3$ purinergic receptors in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes. In human fibroblast-like synoviocytes the presence of purinergic receptors was investigated through mRNA and western blotting analysis. To quantify exactly the affinity and density of the P2X receptors investigated, saturation binding studies were performed revealing that the affinity (K_D, nM) was in the nanomolar range and the receptor density (Bmax, fmol/mg protein) was very high. The binding was rapid, reversible, saturable and indicated similar parameters in both human fibroblastlike synoviocytes and in SW 982 cells. In addition, as demonstrated by a previous work from our group, $\alpha\beta$ meATP was able to label with a similar affinity both P2X1 and P2X3 purinergic receptors expressed in HEK 293 cells (Varani et al., 2008b). These results were also confirmed by competition binding experiments where $\alpha\beta$ meATP showed a closely similar affinity for human P2X₁ and P2X₃ purinergic receptors expressed in HEK 293 cells. On the basis of these previous results, we can hypothesis that in saturation binding experiments performed in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes, $[^{3}H]$ - $\alpha\beta$ meATP labeled both P2X₁ and P2X₃ purinergic receptors with similar affinity. Competition binding experiments revealed that $\alpha\beta$ meATP have higher affinity, in the nanomolar range, than other agonists and antagonists. To evaluate if the ligands used in functional experiments

had different affinity values for P2X₁ and P2X₃ receptors, competition binding experiments with 13 various concentrations of these compounds were performed. As expected, $\alpha\beta$ meATP revealed a monophasic curve showing the best fit for a receptor population constituted from $P2X_1$ and $P2X_3$ with similar affinity. Interestingly, BymeATP, BzATP, A317491 and NF 023 showed a best fit for a two site binding model, suggesting that these compounds have a different affinity for P2X₁ and P2X₃ purinergic receptors. From these results we can hypothesis that $K_{\rm H}$ for $\beta\gamma$ meATP and NF 023 represent their affinity versus P2X₁ purinergic receptors whilst BzATP and A317491 were able to bind with high affinity P2X₃ purinergic subtypes. We have also performed competition experiments at six different temperatures that could represent an useful in vitro experimental approach to discriminate agonists from antagonists by means of binding experiments. Thermodynamic parameters obtained from the van't Hoff plots in the cells examined indicated that $\alpha\beta$ meATP binding to purinergic receptors is enthalpy- and entropy-driven, with a major contribution of the enthalpic component. The presence of the linearity of van't Hoff plots for P2X receptors similarly to those verified for other membrane receptors showed that ΔH° and ΔS° values are independent of temperature (Varani et al., 2008b, c). These results provide further informations to the several data present in literature showing the thermodynamic parameters for a remarkable number of ligands and receptors that allow a precise investigation at molecular level on the role played during the binding by ligand substituents and by receptor aminoacids (Borea et al., 2000, 2004; Gilli et al., 2005). We previously reported that P2X₃ purinergic receptors are thermodynamically discriminated whilst P2X₁ receptor subtypes are not discriminated (Varani et al., 2008b). For human P2X₁ receptors expressed in HEK293 cells, purinergic agonists and antagonists showed an enthalpy-entropy driven binding. In HEK293-hP2X₃ cells only the agonists had an enthalpy-entropy driven binding whilst the antagonists showed an entropy driven binding. The novel results obtained in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes and SW 982 cells, suggest that the purinergic agonists examined have an enthalpy-entropy driven binding. In addition, the purinergic antagonists such as A137491 and NF023 showed a different thermodynamic behavior. In fact, high affinity binding site for A137491 was closely associated to the typical P2X₃ thermodynamic behavior as previously reported in HEK293 cells. The high affinity binding site of NF023 was

similar to the thermodynamic behavior of $P2X_1$ receptors (Varani et al., 2008b). These experimental data in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes and in SW 982 cells confirm that P2X₃ receptors are thermodynamically discriminated and P2X₁ receptors are not discriminated. Another purpose of the present study was to investigate the purinergic receptor functional activities in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes. To this aim, the effect on NF-kB activation and on the release of pro-inflammatory factors such as TNF- α suggested the possible involvement in inflammatory process of P2X₁ and P2X₃ agonists and/or antagonists. These experiments demonstrated an anti-inflammatory effect of P2X1 receptors and a pro-inflammatory effect of P2X₃ receptors as confirmed by the contrasting effect of $\alpha\beta$ meATP and $\beta\gamma$ meATP in NF-kB activation and TNF- α release. These data are in agreement with those reported in literature regarding NF-kB that is one of the most important signalling pathways able to regulate pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α (Hong et al., 2008). Interestingly, IL-6 and PGE₂ are not modulable by the presence of $P2X_1$, $P2X_3$ but only by the presence of $P2X_7$ receptors confirming previous data obtained in rheumatoid synoviocytes where is evident the involvement of P2X₇ purinergic receptors (Caporali et al., 2008). These results on IL-6 and PGE₂ production demonstrated a direct link in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes of different nuclear transcription factors involved in the modulation of pro-inflammatory molecules. In fact, NF-kB-p50 and NF-IL-6 proteins, that binds responsive elements in the IL-6 and PGE_2 gene promoters, were not modified by P2X₁ and P2X₃ agonists (LeClair et al., 199; Uematsu et al., 2002). Finally, binding, thermodynamic and functional data demonstrated that P2X₁ and P2X₃ receptors present in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes and in SW 982 cells are closely similar and suggested the potential use of this cell line as an in vitro model to study purinergic receptors from a pharmacological point of view. In conclusion, the novel findings carried out in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes from OA patients and in SW 982 cells are represented by the presence of high density of the $P2X_1$ and $P2X_3$ purinergic receptors. The functional results revealed the direct and contrasting involvement of P2X₁ and P2X₃ purinergic receptors which could represent potential mediators in the complex pathways regulating inflammatory processes in fibroblast-like synoviocytes suggesting their potential beneficial target for the treatment of inflammatory joint diseases.

REFERENCES

Abramson SB, Attur M, Yazici Y (2006) Prospects for disease modification in osteoarthritis. Nature 2(6):304-312.

Bilgen B, Orsini E, Aaron RK, Mck Ciombor D (2007) FBS suppresses TGF- β 1induced chondrogenesis in synoviocyte pellet cultures while dexamethasone and dynamic stimuli are beneficial. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 1:436-442.

Blom AB, van der Kriin PM, van dert Berg WB (2007) Cytokine targeting in osteoarthritis. Curr Drug Targets 8(2):283-292.

Borea PA, Dalpiaz A, Varani K, Gilli P, Gilli G (2000) Can thermodynamic measurement of receptor binding yeld information on drug affinity and efficacy?. Biochem Pharmacol 60:1549-1456.

Borea PA, Varani K, Gessi S, Merighi S, Dalpiaz A, Gilli P, Gilli G (2004) Receptor binding thermodynamics at the neuronal nicotinic receptors. Curr Top Med Chem 4:361-368.

Bradford MA (1976) Rapid and sensitive method for the quantification of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein dye-binding. Anal Biochem 72:248-254.

Bulanova E, Budagian V, Orinska Z, Koch-Nolte F, Haag F, Bulfone-Paus S (2009) ATP induces $P2X_7$ receptor-independent cytokine and chemokine expression through $P2X_1$ and $P2X_3$ receptors in murine mast cells. Journal of Leukocyte Biology 85:692-702.

Burnstock G (2006) Purinergic signalling. Br J Pharmacol 147:172-181.

Burnstock G (2008) Purinergic signalling and disorders of the central nervous system. Nat Rev Drug Discov 7(7):575-590.

Caporali F, Capecchi PL, Gamberucci A, Lazzerini PE, Pompella G, Natale M, Lorenzini S, Selvi E, Galeazzi M, Pasini FL (2008) Human rheumatoid synoviocytes express functional P2X₇ receptors. J Mol Med 86(8):937-949.

Christensen BN, Kochukov M, McNearney TA, Taglialatela G, Westlund KN (2005) Proton-sensing G protein-coupled receptor mobilizes calcium in human synovial cells. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 289:601-608.

De Mattei M, Fini M, Setti S, Ongaro A, Gemmati D, Stabellini G, Pellati A, Caruso A (2007) Proteoglycan syntesis in bovine articular cartilage explants exposed to different low-frequency low energy pulsed electromagnetic fields. Osteoarthritis & Cartilage 15:163-168.

Forrest CM, Harman G, McMillan RB, Stoy N, Stone TW, Darlington LG (2005) Modulation of cytokine release by purine receptors in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Clin Exp Rheumatol 23(1):89-92. Gessi S, Cattabriga E, Avitabile A, Gafa' R, Lanza G, Cavazzini L, Bianchi N, Gambari R, Feo C, Liboni A, Gullini S, Leung E, MacLennan S, Borea PA (2004) Elevated expression of A_3 adenosine receptors in human colorectal cancer is reflected in peripheral blood cells. Clin Cancer Res 10:5895-5901.

Gilli P, Gilli G, Borea PA, Varani K, Scatturin A, Dalpiaz A (2005) Binding thermodynamics as a tool to investigate the mechanisms of drug-receptor interactions: thermodynamics of cytoplasmic steroid/nuclear receptors in comparison with membrane receptors. J Med Chem 48:2026-2035.

Goldring MB, Goldring SR (2007) Osteoarthritis. J Cell Physiol 213:626-634.

Gomez Cabrera MC, Martinez A, Santangelo G, Pallardò FV, Sastre J, Vina J (2006) Oxidative stress in marathon runners: interest of antioxidant supplementation. Br J Nutrition 96:31-33.

Hoebertz A, Arnett TR, Burnstock G (2003) Regulation of bone resorption and formation by purines and pyrimidines. Trends Pharmacol Sci 24:290-297.

Hong L, Malhotra S, Kumar A (2008) Nuclear factor-kappa B signaling in skeletal muscle atrophy. J Mol Med 86:1113-1126.

Inoue K, Hosoi J, Denda M (2007) Extracellular ATP has stimulatory effects on the expression and release of IL-6 via purinergic receptors in normal human epidermal keratinocytes. J of Investigative Dermatology 127:362-371.

Kiehntopf M, Herrmann F, Brach M (1995) Functional NF-IL6/CCAAT enhancerbinding protein is required for tumor necrosis factor α -inducible expression of the granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (CSF), but not the granulocyte/macrophage CSF or interleukin 6 gene in human fibroblasts. J Exp Med 181:793-798.

Korkusuz P, Dagdeviren A, Eksioglu F, Ors U (2005) Immunohistological analysis of normal and osteoarthritic human synovial tissue. Bull Hosp for Joint Diseases 63:63-69.

Köles L, Fürst S, Illes P (2007) Purine ionotropic (P2X) receptors. Curr Pharm Des 13(23):2368-2384.

LeClair KP, Blanar MA, Sharp PA (1992) The p50 subunit of NF-κB associates with the NF-IL6 transcription factor. PNAS 89:8145-8149.

Loredo GA, Benton HP (1998) ATP and UTP activate calcium-mobilizing P2Ulike receptors and act synergistically with interleukin-1 to stimulate prostaglandin E2 release from human rheumatoid synovial cells. Arthritis Rheum 41:246-255.

Merighi S, Mirandola P, Milani D, Varani K, Gessi S, Klotz K-N, Leung E, Baraldi PG, Borea, PA (2002) Adenosine receptors as mediators of both cell proliferation and cell death of cultured human melanoma cells. J Invest Dermatol 119:923-933.

Michel AD, Chau NM., Fan TPD, Frost EE, Humphrey PPA (1995) Evidence that $[{}^{3}H]\alpha\beta$ meATP may label an endothelialderived cell line 5'-nucleotidase with high affinity. Br J Pharmacol 115:767-774.

Miyashita T, Kawakami A, Nakashima T, Yamasaki S, Tamai M, Tanaka F, Kamachi M, Ida H, Migita K, Origuchi T, Nakao K, Eguchi K (2004) Osteoprotegerin (OPG) acts as an endogenous decoy receptor in tumour necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL)-mediated apoptosis of fibroblast-like synovial cells. Clin Exp Immunol 137(2):430-436.

Munson PJ, Rodbard D (1980) Ligand: a versatile computerized approach for the characterization of ligand binding systems. Anal Biochem 107220-107239.

North RA (2002) Molecular physiology of P2X receptors. Physiol Rev 82:1013-1067.

Picher M, Graff RD, Lee GM (2003) Extracellular nucleotide metabolism and signaling in the pathophysiology of articular cartilage. Arthritis Rheum 48(10):2722-2736.

Roman-Blas JA, Jimenez SA (2006) NF- κ B as a potential therapeutic target in osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 14:839-848.

Sawynok J (2007) Adenosine and ATP receptors. Handb Exp Pharmacol 177:309-328.

Uematsu S, Matsumoto M, Takeda K, Akira S (2002) Lipopolysaccharidedependent prostaglandin E(2) production is regulated by the glutathionedependent prostaglandin E(2) synthase gene induced by the Toll-like receptor 4/MyD88/NF-IL6 pathway. J Immunol 168(11):5811-5816.

Varani K, De Mattei M, Vincenzi F, Gessi S, Merighi S, Pellati A, Ongaro A, Caruso A, Cadossi R, Borea PA (2008a) Characterization of adenosine receptors in bovine chondrocytes and fibroblast-like synoviocytes exposed to low frequency low energy pulsed electromagnetic fields. Osteoarthritis & Cartilage 16(11):1421-1429.

Varani K, Surprenant A, Vincenzi F, Tosi A, Gessi S, Merighi S, Borea PA (2008b) Binding thermodynamic characterization of human $P2X_1$ and $P2X_3$ purinergic receptors. Biochem Pharmacol 75(5):1198-1208.

Varani K, De Mattei M, Vincenzi F, Tosi A, Gessi S, Merighi S, Pellati A, Masieri F, Ongaro A, Borea PA (2008c) Pharmacological characterization of $P2X_1$ and $P2X_3$ purinergic receptors in bovine chondrocytes. Osteoarthritis & Cartilage 16(11):1421-1429.

GENERAL CONCLUSION

Chronic inflammation is a significant factor in the pathophysiology of many forms of joint disease such as OA and RA. Chondrocytes and fibroblast-like synoviocytes are the two kind of cells particular involved in these diseases. In OA and RA there is a net loss of cartilage because the rate of catabolism exceeds the rate of synthesis and deposition of the macromolecular components of the extracellular matrix. Several chondrocyte activities are associated to cartilage damage, and include the up-regulation of NO and lipid inflammatory mediators such as PGE₂, as well as the increased production of matrix-degradating enzymes. As well as chondrocytes, fibroblast-like synoviocytes play a central role in the pathogenesis of joint destruction primarly by the secretion of a wide range of proinflammatory mediators including cytokines, growth factors and lipid mediators of inflammation. Growing evidence suggest that extracellular nucleotides, such as ATP and adenosine, might play important roles in the regulation of inflammatory processes, including the inflammatory process in joint diseases. In the first part of this study we analized the presence and the binding parameters of A₁, A_{2A}, A_{2B} and A₃ ARs in bovine chondrocytes and fibroblast-like synoviocytes. We found that all the adenosine receptors are present in these substrates and similarly distributed in both cell types showing high-affinity values in the nanomolar range and a receptor density from 30 to 83 fmol/mg of protein. We have also evaluated the capability of typical A_{2A} or A₃ adenosine agonists and antagonists to modulate cAMP levels. These compounds showed potency values in the nanomolar range, in agreement with their affinity in binding experiments, the antagonists were able to prevent the effect of cAMP induced by the agonists through a selective modulation of the adenylyl cyclase via A_{2A} or A_3 ARs. In addition, the levels of cAMP increased in response to NECA, a non selective agonist, suggesting that in physiological condition (presence of endogenous adenosine) the activation of A_{2A} may prevail over the A₃ mediated inhibitory action. We have also analized the role of adenosine analogs on PGE₂ release and COX-2 expression in bovine fibroblast-like synoviocytes. We have used as adenosine agonists CHA, CGS21680, NECA and Cl-IB-MECA. In fibroblast-like synoviocytes treated with two different type of inflammatory stimuli (TNF- α and LPS) we observed the increase of PGE_2 release. All the adenosine agonists, except

Cl-IB-MECA significally inhibited PGE_2 production. These data indicated for the involvement of A₁ and A_{2A} ARs in negative modulation of PGE₂ synthesis. We have also found that the changes in PGE₂ levels were associated to modification of COX-2 expression the primary enzyme controlling PGE₂ synthesis in response to inflammatory stimuli. Finally, we have performed a pharmacological and biochemical characterization of A1, A2A, A2B and A3 ARs in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes. We found that the ARs were present, well known adenosine agonists and antagonists showed affinity values in the nanomolar range and were coupled to stimulation or inhibition of adenylyl cyclase. A2A and A3 ARs activation inhibited p38 MAPK and NF-kB pathway, an effect abolished by selected adenosine antagonists. A_{2A} and A_3 agonists were able to diminish TNF- α and IL-8 production. A₁ and A_{2B} ARs were not implicated in the inflammation downstream whereas the stimulation of A_{2A} and A₃ ARs were closely associated with a down-regulation of the inflammatory status. These results indicate that A_{2A} and A₃ ARs could represent a potential target in therapeutic anti-inflammatory joint interventions. In the second part of the study the role of ATP in bovine chondrocytes and fibroblast-like synoviocytes have been evaluated. First of all thermodynamic parameters of the binding equilibrium of well-known purinergic agonists and antagonists were determinate in human P2X₁ and P2X₃ receptors expressed in HEK-293 cells. Our analysis showed that P2X₁ receptors are not thermodynamically discriminated and that the binding of agonists and antagonists was both enthalpy and entropy-driven. P2X₃ receptors were thermodynamically discriminated and purinergic agonist binding was enthalpy and entropy-driven, while antagonist binding was totally entropy-driven. As a consequence a biochemical and functional study on P2X₁ and P2X₃ receptors in bovine chondrocytes have been performed. We found that bovine chondrocytes expressed P2X₁ and P2X₃ purinergic receptors and thermodynamic parameters indicated that purinergic binding is enthalpy- and entropy-driven for agonists and totally entropy-driven for antagonists. Purinergic agonists such as ATP and $\alpha\beta$ -meATP were able to increase NO and PGE₂ release. A purinergic antagonist, A317491, was able to block the stimulatory effect on functional experiments mediated by the agonists, suggesting the potential role of novel purinergic antagonists in the treatment of pathophysiological disease involved in inflammatory of the joints. In addition, the pharmacological characterization of P2X1 and P2X3 purinergic receptors in fibroblast-like synoviocytes obtained from OA patients and in SW982 cells derived from human synovial sarcoma have been performed. Moreover their possible involvement in modulating the inflammatory response by assessing the activation of NF-kB and the production of TNF - α , IL-6 and PGE₂ have been investigated. Interestingly P2X₁ and P2X₃ receptors were present in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes and SW982 cells. In these cells purinergic agonists and antagonists have a different thermodynamic behavior. This study report, for the first time the presence of P2X₁ and P2X₃ purinergic receptors in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes. Moreover from the functional point of view P2X₁ receptors exhibit anti-inflammatory effects, by reducing the activation of NF-kB and the release of TNF- α , whereas P2X₃ receptors mediate an opposite response suggesting pro-inflammatory effects.

In conclusion, overall these data demonstrate the presence of A_1 , A_{2A} , A_{2B} , A_3 ARs and $P2X_1$, $P2X_3$ purinergic receptors in bovine chondrocytes and fibroblastlike synoviocytes. The functionality of these purine receptors suggest the use of selective adenosine and/or purinergic ligands in the treatment of inflammatory diseases. In addition, the expression and the signal transduction system of adenosine and purine receptors in human fibroblast-like synoviocytes highlight the potential pharmacological use of novel purine ligands in disorders associated with inflammation.

CURRICULUM VITAE

2006 Degree in Biological Sciences at the University of Ferrara.

2007-2009 PhD Student in "Pharmacology and Molecular Oncology", Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, Section of Pharmacology, University of Ferrara.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

Varani K, Surprenant A, Vincenzi F, Tosi A, Gessi S, Merighi S, Borea PA (2008) Binding thermodynamic characterization of human $P2X_1$ and $P2X_3$ purinergic receptors. Biochem Pharmacol 75(5):1198-1208.

Varani K, De Mattei M, Vincenzi F, Tosi A, Gessi S, Merighi S, Pellati A, Masieri F, Ongaro A, Borea PA (2008) Pharmacological characterization of $P2X_1$ and $P2X_3$ purinergic receptors in bovine chondrocytes. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 16(11):1421-1429.

Varani K, Massara A, Vincenzi F, **Tosi A**, Padovan M, Trotta F, Borea PA (2009) Normalization of A_{2A} and A_3 adenosine receptor up-regulation in rheumatoid arthritis patients by treatment with anti-tumor necrosis factor α but not methotrexate. Arthritis & Rheumatism 60(10):2880-2891.

Varani K, Vincenzi F, **Tosi A**, Gessi S, Casetta I, Granieri G, Fazio P, Leung E, MacLennana S, Granieri E, Borea PA (2010) A_{2A} adenosine receptor overexpression and functionality, as well as TNF- α levels, correlate with motor symptoms in Parkinson's disease. Faseb J 24:587-598.

Varani K, De Mattei M, Vincenzi F, **Tosi A**, Targa M, Masieri FF, Pellati A, Massari L, Borea PA (2010) $P2X_1$ and $P2X_3$ purinergic receptors differentially modulate the inflammatory response in human osteoarthritic synovial fibroblast. Cell Physiol Biochem, 25:325-336.

Varani K, Caramori G, Vincenzi F, **Tosi A**, Barczyk A, Contoli M, Casolari P, Triggiani M, Hansel T, Leung E, Maclennan S, Barnes PJ, Fan Chung, Adcock I, Papi A, Borea PA (2010) Oxidative/nitrosative stress selectively altered A_{2B} adenosine receptors in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. FASEB J, in press.

Varani K, Vincenzi F, **Tosi A**, Targa M, Masieri FF, Ongaro A, De Mattei M, Massari L, Borea PA (2010) Expression and functional role of adenosine receptors in regulating inflammatory response in human synoviocytes. BJP, in press.

MEETINGS

Vincenzi F, Varani K, Caramori G, **Tosi A**, Gessi S, Merighi S, Fogli E, Sacchetto V, Simioni C, Papi A, Borea PA. M3 muscarinic receptors in peripheral lung parenchima of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. 33° Congresso Nazionale della Società Italiana di Farmacologia. Cagliari (Italy) 6/06/2007-9/06/2007.

Tosi A, Varani K, Vincenzi F, Gessi S, Merighi S, Fogli E, Sacchetto V, Simioni C, De Mattei M, Caruso A, Borea PA. Pharmacological characterization of adenosine receptors in bovine chondrocytes. 33° Congresso Nazionale della Società Italiana di Farmacologia. Cagliari (Italy). 6/06/2007-9/06/2007.

Varani K, De Mattei M, Vincenzi F, Gessi S, Merighi S, **Tosi A**, Pellati A, Ongaro A, Caruso A, Cadossi R, Borea PA. Adenosine receptors in bovine chondrocytes and fibroblast-like synoviocytes. Second Joint Italian-German Purine Club Meeting. Leipzig (Germany) 12/09/2007-15/09/2007.

Tosi A, Varani K, Vincenzi F, Gessi S, Merighi S, Fogli E, Sacchetto V, Simioni C, De Mattei M, Caruso A, Borea PA. Pharmacological characterization of adenosine receptors in bovine chondrocytes. 11° seminario per dottorandi in Farmacologia e Scienze affini. Certosa di Pontignano (Italy) 25/09/2007.

Varani K, Vincenzi F, **Tosi A**, Gessi S, Merighi S, Pellati A, De Mattei M, Borea PA. Pharmacological Characterization of $P2X_1$ and $P2X_3$ purinergic receptors in bovine chondrocytes and fibroblast-like synoviocytes. Third Joint Italian-German Purine Club Meeting. Camerino (Italy) 17/02/2009.

Varani K, Aguiari G, Vincenzi F, **Tosi A**, Gessi S, Sacchetto V, Bogo M, Del Senno L, Borea PA. Deficiency of polycystic kidney disease-1 gene (PKD1) expression increases A_3 adenosine receptors in human renal cells. 34° Congresso Nazionale della Società Italiana di Farmacologia. Rimini (Italy) 14/10/2009-17/10/2009.

Vincenzi F, Varani K, Targa M, **Tosi A**, Gessi S, Merighi S, Borea PA. Thermodynamic analysis in drug-receptor binding: the A₃ adenosine receptor. 34° Congresso Nazionale della Società Italiana di Farmacologia. Rimini (Italy) 14/10/2009-17/10/2009.

Tosi A, Varani K, Romagnoli R, Vincenzi F, Targa M, Preti D, Baraldi PG, Borea PA. Pharmacological characterization of novel allosteric enhancers of the A₁ adenosine receptors. 34° Congresso Nazionale della Società Italiana di Farmacologia. Rimini (Italy) 14/10/2009-17/10/2009.
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The research described in this thesis was carried out in the Laboratory of Cellular and Molecular Pharmacology, Institute of Pharmacology, Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Ferrara.

I wish to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisors Professor Pier Andrea Borea and Professor Katia Varani for their continuous support, their valuable advices and constant encouragement.

I would like to thank my family for their patience and support.

I can't forget the help and the wonderful time spent together with my colleagues, thank you Valeria, Eleonora, Carolina, Fabrizio, Martina and Angela.

I would like to especially thank Mattia for his love, his patience and his understanding.